
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. ROLL CALL 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

4. ADDITIONS OR CORRECTIONS TO AGENDA 

5. DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

6. CONSENT AGENDA: 

A. Approval of Minutes –  June 5, 2017 

B. Disbursements 

   1.   General Operations Disbursement Claim No. 17-09 $187,373.90 

   2.   Liquor Fund Disbursement Claim No. 17-10 $246,885.89 

C. Personnel Changes at Central Park Liquor  

D. Application for Exempt Permit – Mounds View Community Theater 

E. New Patrol Squad Video Systems 

F. Contractor’s License 

G. Correspondence 

7. POLICE REPORT 

8. PARKS AND RECREATION REPORT 

9. ORDINANCES AND/OR RESOLUTIONS 

A.  Resolution 17-14 Approving a Contract for Private Development (Legends of  

      Spring Lake Park) and Awarding the Sale of, And Providing the Form, Terms,  

      Covenants and Instructions For, The Issuance of the City’s $3,270,000 Taxable  

      Tax Increment Financing Revenue Note 

B.  Resolution 17-15 Approving Forms of Financing Documents Related to the   

      Issuance of the City’s Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2017  

      (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) 

10. NEW BUSINESS 

A.  Site Development Agreement - Spring Lake Park Leasing Housing Associates I,   

       LLLP 

B.   Utility and Sidewalk Access and Maintenance Agreement 

11. ENGINEER’S REPORT 

12. ATTORNEY’S REPORT 

13. REPORTS 

14. ADMINISTRATOR REPORTS 

A.  Solar Garden Subscriptions 

15. OTHER 

16. ADJOURN 

 

SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR RULES FOR PUBLIC HEARING  

AND DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 

MONDAY, JUNE 19, 2017 

7:00 P.M. 

 
 



RULES FOR DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

 

DISCUSSION FROM THE FLOOR 

 

 Discussion from the floor is limited to three minutes per person.  Longer presentations 

must be scheduled through the Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer’s office. 

 

 Individuals wishing to be heard must sign in with their name and address.  Meetings are 

video recorded so individuals must approach the podium and speak clearly into the 

microphone. 

 

 Council action or discussion should not be expected during “Discussion from the Floor.”  

Council may direct staff to research the matter further or take the matter under 

advisement for action at the next regularly scheduled meeting. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 

The purpose of a public hearing is to allow the City Council to receive citizen input on a 

proposed project.  This is not a time to debate the issue. 

 

The following format will be used to conduct the hearing: 

 

 The presenter will have a maximum of 10 minutes to explain the project as proposed. 

 

 Councilmembers will have the opportunity to ask questions or comment on the proposal. 

 

 Citizens will then have an opportunity to ask questions and/or comment on the project.  

Those wishing the comment are asked to limit their comments to 3 minutes.  In cases 

where there is a spokesperson representing a group wishing to have their collective 

opinions voiced, the spokesperson should identify the audience group he/she is 

representing and may have a maximum of 10 minutes to express the views of the group. 

 

 People wishing to comment are asked to keep their comments succinct and specific. 

 

 Following public input, Councilmembers will have a second opportunity to ask questions 

of the presenter and/or citizens. 

 

 After everyone wishing to address the subject of the hearing has done so, the Mayor will 

close the public hearing. 

 

 The City Council may choose to take official action on the proposal or defer action until 

the next regularly scheduled Council meeting.  No further public input will be received at 

that time. 



  OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS 

 

Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, the regularly scheduled meeting of the Spring Lake Park City Council 

was held on June 5, 2017 at the Spring Lake Park Community Center, 1301 81st Avenue N.E., at 7:00 P.M. 

 

1.  Call to Order 

 

Mayor Hansen called the meeting to order at 7:00 P.M. 

 

2. Roll Call    

 

Members Present: Councilmembers Nelson, Wendling, Delfs, Goodboe-Bisschoff and Mayor Hansen 

   

Members Absent: None 

 

Staff Present: Police Chief Ebeltoft; Public Works Director Randall; Building Official Brainard; 

Attorney Thames; Engineer Gravel; Parks and Recreation Director Rygwall; 

Administrator Buchholtz and Executive Assistant Gooden 

 

Visitors: Paddy Jones, Ham Lake 

 Grazyna (Tina) Szczepanik, 8450 Terrace Road NE 

      

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

 

4.  Additions or Corrections to Agenda  

 

Administrator Buchholtz asked that Item 15B, Closed Session to Discuss Labor Negotiation Strategies, be 

added to the agenda. 

 

5.  Discussion From The Floor  

 

Grazyna Szczepanik, 8450 Terrace Road NE, reported that her neighbor is feeding geese and ducks and she 

provided  the Council with a petition from her other neighbors regarding the goose population in the adjoining 

yards. She provided photos of the goose droppings in her yard and the geese collecting in her neighbor’s yard. 

 

Ms. Szczepanik reported that there have been up 20 geese in the yard while they are being fed and there is bowl 

under the bird feeder where the corn is placed to feed the geese. 

 

Code Enforcement Officer Brainard stated that he is aware of the issue and a letter has been sent to the property 

owner as well as an Administrative Ticket being issued. He reported that the previous feeding troughs have 

been removed. He stated that he needs more proof of the residents actually feeding the geese before pursing 

additional administrative action. 

 

Mayor Hansen expressed her opinion that the feeding of the geese and their droppings is a health hazard and 

encouraged more action to be taken to help correct the number of geese in the neighborhood. 

 

Mr. Brainard explained that once he has evidence of additional violations taking place he would issue another 

administrative ticket and double fines if necessary.  

 

 

 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 2 June 5, 2017 

 

6.  Consent Agenda: 

 

Mayor Hansen reviewed the following Consent Agenda items: 

 

A. Approval of Minutes – May 15, 2017 

B. 2nd Quarter Billing for 2018 Payable 2019 Property Tax Assessment – Ken Tolzmann 

C. Right of Way Application – Arvig Enterprises, Inc. 

D. Resolution 17-12 Declaring Sufficiency of Petition 

E. Contractor’s Licenses 

F. Correspondence 

 

Councilmember Delfs inquired on item 6C Right of Way Application from Arvig Enterprises, Inc. He 

inquired as to why a local contractor was not performing the work. Engineer Gravel stated that often times 

the main contractor will subcontract the work.  

 

MOTION BY COUNCILMEMBER WENDLING TO APPROVE THE CONSENT AGENDA. ROLL 

CALL VOTE: ALL AYES. MOTION CARRIED. 

 

7. Public Works Report 

 

Public Works Director Randall reported that the Public Works Department has been collecting trash at the 

parks; dragged and lined the ballfields, continue to mow and weed whip parks; all the parks have been aeriated 

and fertilized and all the sprinklers are running. He reported that a new walkway to the fishing pier at Lakeside 

Park has been built due to the high water. He stated that summer staff is busy planting flowers, including under 

the community billboard. He reported that the Department has also been patching potholes and painting new 

parking lot stripes at the parks. 

 

Mr. Randall reported that 83rd Avenue and Monroe was recently closed to traffic during a recent rainfall until 

the water could recede. He stated that there were no problems and the storm system handled the water in a 

timely manner.  

 

Mr. Randall reported that the barbershop project is now completed and the area has been cleaned up.  

 

Councilmember Goodboe-Bisschoff inquired if Metro Transit could be notified, by letter, for the buses not to 

use Monroe Street during heavy flooding. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz stated that he will contact Metro Transit not to use Monroe Street during heavy 

flooding. He stated that he felt closing the street is the best option during flooding situations. He reminded the 

Council that the purpose of the storm water study and the modeling portion of the study will be helpful to find 

the most effective way to handle the flooding when it occurs. 

 

8. Code Enforcement Report 

 

Building Official Brainard reported that he attended the City Council workshop on May 1; a Department Head 

meeting on May 2; the City Council meeting on May 15; a Minnesota Permit Technician Association meeting 

on May 23; a meeting with Dominium Architect and Code Specialist on May 24; and the North Suburban 

Building Officials meeting on May 30.  

 

 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 3 June 5, 2017 

 

Mr. Brainard stated that in May 2017, 27 building permits were issued compared to 53 in 2016.  He reported 

that he conducted 97 inspections in the month of May including 28 building, seven mechanical, six plumbing 

and 23 nuisance, three Certificate of Occupancy, 27 rental, three zoning inspections. 

 

Mr. Brainard reported that the May 2017 vacancy listing shows that there are 11 vacant/foreclosed residential 

properties currently posted and/or soon posted by the Code Enforcement Department, which remains the same 

from last month. There are three vacant/foreclosed commercial property, which is the same as last month; and 

10 residential properties currently occupied and ready for Sheriff Sale’s redemption, which remains the same 

from last month.  He reported that he posted one abandoned and/or vacant property notices in month of May. 

He also reported that three Administrative Offense Tickets, and 18 violation notices were issued by the Code 

Enforcement Department. He noted that most of the violation notices mostly pertained to tall grass and weeds. 

 

Mr. Brainard provided a handout on Summers Residential Standards to help homeowners become aware of the 

minimum codes and standards for Spring Lake Park. 

 

9.  Public Hearing 

 

A.  Vacation of Utility Easement 

 

Mayor Hansen opened the public hearing at 7:35 PM. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz reported that the City has received a petition from 100 percent of the property owners 

for Lots 2-11, Park Manor Addition, to vacate a utility easement along the rear lot lines of the property. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz stated that state laws outlines the process for vacating an easement.  He explained that 

the process can be started by a petition of a majority of the property owners abutting the easement to be vacated 

or by the City Council itself.  He stated that in this case, the City has received a petition signed by 100 percent 

of the affected property owners and City staff has verified the petition prior to the hearing. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz reported that the a public notice has been published twice in the Blaine/ Spring Lake 

Park Life newspaper, posted at City Hall and mailed to affected property owners ten days prior to the hearing. 

Administrator Buchholtz reported that with the redevelopment of the Goony Golf property and the two 

residential homes into a senior residential apartment complex, the utility easement is no longer required.  He 

stated that the redevelopment will add affordable housing options for our aging population as well as increase 

the City’s overall tax base, important findings to show benefit to the City for vacating the easement. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz stated that the only utility utilizing the easement is Xcel Energy.  He stated that 

Dominium and their builder, Eagle Builders, are working with Xcel to relocate the power lines to facilitate the 

development.  He stated that there are be no municipal utilities located within the easement. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz stated that adoption of Resolution 17-13 will vacate the easement, allowing 

Dominium to meet one of the conditions of the preliminary and final plat approval. 

 

Councilmember Nelson stated that the vacation of the utility easement is necessary for the project to move 

forward. 

 

Mayor Hansen asked if there was any discussion from the floor. Hearing none, a motion was made to close the 

public hearing. 

 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 4 June 5, 2017 

 

MOTION MADE BY MAYOR HANSEN TO CLOSE PUBLIC HEARING.  ROLL CALL VOTE: 

COUNCILMEMBERS NELSON, WENDLING, DELFS AND MAYOR HANSEN ALL AYES; 

COUNCILMEMBER GOODBOE-BISSCHOFF-NAY. MOTION CARRIED. 

 

Mayor Hansen closed the public hearing was closed at 7:40 PM. 

 

10.  Ordinances and/or Ordinances 

 

A.  Resolution 17-13 Vacating Utility Easement Upon Petition of a Majority of Abutting Landowners 

 

MOTION MADE BY COUNCILMEMBER NELSON TO APPROVE RESOLUTION 17-13 VACATING 

UTILITY EASEMENT UPON PETITION OF A MAJORITY OF ABUTTING LANDOWNERS. ROLL 

CALL VOTE: COUNCILMEMBERS NELSON, WENDLING, DELFS AND MAYOR HANSEN – AYE; 

COUNCILMEMBER GOODBOE-BISSCHOFF –NAY. MOTION CARRIED.  

 

11. New Business 

 

A.  Biennial Audit Report – Body Worn Cameras 

 

Chief Ebeltoft reported that in accordance with MN Statute 13.825, Portable Recording Systems, Subd. 09, a 

Biennial Audit is required for any agency using portable recording systems or body worn cameras. He stated 

that the law states that a third party must complete the audit. 

 

Chief Ebeltoft stated that he was approached by several independent agencies to perform the audit; however; 

he contacted Computer Integration Technologies (CIT), Inc., independent computer company the City 

currently uses for IT services, to conduct the audit.  

 

Chief Ebeltoft reported the following results from the audit: 

 Portable recording system found to positively maintain date and time information of recorded data, 

accurately, and as required 

 Recorded Data is appropriately classified in regards to the referenced statutes 

 Recorded Data validated to be utilized and stored appropriately, in accordance with Statutes 

 Recorded Data validated to be appropriately disseminated and/or shared, as required and requested, in 

accordance with Statues 

 Recorded Data destruction rules applied at time of data creation 

 

Chief Ebeltoft reported the audit showed that the Spring Lake Park Department established a Comprehensive 

Policy, Policy #800, which set Department guidelines for operation of Body Worn Cameras and Retention 

Schedule. The Police is publicly available via the Spring Lake Park Police Department website and the Police 

addresses compliance to the MN Statute 13.825 Portable Recording System. The findings stated that the 

established Policy was reviewed against practices, of data collection, classification, access, storage and 

dissemination. It stated that the review results demonstrated practices to be carried out in accordance with the 

established policies. 

 

Chief Ebeltoft reported that at the time of the audit, the Spring Lake Park Police Department fulfills all the 

requirements as identified in the MN Statute 13.825, Portable Recording System.  He stated that the report will 

be filed with the State within 60 days of the completed date. He noted that Spring Lake Park is one of the first 

agencies to conduct the required audit.  



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 5 June 5, 2017 

 

MOTION MADE BY MAYOR HANSEN TO APPROVE BIENNIAL AUDIT FOR PORTABLE 

RECORDING SYSTEMS.  ROLL CALL VOTE: ALL AYES. MOTION CARRIED. 

 

12.  Engineer’s Report 

 

Engineer Gravel reported that he is continuing to work with Public Works Director Randall and Administrator 

Buchholtz on implementing the work plan for the 2017 MS4 Permit. He stated that it will be completed and 

submitted by the end of June. 

 

Mr. Gravel stated that a preconstruction meeting will be held this week to discuss the sanitary sewer-lining 

project. He stated that the affected residents will be notified once the work dates have been set.  

 

13.  Attorney’s Report – None 

 

14.  Reports  

 

A. Beyond the Yellow Ribbon Report  

 

Councilmember Nelson reported that 53 people participated in the pork chop dinner last month at Kraus Hartig 

VFW. He stated that there has not been that many participants in over seven years.  He reported that Beyond 

the Yellow Ribbon will have a float in the Tower Days parade for the first time and there will be some future 

deployments and the organization will be assisting families. 

 

15.  Other 

 

Mayor Hansen congratulated Administrator Buchholtz on receiving the James F. Miller Leadership Award 

sponsored by the League of Minnesota Cities. 

 

Councilmember Goodboe-Bisschoff reported that she attended the groundbreaking ceremony for the new 

Spring Lake Park School District elementary school in Blaine and provided a reminder of the Tower Days 

upcoming events. 

 

A.  Administrator Reports 

 

Administrator Buchholtz reported that he met with Wold Architects regarding the Spring Lake Park School 

District Center expansion. He stated that construction will be starting in late summer and the early childcare 

program will be moved from the high school to the new expansion. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz reminded the Council that the Tri-City meeting regarding the Spring Lake Park Blaine 

Mounds View Fire Department budget has been moved from Station 3 to Blaine City Hall. 

 

Administrator Buchholtz stated that the development agreement, TIF agreement, loan documents will appear 

at the June 19, 2017 City Council meeting. 

 

B.  Closed Session to Discuss Labor Negotiation Strategy 

 

MOTION MADE BY MAYOR HANSEN TO CLOSE REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING TO ENTER 

CLOSED SESSION. VOICE VOTE: ALL AYES. MOTION CARRIED. 

 



OFFICIAL PROCEEDINGS PAGE 6 June 5, 2017 

 

Mayor Hansen closed the regular Council meeting at 7:55 PM 

 

Mayor Hansen reconvened the regular Council meeting at 8:27 PM. 

 

14.  Adjourn 

 

MOTION BY COUNCILMEMBER TO ADJOURN. VOICE VOTE: ALL AYES. MOTION CARRIED. 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 8:28 PM. 

              

       __________________________________ 

       Cindy Hansen, Mayor  

Attest: 

 

__________________________________________ 

Daniel R. Buchholtz, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 



Date: May 2017

Page:  1 

Claim Res.#17-09

VOUCHER VENDOR DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT 

        62655 ANOKA COUNTY Propery Taxes and Insurance 11,594.97             

        62656 COMPUTER INTERGRATION TECH MANAGED SERVICES, PRODUCT/SERVICE 4,566.00                

        62657 COTTENS INC SUPPLIES 213.23                   

        62658 Eckberg Lammers Briggs Wolff & VierlingLEGAL FEES 100.00                   

        62659 FERGUSON WATERWORKS #2516 PARTS 831.94                   

        62660 GAMETIME BACKHOE DIFFER, AEROSAL PAINT 936.85                   

        62661 JENNY GOODEN INSTRUCTOR 110.00                   

        62662 LEAGUE OF MN CITIES LMC ANNUAL CONF BISSCHOFF 150.00                   

        62663 CITY OF MINNEAPOLIS APS TRANSACTIONS 207.90                   

        62664 KAY OKEY REIMBURSEMENT 59.86                     

        62665 CITY OF SLP - PETTY CASH RECREATION 370.84                   

        62666 SMITH SCHAFER & ASSOCIATES AUDIT DEC 31, 2016 7,073.00                

        62667 THE HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES MARCH CREDIT CARD 75.48                     

        62668 ANOKA COUNTY PROPERY TAXES 21.29                     

        62669 ABLE HOSE & RUBBER INC. PARTS 327.60                   

        62670 AMERICAN MESSAGING MAY SERVICES 3.60                       

        62671 ANOKA COUNTY DATA SERVICES QUATERLY BILLING 450.00                   

        62672 ASPEN MILLS UNIFORM ALLOWANCES 504.40                   

        62673 AT & T MOBILITY APRIL MONTHLY BILL 981.16                   

        62674 BRYAN ROCK PRODUCTS RED BALL DIA 720.13                   

        62675 CENTERPOINT ENERGY APRIL UTILITIES 806.32                   

        62676 CENTRAL RENTAL CO EXCAVATOR BOBCAT RENTAL 293.79                   

        62677 COMMERS PRINTING INC BUSINESS CARDS A. IMIG 96.00                     

        62678 COTTENS INC PARTS 31.98                     

        62679 FASTENAL COMPANY PARTS 136.71                   

        62680 DIVERSION SOLUTIONS, LLC MAG TEK SURE SWIPE READER SQUAD215 51.00                     

        62681 G & K SERVICES MATS 81.88                     

        62682 GOPHER STATE ONE-CALL INC APRIL LOCATES 109.35                   

        62683 INSTRUMENTAL RESEARCH INC APRIL WATER TESTING 72.00                     

        62684 KAREN HANSON REFUND 112.00                   

        62685 LEAGUE OF MN CITIES CONFERENCE REG. D. BUCHHOLTZ 400.00                   

        62686 MANSFIELD OIL COMPANY FUEL 767.61                   

        62687 MINNESOTA SAFETY COUNCIL INSTRUCTOR 540.00                   

        62688 MN DEP'T OF LABOR & INDUSTRY 1ST QTR SURCHARGES 270.21                   

        62689 PLUNKETT'S INC PEST CONTROL 52.87                     

        62690 TAHO SPORTSWEAR NAMETAGES COUNCIL MEMBERS 7.50                       

        62691 TRUST IN US, LLC DRUG TESTING 105.00                   

        62692 ULINE OFFICE SUPPLIES 271.78                   

        62693 XCEL ENERGY APRIL UTILITIES 50.83                     

        62694 LEAGUE OF MN CITIES INSURANCE ENDORSEMENT POLICY 774.00                   

        62695 BEVERLY KRONSTEDT REFUND 50.00                     

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK

CLAIMS LIST APPROVED AND PAID

GENERAL OPERATIONS



Date: May 2017

Page:  2

Claim Res.#17-09

VOUCHER VENDOR DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT 

        62696 CARSON, CLELLAND & SCHREDER LEGAL FEES 9,551.74                

        62697 CENTERPOINT ENERGY APRIL UTILITIES 631.96                   

        62698 COMPUTER INTERGRATION TECH IT SERVICES 114.00                   

        62699 PEGGY DECKER INSTRUCTOR 50.00                     

        62700 DIAMOND VOGEL PAINTS FIELD STRIP WHT 324.00                   

        62701 Eckberg Lammers Briggs Wolff & VierlingLEGAL FEES 300.00                   

        62702 FASTENAL COMPANY PARTS 639.71                   

        62703 HYDRO KLEAN PERFORM QUADEX LINING TO MANHOLE 1,390.00                

        62704 JOSEPHINE LADOUCEUR REFUND 32.50                     

        62705 KATIE PANDEY REFUND 158.00                   

        62706 MANSFIELD OIL COMPANY FUEL 685.05                   

        62707 METROPOLITAN COUNCIL JUNE WASTE WATER SERVICES 41,594.02             

        62708 DEANNA MILLER INSTRUCTOR 30.00                     

        62709 MTI DISTRIBUTING INC PARTS/ SUPPLIES 581.01                   

        62710 MUNICIPAL PAVING PLANT ASPHALT MIX 112.30                   

        62711 ON SITE SANITATION INC PARK RESTROOMS 173.72                   

        62712 ROLAINE WRIGHT REFUND 100.00                   

        62713 LEE SADOWSKI UMPIRE FEE 230.00                   

        62714 THE MULCH STORE SPECIALIZED ENVIRONMENTAL TECH.COMPOST BAGGED 550.00                   

        62715 TAHO SPORTSWEAR Y. SOFTBALL/COMMISIONER T-SHIRT 252.25                   

        62716 TIM YOST REFUND 70.00                     

        62717 U.S.T.I. YEARLY MAINT. RENEWAL 3,678.45                

        62718 WASTE MANAGEMENT OF WI-MN APRIL SERVICES 7,023.38                

        62719 WELLS FARGO CREDIT CARD APRIL CREDIT CARD 126.00                   

        62720 AFLAC PAYROLL 40.70                     

        62721 CENTRAL PENSION FUND PAYROLL 260.04                   

        62722 DEARBORN NATIONAL PAYROLL 449.07                   

        62723 DELTA DENTAL PAYROLL 1,538.00                

        62724 FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE PAYROLL 31.35                     

        62725 HEALTH PARTNERS PAYROLL 11,061.36             

        62726 L.E.L.S. PAYROLL 245.00                   

        62727 LOCAL 49 PAYROLL 102.00                   

        62728 NCPERS MINNESOTA-7750811 PAYROLL 56.00                     

        62729 A-1 HYRAULIC SALES & SERVICE INC AUTO SERVICES 466.51                   

        62730 BARBARA GOODBOE-BISSCHOFF FEB-APRIL MILEAGE REIMBURSEMENT 101.33                   

        62731 CAROL OBERLANDER REFUND 50.00                     

        62732 CENTRAL TURF & IRRIGATION SUPPLYPARTS 483.69                   

        62733 COMCAST APRIL SERVICES 105.92                   

        62734 COMPUTER INTERGRATION TECHNOLOGIESBATTERIES 395.00                   

        62735 CONNEXUS ENERGY APRIL UTILITIES 357.31                   

        62736 CURTIS CPR INSTRUCTION INSTRUCTOR 369.00                   

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK

CLAIMS LIST APPROVED AND PAID

GENERAL OPERATIONS



Date: May 2017

Page:  3

Claim Res.#17-09

VOUCHER VENDOR DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT 

        62737 FASTENAL COMPANY PARTS 270.61                   

        62738 FERGUSON WATERWORKS #2516 PARTS 115.10                   

        62739 KELSEY GRAVES REFUND 74.00                     

        62740 KURT CHRISTIANSON REFUND 30.00                     

        62741 MICHAEL LEDMAN INSTRUCTOR 324.00                   

        62742 MANSFIELD OIL COMPANY FUEL 857.28                   

        62743 JILL MASON INSTRUCTOR 157.00                   

        62744 MENARDS-CAPITAL ONE COMMERICALAPRIL CREDIT CARD 51.82                     

        62745 MINNEAPOLIS SAW TRIMMER LINE/CROSSFIRE SPOOL 698.18                   

        62746 NAYS MEMBERSHIPS 360.00                   

        62747 OFFICE DEPOT OFFICE SUPPLIES 175.55                   

        62748 KAY OKEY REIMBURSEMENT 633.69                   

        62749 ROBIN & DERRICK HATCHETT OVERPAYMENT WATER BILL 31.69                     

        62750 TASC JUNE COBRA ADMIN FEES 30.08                     

        62751 U.S.T.I. V14 MIGRATION/APRIL E-BILLINGS 295.08                   

        62752 WALTERS RECYCLING REFUSE SERV 6 YD FRONT LOAD/ORGANICS 424.56                   

        62753 WIPERS AND WIPES INC SUPPLIES 509.92                   

        62754 XCEL ENERGY APRIL UTILITIES 11,371.94             

        62755 BRENDEN GEISELHART UMPIRE FEE 36.00                     

        62756 CABIN RIDGE RIDES EXTENDED TOUR 846.93                   

        62757 DANIEL BALCK UMPIRE FEE 234.00                   

        62758 DAVE'S SPORT SHOP SOFTBALL SUPPLIES 1,088.92                

        62759 DERRICK SMITH UMPIRE FEE 90.00                     

        62760 GARY KING INSTRUCTOR 320.00                   

        62761 LEE SADOWSKI UMPIRE FEE 230.00                   

        62762 AFLAC PAYROLL 40.70                     

        62763 CENTRAL PENSION FUND PAYROLL 260.04                   

        62764 DEARBORN NATIONAL PAYROLL 449.07                   

        62765 DELTA DENTAL PAYROLL 1,528.15                

        62766 FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE PAYROLL 31.35                     

        62767 HEALTH PARTNERS PAYROLL 10,963.27             

        62768 L.E.L.S. PAYROLL 245.00                   

        62769 LOCAL 49 PAYROLL 102.00                   

        62770 NCPERS MINNESOTA-7750811 PAYROLL 56.00                     

        62771 ASPEN MILLS UNIFORM ALLOWANCES 305.69                   

        62772 BARB & GARY CULVERS JAMMERS TOWER DAYS MUSICAL ENTERTAINMENT 200.00                   

        62773 BARB MARESH REFUND 67.00                     

        62774 BILL LARSON TOWER DAYS TROPHIES 139.26                   

        62775 BILL NEISS TOWER DAYS EMERGENCY CARE SVCS 150.00                   

        62776 BLAINE MARCHING BAND TOWER DAYS BLAINE MARCHING BAND 300.00                   

        62777 BLUE TOW SERVICE VEHICLE FORFEITURE CASE 355.00                   

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK

CLAIMS LIST APPROVED AND PAID

GENERAL OPERATIONS



Date: May 2017

Page:  4

Claim Res.#17-09

VOUCHER VENDOR DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT 

        62778 CMO LLP OVERPAYMENT WATER BILL 89.61                     

        62779 COMM-WORKS, LLC MAY PARK CAMERAS/REPAIRS 437.50                   

        62780 COMPUTER INTERGRATION TECHN JUNE MANAGED SERVICES 2,000.00                

        62781 DAVE CHLEBECK REIMBURSEMENT UNIFORM 394.48                   

        62782 DAVID SCHEEL TOWER DAYS BUNGEE TRAMPOLINE 1,350.00                

        62783 DUNK N JUMP TOWER DAYS MOONWALK, SLIDE 1,100.00                

        62784 FELICIA TAULELLE OVERPAYMENT WATER BILL 120.94                   

        62785 DIVERSION SOLUTIONS, LLC MAINT/SYSTEM UPDATES FEES 2,984.00                

        62786 KAREN FISKE REIMBURSEMENT UNIFORM 28.75                     

        62787 FRAN FISCHER REFUND 15.00                     

        62788 G & K SERVICES MATS 81.88                     

        62789 GOLD COAST ARMORY AMMO 2,275.55                

        62790 JOANN PERRY REFUND 100.00                   

        62791 JODI MORRIS TOWER DAYS CRIMSON MARCHING BAND 300.00                   

        62792 JOYCE OLSON REFUND 25.00                     

        62793 KATHLEEN HOLM-PARTLOW REFUND 50.00                     

        62794 Lee Ann Landstrom INSTRUCTOR 65.00                     

        62795 LINO LAKES LIONESS TOWER DAYS FACE PAINTING 300.00                   

        62796 LUMBERJACK ENTERPRISES TOWER DAYS APPEARANCE 3,900.00                

        62797 MANSFIELD OIL COMPANY FUEL 901.62                   

        62798 MCFOA MEMBERSHIP D. BUCHHOLTZ 45.00                     

        62799 MCFOA REGISTRATION D. BUCHHOLTZ 60.00                     

        62800 MHSRC/RANGE RESERVE TRAINING 450.00                   

        62801 CITY OF MINNEAPOLIS APRIL APS TRANS FEES 204.30                   

        62802 MINNESOTA DEPT OF HEALTH 2ND QTR WATER SUPPLY CONNECTION 3,478.00                

        62803 MINNESOTA SAFETY COUNCIL INSTRUCTOR 399.00                   

        62804 MN CITY/COUNTY MGMT ASSOC. MEMBERSHIP D. BUCHHOLTZ 129.00                   

        62805 MSMA TOWER DAYS CAR SHOW 500.00                   

        62806 NAGELL APPRAISAL INCORPORATED APPRAISAL FEES COMM. BUILD LIQ. STORE 2,000.00                

        62807 NYSTROM PUBLISHING CO SPRING NEWS IN THE PARK 2,460.92                

        62808 OFFICE OF MN.IT SERVICES FIBER OPTICS FEES APRIL 50.00                     

        62809 ON SITE SANITATION INC PARK RESTROOMS 256.00                   

        62810 PATRIOTS MARCHING BAND TOWER DAYS PATRIOTS MARCHING BAND 300.00                   

        62811 PERFECT 10 CAR WASH AUTO SERVICES 6.99                       

        62812 PIONEER CYCLE BIKE PATROL EQUIPMENT 30.00                     

        62813 QUILL SUPPLIES 116.29                   

        62814 RES SPECIALTY PYROTECHNICS TOWER DAYS FIREWORKS DISPLAY 4,200.00                

        62815 ROCKIN HOLLYWOODS TOWER DAYS ROCKIN HOLLYWOODS 1,250.00                

        62816 DAVID SCHLUETER INSTRUCTOR 100.00                   

        62817 SHRED-IT USA SHREDDING SERVICES 80.44                     

        62818 TASC JULY ADMIN FEES 30.08                     

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK

CLAIMS LIST APPROVED AND PAID

GENERAL OPERATIONS



Date: May 2017

Page:  5

Claim Res.#17-09

VOUCHER VENDOR DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT 

        62819 THE HOME DEPOT CREDIT SERVICES MAY CREDIT CARD 75.22                     

        62820 U.S.T.I. AP CHECKS 345.00                   

        62821 TOMMY WOOG TOWER DAYS WATER WAR GAMES 500.00                   

        62822 LISA WOOG TOWER DAYS WATER WAR GAMES 450.00                   

TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS 187,373.90           

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK

CLAIMS LIST APPROVED AND PAID

GENERAL OPERATIONS



  Date: May 2017

  Page:  6

  Claim Res.#17-09

WHEREAS,

      the City Council of the City of Spring Lake Park has considered the foregoing itemized list of 

disbursements; and

WHEREAS,

      the City Council has determined that all disbursements, as listed, with the following exceptions:

_____________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________

are proper.

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED:

       that the City Council directs and approves the payment of the aforementioned disbursements 

this _________ day of _______________, 20_______.

Signed: ______________________________________

               Mayor

Councilmembers:

____________________________________       ____________________________________

____________________________________        ____________________________________

ATTEST:

_____________________________________

Daniel Buchholtz, Admin/Clerk-Treasurer









 



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Hansen and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  June 12, 2017 

Subject: Personnel Changes at Central Park Liquor 
 
The following staff members have resigned their positions at Central Park Liquor.  Staff requests 
the City Council accept their resignations 
 

Jeramiah Johnson – resignation effective March 4, 2017 
Scarlett Milazzo – resignation effective May 27, 2017 
James Hamilton – resignation effective May 27, 2017 

 
Staff is seeking authorization from the City Council to hire the following individuals at Central 
Park Liquor, subject to successful completion of a criminal background check: 
 
 Matthew Ahlfs (seasonal) 
 Ryan Law 
 Lynette Ziemer 
 Shelby MacDonald 
 
These new hires will allow staff to fill the schedule as a result of the departures of the three staff 
members listed above and the new Sunday sales law. 
 
If you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 763-784-6491. 
 



 













 



 

 

Police Report 

May 2017 

Submitted for Council Meeting June 19, 2017 

 

The Spring Lake Park Police Department responded to five hundred and thirty-nine calls for service for 

the month of May 2017. This is compared to responding to four hundred and fifty-nine calls for service 

in May of 2016. 

In July of 2016, the Bureau of Criminal Apprehension began a biennial audit of the Spring Lake Park 

Police Department for adherence to the Criminal Justice Information System (CJIS) policy and 

procedures requirements. All agencies in the State of Minnesota are required to be in compliance with 

these policies and procedures to be able to access information through CJIS and the Federal 

Government. As of May of 2017, the biennial audit was completed for the Spring Lake Park Police 

Department. It was determined that the Spring Lake Park Police Department is in compliance with the 

policies and procedures of the Criminal Justice Information System and Federal Government.  

Investigator Baker reports handling a case load of Sixty cases for the month of May. Forty-seven of these 

cases were felony in nature, six of these cases were gross misdemeanor in nature and seven of these 

cases were misdemeanor in nature. For further details, see Investigator Baker’s attached report.  

Our School Resource Officer, Officer Chlebeck reports handling eighteen calls for service at our schools 

for the month of May 2017, along with twenty-five student contacts, three escorts and nine follow up 

investigations into school related issues. Officer Chlebeck is happy to report that there were no “Theft’s” 

of cell phones, iPods or bikes for the month of May. Officer Chlebeck did indicate that he did do two 

presentations for Spring Lake Park Students discussing the “Miranda Warning” and “Caregiver Neglect”. 

For further details see Officer Chlebeck’s attached report.  

The Spring Lake Park Police Department Office Staff remain steadfast in their duties, typing and imaging 

reports, filing, answering and dispensing phone calls for service and information, while continuing to 

address citizen concerns at our “Police Public Walk up Window”, along with other duties that may be 

assigned on a daily basis.  



The month of May was a busy month for myself as well. Besides handling the day to day operations of 

the police department, I continue to attend meetings throughout the month representing the City of 

Spring Lake Park and the Police Department.  

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the City of Spring Lake Park, the Mayor, the City 

Councilmembers, the Administrative Staff and the Police Department for your thoughts and 

condolences on the passing of my father on May 9th. The flowers that were provided for his funeral by 

everyone were very beautiful. On behalf of myself and my family, I would like to extend a heartfelt 

thank you to each and every one of you for your condolences during this time of loss of my father! It 

was and is very much appreciated! 

“Thank You!” 

 

This will conclude my report for May 2017. 

Are there any questions? 



Spring Lake Park Police Department 
Investigations Monthly Report 

 

 
Investigator 

Brad Baker 

 

May 2017 
 

 

Total Case Load 
 

Case Load by Level of Offense: 60 
 

Felony    47 

Gross Misdemeanor  6 

Misdemeanor   7 

 

Case Dispositions: 
 

County Attorney    4 

Juvenile County Attorney  0 

City Attorney    0 

Forward to Other Agency  3 

SLP Liaison    0 

Carried Over    50 

Unfounded     0 

Exceptionally Cleared   3 

Closed/Inactive    0 

 

 

 

Notes:        



Spring Lake Park Police / School Resource Officer Report 

May 2017 
 

2Incidents by School Location Reports (ICRs) Student Contacts* Escorts/Other Follow Up Inv. 

Spring Lake Park High School 14 25 3 7 

Discovery Days (pre-school)     

Lighthouse School     

Park Terrace Elementary School     

District Office     

Able and Terrace Parks (School Related)     

School Related 1    

Miscellaneous Locations 3   2 

Totals: 18 25 3 9 

 

 

Breakdown of Reports (ICRs)  

Theft reports (cellphones, iPods, bikes, etc…)  

Students charged with Assault or Disorderly Conduct 3 

Students charged with other crimes 1 

Non-students Charged  

Warrant Arrests 1 

Miscellaneous reports 13 

 



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Hansen and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  June 12, 2017 

Subject: TIF Agreement – Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 
 
On September 6, 2016, Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP made an application 
to the City requesting the creation of a housing tax increment financing (TIF) district in order for 
the City to provide financial assistance to the Legends of Spring Lake Park age-restricted affordable 
housing project. 
 
On November 21, 2016, the City Council held a public hearing on the developer’s request.  After 
hearing comments from staff, the developer and the public, the City Council created Municipal 
Development District No. 6.  Through that approval, the City created a mechanism by which to 
provide support to the development, but did not obligate itself to provide assistance at that time.  
To provide assistance, the City and the developer must enter into a development agreement that 
sets forth the level of and conditions upon the financial assistance. 
 
Included with this memorandum is the proposed Tax Increment Financing (TIF) Development 
Agreement between the City of Spring Lake Park and Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates 
I, LLLP to facilitate the Legends of Spring Lake Park housing project.  As proposed, assistance will 
be provided to the developer on a pay-as-you-go basis to offset TIF-eligible costs associated with the 
Legends of Spring Lake Park project.  The City will not be providing any up-front funds to the 
project through the issuance of tax increment revenue bonds.  Instead, the City will issue the 
developer a tax increment revenue note.  The City will only repay the note to the developer 
through revenue generated by TIF District 6-1.  If the tax increment generated from the District is 
less than estimated in the TIF Plan, the City will not be responsible to fulfill the outstanding 
balance. 
 
The general terms of the note include: 
 Principal:  $3,270,000 
 Interest Rate:  5.00% annual 
 Term: Up to 20 years, beginning with increment generated in taxes payable 

year 2020 
 Repayment: Maximum of 95% of TIF collected. 
 



The City will retain 5% of the TIF collected to cover administrative expenses, such as annual TIF 
reports to the Office of the State Auditor, audit expenses, staff expenses associated with 
administration of the district, and other expenses.  The TIF plan estimates that 5% of collected 
increment will generate approximately $273,000 over the life of the district.  City staff will invoice 
the TIF Fund for actual expenditures. 
 
The agreement anticipates that the Termination Date of the District will be February 1, 2040, 
upon which date the final principal and interest payment on the TIF Note will be made.  The 
property will then go on the general tax roll, benefiting the local governments which serve it. 
 
Bond Counsel will be at the June 19 meeting to answer any questions you may have.  If you have 
any questions in advance of the meeting, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 763-784-6491. 



1 

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK 

ANOKA COUNTY 

RAMSEY COUNTY 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

 

 Council member ______________ introduced the following resolution and moved its adoption: 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 17-14 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING A CONTRACT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

(LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK) AND AWARDING THE SALE OF, AND 

PROVIDING THE FORM, TERMS, COVENANTS AND INSTRUCTIONS FOR, 

THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY’S $3,270,000 TAXABLE TAX INCREMENT 

FINANCING REVENUE NOTE 

 

 BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council (the “Council”) of the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 

(the “City”), as follows: 

 

 Section 1. Authorization; Award of Sale.   

 

1.01. Authorization.  The City has heretofore approved the establishment of Tax Increment 

Financing District No. 6-1 (Legends of Spring Lake Park), a housing district (the “TIF District”) within 

Municipal Development District No. 6 (the “Project”), and adopted a tax increment financing plan therefor 

for the purpose of financing certain improvements within the Project, all pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, 

Sections 469.124 through 469.133, as amended, and Sections 469.174 through 469.1799, as amended (the 

“TIF Act”).  

 

Pursuant to Section 469.178 of the TIF Act, the City is authorized to issue and sell a revenue note 

for the purpose of financing a portion of the public development costs of the TIF District.  The revenue note 

is payable from all or any portion of revenues derived from the TIF District and pledged to the payment of 

the note.  The Council therefore finds and determines that it is in the best interests of the City that it issue 

and sell its Taxable Tax Increment Financing Revenue Note, in the total aggregate principal amount of 

$3,270,000 (the “Note”), for the purposes of financing certain public development costs of the TIF District.  

More specifically, the proceeds of the Note will assist Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, 

LLLP (the “Developer”), with the acquisition, construction and equipping of an approximately 194-unit 

multifamily housing residential rental facility spread over four stories, with one level of underground 

parking, to be located at 1066 County Highway 10 in the City (the “Improvements”). 

 

1.02. Agreement Approved; Issuance, Sale, and Terms of the Note.  The Council has additionally 

reviewed a proposed Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) (the 

“Agreement”), to be entered into between the City and the Developer.  The form of the Agreement is hereby 

approved, and this Council authorizes the Mayor and the City Administrator to execute such Agreement in 

substantially the form on file with the City, subject to modifications that do not substantially alter the 

substance of the transaction and are approved by such officials, provided that execution of the Agreement 

by such officials is conclusive evidence of their approval.   

 

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Note shall be sold to the Developer and delivered at the time and 

subject to the conditions of Section 3.1 of the Agreement.  The Note shall be dated as of the date of delivery 

and shall bear interest from the date of original issue to the earlier of maturity or prepayment, at an interest 

rate of five percent (5.00%) per annum.  The consideration for the sale of the Note is the Developer incurring 

the Qualified Costs (as such term is defined in the Agreement) related to the Improvements.   



2 

 

 

 Section 2. Form of Note.  The Note shall be in substantially the form attached hereto as 

Exhibit A.     

 

Section 3. Terms, Execution and Delivery. 

 

3.01. Denomination; Payment.  The Note shall be issued as a single typewritten note numbered 

R-1.  The Note shall be issuable only in fully registered form.  Principal or and interest on the Note shall 

be payable by check or draft issued by the Registrar described herein. 

 

 3.02. Registration.  This Council appoints the City Administrator to perform the functions of 

registrar, transfer agent and paying agent relating to the Note (the “Registrar”).  The effect of registration 

and the rights and duties of the City and the Registrar with respect thereto shall be as follows: 

 

(a) Register.  The Registrar shall keep at its office a bond register in which the Registrar shall 

provide for the registration of ownership of the Note and the registration of transfers and exchanges of the 

Note.   

 

(b) Transfer of Note.  Upon surrender for transfer of the Note duly endorsed by the registered 

owner thereof or accompanied by a written instrument of transfer, in form reasonably satisfactory to the 

Registrar, duly executed by the registered owner thereof or by an attorney duly authorized by the transferee 

or transferees, a new Note will be issued in a like aggregate principal amount and maturity, as requested by 

the transferor.  The Registrar may close the books for registration of any transfer after the fifteenth day of 

the month preceding each Payment Date and until such Payment Date.   

 

(c) Cancellation.  The Note surrendered upon any transfer shall be promptly cancelled by the 

Registrar and thereafter disposed of as directed by the City.   

 

(d) Improper or Unauthorized Transfer.  When the Note is presented to the Registrar for 

transfer, the Registrar may refuse to transfer the same until it is satisfied that the endorsement on such Note 

or separate instrument of transfer is legally authorized.  The Registrar shall incur no liability for its refusal, 

in good faith, to make transfers which it, in its judgment, deems improper or unauthorized.   

 

(e) Persons Deemed Owners.  The City and the Registrar may treat the person in whose name 

the Note is at any time registered in the bond register as the absolute owner of the Note, whether the Note 

shall be overdue or not, for the purpose of receiving payment of, or on account of, the principal of and 

interest on such Note and for all other purposes, and all such payments so made to any such registered 

owner or upon the owner’s order shall be valid and effectual to satisfy and discharge the liability of the City 

upon such Note to the extent of the sum or sums so paid. 

 

(f) Taxes, Fees and Charges.  For every transfer or exchange of the Note, the Registrar may 

impose a charge upon the owner thereof sufficient to reimburse the Registrar for any tax, fee, or other 

governmental charge required by law to be paid with respect to such transfer or exchange.   

 

(g) Mutilated, Lost, Stolen or Destroyed Note.  In case the Note shall become mutilated or be 

lost, stolen or destroyed, the Registrar shall deliver a new Note of like amount, maturity date and tenor in 

exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation of such mutilated Note or in lieu of and in substitution 

for such Note lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the payment of the reasonable expenses and charges of the 

Registrar in connection therewith; and, in the case the Note is lost, stolen, or destroyed, upon filing with 

the Registrar of evidence satisfactory to it, in which both the City and the Registrar shall be named as 

obligees.  The Note so surrendered to the Registrar shall be cancelled by it and evidence of such cancellation 



3 

 

shall be given to the City.  If the mutilated, lost, stolen or destroyed Note has already matured or been called 

for redemption in accordance with its terms, it shall not be necessary to issue a new Note prior to payment. 

 

3.03. Preparation and Delivery.  The Note shall be prepared under the direction of the City and 

shall be executed on behalf of the City by the signatures of the Mayor and the City Administrator.  In case 

any officer whose signature shall appear on the Note shall cease to be such officer before the delivery of 

the Note, such signature shall nevertheless be valid and sufficient for all purposes, the same as if such 

officer had remained in office until delivery.  When the Note has been so executed, it shall be delivered by 

the City Administrator to the Developer.   

 

 Section 4. Security Provisions.  

 

 4.01. Pledge.  The City pledges to the payment of the principal of and interest on the Note 95% 

of Tax Increment derived from the Development Property, as defined in the Note, within the TIF District.  

Tax Increment shall be applied to payment of the principal of and interest on the Note in accordance with 

the terms of the Note. 

 

 4.02. No City Obligation.  The Note is a special, limited revenue obligation and not a general 

obligation of the City and is payable by the City only from Tax Increment, as derived from the TIF District 

and as received from Anoka County.  The Note is not a general obligation of the City, and neither the full 

faith and credit nor the taxing powers of the City are pledged to the payment of the principal or interest of 

the Note, and no property or other asset of the City is for shall be a source of payment of the City’s 

obligations under the Agreement and the TIF Note.  In the event Tax Increment is not sufficient to pay the 

full amount of the principal of and interest on the TIF Note, the City will not be responsible to further fund 

or reimburse the Developer (or its assigns or creditors) for any such shortfall.  The City is not responsible 

to fund or reimburse any obligation of the Developer (or its assigns or creditors) under the Agreement or 

the TIF Note. 

 

 4.03. TIF Note Fund.  Until the date the Note is no longer outstanding, the City shall maintain a 

separate and special “TIF Note Fund” to be used for no purpose other than the payment of the principal of 

and interest on the Note.  The City irrevocably agrees to appropriate to the TIF Note Fund on or before each 

TIF Note Payment Date an amount equal to 95% of Tax Increment available at each TIF Note Payment 

Date.  If any Tax Increment remains in the TIF Note Fund after the Note has been fully paid, the remaining 

amount shall be transferred to the City’s account for the TIF District, pursuant to the TIF Act. 

 

 4.04. Additional Obligations.  While the Note is outstanding, the City shall not pledge or permit 

the pledge of all or any portion of the Tax Increment to the payment of principal of or interest on any other 

obligations of the City unless and to the extent such pledge is subordinate to the pledge under the Note, 

unless otherwise determined by the City Administrator. 

 

 Section 5.  Certification of Proceedings.  The officers of the City are authorized and directed to 

prepare and furnish to the Developer certified copies of all proceedings and records of the City, and such 

other affidavits, certificates and information as may be required to show the facts relating to the legality of 

the Note as the same appear from the books and records under their custody and control or as otherwise 

known to them, and all such certified copies, certificates and affidavits, including any heretofore furnished, 

shall be deemed representations of the City as to the facts recited therein. 

 

 Section 6.  Effective Date.  This Resolution is effective upon full execution of the Agreement 

between the City and the Developer.  All capitalized but undefined terms herein shall have the definitions 

as provided in the Agreement. 



4 

 

 

This Resolution is adopted by the City Council of the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, this 

19th day of June, 2017. 

 

 

       _______________________________________ 

       Cindy Hansen, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel Buchholtz, City Administrator 

 

 

  



5 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

FORM OF TAX INCREMENT FINANCING NOTE 

 

 

No. R-1 $3,270,000.00 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF ANOKA 

COUNTY OF RAMSEY 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK 

TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTE 

(LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK PROJECT) 

The City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota (the “City”), hereby acknowledges itself to be indebted 

and, for value received, hereby promises to pay the amounts hereinafter described (the “Payment 

Amounts”) to Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP (the “Developer”) or its registered 

assigns (the “Registered Owner”), but only in the manner, at the times, from the sources of revenue, and to 

the extent hereinafter provided.   

 

The principal amount of this Note shall equal from time to time the principal amount stated above, 

as reduced to the extent that such principal installments shall have been paid in whole or in part pursuant 

to the terms hereof; provided that the sum of the principal amount listed above shall in no event exceed 

Three Million Two Hundred Seventy Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($3,270,000.00), as provided in that 

certain Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project), dated as of July 10, 2017, 

as the same may be amended from time to time (the “Development Agreement”), by and between the City 

and the Developer.  The unpaid principal amount hereof shall bear interest from the date of this Note at the 

rate of 5.00% per annum.  Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360 day year consisting of twelve 

(12) 30-day months.  All capitalized but undefined terms herein shall be defined as in the Development 

Agreement.   

 

The amounts due under this Note shall be payable on each February 1 and August 1, commencing 

on August 1, 2020, and thereafter to and including the Termination Date, or, if the first payment date should 

not be on a Business Day, the payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day (the “Payment 

Dates”).  On each Payment Date the City shall pay by check or draft mailed to the person that was the 

Registered Owner of this Note at the close of the last business day of the City preceding such Payment Date 

an amount equal to the Tax Increment received by the City during the six-month period preceding such 

Payment Date (or, with respect to the first Payment Date, in the period commencing on the date of issuance 

of this Note through the day that is prior to the first Payment Date).  All payments made by the City under 

this Note shall first be applied to accrued interest and then to principal.  This Note is pre-payable by the 

City, without penalty, in whole or in part, on any date. 

 

The Payment Amounts due hereon shall be payable solely from 95% of Tax Increment derived 

from the Development Property within the City’s Tax Increment Financing District No. 6-1 (the “TIF 

District”) within its Municipal Development District No. 6, which is paid to the City and which the City is 

entitled to retain pursuant to the provisions of Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.174 through 469.1799, as 

the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time (the “TIF Act”).  This Note shall terminate 



6 

 

and be of no further force and effect following the Termination Date, on any date upon which the City shall 

have terminated the Development Agreement under Section 4.2(b) thereof, the date TIF District is 

terminated, or on the date that all principal and interest payable hereunder shall have been paid in full, 

whichever occurs earliest. 

 

The City makes no representation or covenant, express or implied, that the Tax Increment will be 

sufficient to pay, in whole or in part, the amounts which are or may become due and payable hereunder.  In 

the event Tax Increment is not sufficient, the City is not responsible to further fund or reimburse the 

Developer (or its assigns or creditors) for any such shortfall.  The City is not responsible to fund or 

reimburse any obligation of the Developer (or its assigns or creditors) unless expressly stated in this 

Agreement. 

 

Subject to the terms of the Development Agreement, the City’s payment obligations hereunder 

shall be further conditioned on the fact that no Event of Default under the Development Agreement shall 

have occurred and be continuing at the time payment is otherwise due hereunder, but such unpaid amounts 

shall become payable if said Event of Default shall thereafter have been cured; and further, if pursuant to 

the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Development Agreement the City elects, subject to the 

provisions of Section 4.2 of the Development Agreement, to cancel and rescind the Development 

Agreement, the City shall have no further debt or obligation under this Note whatsoever.  Reference is 

hereby made to all of the provisions of the Development Agreement, including without limitation Section 

3.1 thereof, for a fuller statement of the rights and obligations of the City to pay the principal of this Note, 

and said provisions are hereby incorporated into this Note as though set out in full herein. 

 

This Note is a special, limited revenue obligation and not a general obligation of the City and is 

payable by the City only from the sources and subject to the qualifications stated or referenced herein.  This 

Note is not a general obligation of the City, and neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing powers of the 

City are pledged to the payment of the principal of this Note and no property or other asset of the City, save 

and except the above-referenced Tax Increment, is or shall be a source of payment of the City’s obligations 

hereunder. 

 

This Note is issued by the City in aid of financing a project pursuant to and in full conformity with 

the Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota, including the TIF Act. 

 

This Note may be assigned only with the consent of the City.  In order to assign the Note, the 

assignee shall surrender the same to the City either in exchange for a new fully registered note or for transfer 

of this Note on the registration records for the Note maintained by the City.  Each permitted assignee shall 

take this Note subject to the foregoing conditions and subject to all provisions stated or referenced herein. 



7 

 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that all acts, conditions, and things required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota to be done, to have happened, and to be performed 

precedent to and in the issuance of this Note have been done, have happened, and have been performed in 

regular and due form, time, and manner as required by law; and that this Note, together with all other 

indebtedness of the City outstanding on the date hereof and on the date of its actual issuance and delivery, 

does not cause the indebtedness of the City to exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation thereon. 

 

N WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, by its City Council, has caused 

this Note to be executed by the manual signatures of its Mayor and City Administrator and has caused this 

Note to be dated as of ___________________. 

 

 

 

_________________________________   

City Administrator   Mayor 

 

 

CERTIFICATION OF REGISTRATION 

It is hereby certified that the foregoing Tax Increment Revenue Note (Legends of Spring Lake Park 

Project) was registered in the name of Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, and that, at 

the request of the Registered Owner of this Note, the undersigned has this day registered the Note in the 

name of such Registered Owner, as indicated in the registration blank below, on the books kept by the 

undersigned for such purposes. 

 

 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF 

    REGISTERED OWNER      

 

DATE OF 

REGISTRATION 

 

SIGNATURE OF CITY 

ADMINISTRATOR 

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing 

Associates I, LLLP 

2905 Northwest Boulevard #150 

Plymouth, Minnesota  55441 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 CONTRACT 

 

 FOR 

 

 PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

(LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK PROJECT) 

 

 BETWEEN 

 

THE  

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, MINNESOTA 

 

 AND 

 

 SPRING LAKE PARK LEASED HOUSING ASSOCIATES I, LLLP 

 

 

 

 Dated: July 10, 2017 
 

  

 

 

This document was drafted by: 

 

Eckberg Lammers, P.C. 

1809 Northwestern Avenue 

Stillwater, Minnesota  55082 



 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 Page 

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ........................................................................................................................ 2 

Section 1.1 Definitions ............................................................................................................ 2 

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES ...................................................................... 4 

Section 2.1 Representations and Warranties of the City .......................................................... 4 

Section 2.2 Representations and Warranties of the Developer ................................................ 4 

ARTICLE III UNDERTAKINGS BY DEVELOPER AND CITY ........... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Section 3.1 Land Acquisition and Legal and Administrative ExpensesError! Bookmark not defined. 

Section 3.2 Reimbursement: TIF Note. ................................................................................... 6 

Section 3.3 Security for Phase II Project ................................................................................. 7 

ARTICLE IV EVENTS OF DEFAULT .................................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

Section 4.1 Events of Default Defined .................................................................................... 8 

Section 4.2 Remedies on Default ............................................................................................. 8 

Section 4.3 No Remedy Exclusive. ......................................................................................... 9 

Section 4.4 No Implied Waiver. .............................................................................................. 9 

Section 4.5 Agreement to Pay Attorney’s Fees and Expenses. ............................................... 9 

Section 4.6 Indemnification of City. ........................................................................................ 9 

ARTICLE V ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS ............................................................................................ 11 

Section 5.1 Restrictions on Use ............................................................................................. 11 

Section 5.2 Conflicts of Interest ............................................................................................ 11 

Section 5.3 Titles of Articles and Sections ............................................................................ 11 

Section 5.4 Notices and Demands ......................................................................................... 11 

Section 5.5 Counterparts. ....................................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.6 Law Governing ................................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.7 Expiration. .......................................................................................................... 12 

Section 5.8 Provisions Surviving Rescission or Expiration ................................................... 12 

Section 5.9 Assignability of Agreement and TIF Note .......................................................... 12 

 

EXHIBIT A Description of Development Property.................................................................................. A-1 

EXHIBIT B Form of TIF Note ................................................................................................................. B-1 

EXHIBIT C General Developer’s Agreement .......................................................................................... C-1 

EXHIBIT D Settlement Statements .......................................................................................................... D-1 

EXHIBIT E Limitation of Liability .......................................................................................................... E-1 



 

 
CONTRACT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

(Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) 

 

THIS CONTRACT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project), is 

made as of the 10th day of July, 2017, by and between the CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, 

MINNESOTA, a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of Minnesota (the “City”), and SPRING LAKE PARK LEASED ASSOCIATES I, LLLP, a 

Minnesota limited liability limited partnership (the “Developer”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the City has determined that there is a need to promote and secure (i) the prompt 

development of certain property located within the City, which property is not now in productive use or in 

its highest and best use, in a manner consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan, and (ii) additional 

employment and housing opportunities within the City, thereby improving living standards, reducing 

unemployment and the loss of skilled and unskilled labor and other human resources in the City, and in 

connection therewith has created Municipal Development District No. 6 (the “Development District”), 

pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.124 through 469.133, as amended (the “Development 

District Act”), and has also adopted a Development Program for the Development District (the 

“Development Program”); and  

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the goals and objectives of the Development Program, the City has 

created Tax Increment Financing (Housing) District No. 6-1 (the “TIF District”), pursuant to Minnesota 

Statutes, Sections 469.174 through 469.1799, as amended (the “TIF Act”), and has adopted a Tax 

Increment Financing Plan therefor (the “TIF Plan”), which provides for the use of tax increment financing 

in connection with certain development within the Development District and the TIF District; and 

WHEREAS, in order to achieve the objectives of the Development Program and the TIF Plan, 

and particularly to make certain land in the Development District and the TIF District available for 

development by private enterprise in conformance with the Development Program and the TIF Plan, the 

City has determined to assist the Developer with the financing of certain costs of the following project 

(the “Project”): the acquisition, construction and equipping of an approximately 194-unit multifamily 

housing residential rental facility spread over four stories, with one level of underground parking, to be 

located at 1066 County Highway 10 in the City, as more particularly set forth in this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development and construction of the Project, and 

fulfillment of this Agreement are vital and are in the best interests of the City, as well as the health, safety 

and welfare of residents of the City, and in accordance with the public purposes and provisions of 

applicable state and local laws and requirements under which the Project has been undertaken and is 

being assisted; and 

WHEREAS, the business subsidy requirements of Minnesota Statutes, Sections 116J.993 through 

116J.995, as amended, do not apply to this Agreement, as the assistance provided under this Agreement is 

considered to be “assistance for housing,” as described in Minnesota Statutes, Section 116J.993, 

Subdivision 3(7).    

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of the parties 

hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the other as follows: 



 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

DEFINITIONS 

Section 1.1 Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meanings given in this 

Agreement, unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

“Administrative Expenses” means expenses incurred by the City with respect to the Project, the 

TIF Plan, the TIF Note, or this Agreement, as defined in Section 469.174, Subdivision 14 of the TIF Act, 

and in amounts equal up to five percent (5%) of the Tax Increment received by the City. 

“Agreement” means this Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park 

Project), as the same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

“Authorizing Resolution” means the resolution of the City Council of the City authorizing 

issuance of the TIF Note and the approval of this Agreement. 

“Business Day” means any day except a Saturday, Sunday or a legal holiday or a day on which 

banking institutions in the City are authorized by law or executive order to close. 

“City” means the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota. 

“Developer” means Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited 

liability limited partnership, its successors and assigns; 

“Development District” means Municipal Development District No. 6, established by the City 

Council of the City pursuant to Resolution 2016-33, adopted on November 21, 2016.  

“Development Program” means the Development Program approved in connection with the 

Development District. 

“Development Property” means the real property legally described in EXHIBIT A attached to this 

Agreement. 

“Event of Default” means any of the events described in Section 4.1 hereof. 

 “Project” means the acquisition, construction and equipping of an approximately 194-unit 

multifamily housing residential rental facility spread over four stories, with one level of underground 

parking, to be located at 1066 County Highway 10 in the City, as more particularly set forth in this 

Agreement. 

“Qualified Costs” means the following categories of costs that may be reimbursed to the 

Developer by the City out of Tax Increment:   

 

(1) Cost of acquisition of the Development Property; 

 

(2) Cost of site improvements and preparation of the Development Property; 

 

(3) Construction of the improvements to serve the Project; 

 



 

 
(4) Utility costs to service the Development Property; and 

 

(5) Such other costs as are incurred by the Developer and reasonably determined by the City 

to constitute Qualified Costs under the TIF Act. 

 

“State” means the State of Minnesota. 

 “Tax Increment” means 95% of the tax increment revenue derived from the Development 

Property, which has been received and retained by the City in accordance with the provisions of Section 

469.177 of the TIF Act. 

“Termination Date” means the earlier of (i) the date the TIF District terminates by law, (ii) the 

date by which the City has received sufficient Tax Increment with respect to the Project to reimburse 

itself for the Administrative Expenses and the Developer for all principal and accrued interest on the TIF 

Note, (iii) the date of February 1, 2040, or (iv) the date this Agreement is terminated or rescinded in 

accordance with its terms hereunder. 

“TIF Act” means Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.174 through 469.1799, as amended. 

“TIF District” means Tax Increment Financing District No. 6-1, located within the Development 

District, which was qualified as a housing district under the TIF Act. 

“TIF Note” means the Tax Increment Revenue Note (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) to be 

executed by the City and delivered to the Developer pursuant to Article III hereof, a copy of which is 

attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

“TIF Note Payment Date” means each February 1 and August 1, commencing on August 1, 2020,  

and thereafter to and including the Termination Date; provided, that if any such TIF Note Payment Date 

should not fall on a Business Day, the TIF Note Payment Date shall be the next succeeding Business Day. 

“TIF Plan” means the Tax Increment Financing Plan, approved for the TIF District by the City 

Council of the City pursuant to Resolution No. 2016-33, adopted on November 21, 2016, by the City 

Council of the City. 

 “Unavoidable Delays” means delays, outside the control of the party claiming its occurrence, 

which are the direct result of  strikes, other labor troubles, unusually severe or prolonged bad weather, 

acts of God, fire or other casualty to the Project, litigation commenced by third parties which, by 

injunction or other similar judicial action or by the exercise of reasonable discretion, directly results in 

delays, or acts of any federal, state or local governmental unit (other than the City) which directly result in 

delays. 



 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Section 2.1 Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the following 

representations and warranties: 

(1) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision and has the power to enter 

into this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

(2) The subject TIF District is a “housing district” within the meaning of Section 469.174, 

Subdivision 11 of the TIF Act.  

(3) The Project is in conformance with the development objectives set forth in the 

Development Program.  Separately from this Agreement, land use permits shall be governed by City land 

use ordinances, specific land use approvals and other agreements. 

(4) The City makes no representation or warranty, either express or implied, as to the 

Development Property or its condition or the soil conditions thereon, or that the Development Property 

shall be suitable for the Developer’s purposes or needs. 

(5) The persons executing this Agreement and related agreements and documents on behalf 

of the City have the authority to do so and to bind the City by their actions. 

(6) The City has received no notice or communication from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer or the City in the Development District or the TIF District may 

be or will be in violation of any law or regulation.  The City is aware of no facts the existence of which 

would cause it to be in violation of any local, State or federal law, regulation or review procedure. 

(7) To finance certain costs within the TIF District, the City proposes, subject to the other 

provisions of this Agreement, to apply certain Tax Increment to reimburse the Developer for the costs of, 

and related to, the land acquisition in connection with the Project.  The City neither pledges nor provides 

any other financial assistance to the Developer to reimburse for the costs of, or costs related to, land 

acquisition in connection with the Project.     

Section 2.2 Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer makes the 

following representations and warranties: 

(1) The Developer is a Minnesota limited liability limited partnership duly organized and in 

good standing under the laws of the State, has power to enter into this Agreement and to perform its 

obligations hereunder and, by doing so, is not in violation of any provisions of its articles, bylaws or the 

laws of the State. 

(2) The Developer will cause the Project to be constructed, maintained and operated in 

compliance with the terms of this Agreement, the Development Program, the TIF Plan, all issued permits 

for the Project and all local, State and federal laws and regulations (including, but not limited to, 

environmental, zoning, energy conservation, building code and public health laws and regulations). 



 

 

(3) The Developer will secure adequate financing to complete the Project, and will provide 

adequate evidence of said financing for the construction of the Project. 

(4) The construction of the Project to the size and scope contemplated by this Agreement 

would not have been undertaken by the Developer, and in the opinion of the Developer would not be 

economically feasible within the reasonably foreseeable future, without the assistance and benefit to the 

Developer provided for in this Agreement. 

(5) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, nor the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and conditions of 

this Agreement is prevented, limited by or conflicts with or results in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 

provision of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of whatever 

nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it is bound, or constitutes a default under any of 

the foregoing. 

(6) So long as the Developer owns the Project, the Developer shall promptly advise the City 

in writing of all litigation or claims affecting any part of the Project, which may delay or require changes 

in construction of the Project, and all written complaints and charges made by any governmental authority 

materially affecting the Project or materially affecting the Developer or its business, which may delay or 

require changes in construction of the Project. 

(7) The Developer will cooperate with the City in resolution of any traffic, parking, trash 

removal or public safety problems which may arise in connection with the construction of the Project.  

The Developer will additionally construct the Project as provided herein in accordance with all local, 

State and federal energy conservation laws and regulations that are applicable to the Project. 

(8) The Developer will obtain in a timely manner all required permits, licenses and 

approvals, and will meet in a timely manner all requirements of all applicable local, State and federal laws 

and regulations which must be obtained or met before the Project may be lawfully constructed.  The 

Developer did not obtain a building permit for any portion of the Project before the date of approval of 

the TIF Plan. 

(9) The Developer has made its own projections of Tax Increment and revenues to be 

generated from the Project and of the Developer’s return on investment and the Developer has not relied 

on any assumptions, calculations, determinations or conclusions made by the City, its governing body 

members, officers or agents, including the independent contractors, consultants and legal counsel, 

servants and employees thereof, with respect to the foregoing or in determining to proceed with the 

Project. 

(10) The person or persons executing this Agreement and related agreements and documents 

on behalf of the Developer have the authority to do so and to bind the Developer by their actions. 

(11) The Developer has deposited, and the City hereby acknowledges such deposit of, 

sufficient funds in escrow with the City to pay for or reimburse the City for payment of all City-incurred 

expenses in connection with the establishment of the Development District and the TIF District, the 

issuance of the TIF Note, and the preparation of this Agreement.  If the City in good faith requires 

additional funds to pay for or reimburse the types of expenses mentioned in this paragraph, the City shall 

inform the Developer in writing of such expenses, and the Developer shall timely deposit the requested 

amount into escrow with the City. 



 

 

ARTICLE III 

 

PROJECT FINANCING AND ADMINISTRATION 

Section 3.1 Issuance of the TIF Note.  The City shall reimburse the Developer for a portion 

of the costs incurred for the Project, as identified in this Agreement, through the issuance of the TIF 

Note, in substantially the form attached to this Agreement as EXHIBIT B.  The principal amount of the 

TIF Note shall be in the original aggregate principal amount of $3,270,000. 

(1) The TIF Note shall be dated, issued in the principal amount stated above, and delivered to 

the Developer upon receipt by the City from the Developer of evidence of Qualified Costs, incurred in an 

amount equal to or exceeding the final principal amount of the TIF Note.  

(2) The unpaid principal amount of the TIF Note shall bear interest from the date of issuance 

of the TIF Note, at an interest rate of 5.00% per annum.  Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360 

day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. 

(3) The principal amount of the TIF Note and the interest thereon shall be payable solely and 

exclusively from Tax Increment, and shall, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.2 hereof, be 

conditioned on the Developer being compliant with the terms and provisions of this Agreement and all 

issued permits for the Project. 

(4) On each TIF Note Payment Date and subject to the provisions of the TIF Note, the City 

shall pay to the Developer, solely from the Tax Increment received by the City during the preceding six 

months (or, with respect to the first TIF Note Payment Date, in the period commencing on the date of 

issuance of the TIF Note through the day prior to the first TIF Note Payment Date) principal and accrued 

interest on the TIF Note.  All such payments shall be applied first to the payment of accrued interest and 

then to the payment of the principal of the TIF Note. 

(5) If, on any TIF Note Payment Date, the Tax Increment for payment of the accrued and 

unpaid interest on the TIF Note is insufficient for such purposes, the difference shall be carried forward, 

with interest at the rate set forth in the TIF Note, and shall be paid if and to the extent that on a future TIF 

Note Payment Date there is Tax Increment in excess of the amounts needed to pay the accrued interest 

then due on the TIF Note. 

(6) The City’s obligation to make payments on the TIF Note on any TIF Note Payment Date 

or any date thereafter shall, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 4.2 hereof, be conditioned upon 

the requirement that (A) there shall not at that time be an Event of Default that has occurred and is 

continuing under this Agreement or any issued permits for the Project; and (B) this Agreement shall not 

have been rescinded pursuant to Section 4.2(b) hereof. 

(7) The TIF Note shall be governed by and payable pursuant to the additional terms thereof, 

as set forth in Exhibit B, and as provided in the Authorizing Resolution, the terms of which are 

incorporated into this Agreement by reference.  In the event of any conflict between the terms of the TIF 

Note and the terms of this Section, the terms of the TIF Note shall govern.  The issuance of the TIF Note 

pursuant and subject to the terms of this Agreement, and the taking by the City of such additional actions 

as bond counsel for the City may require in connection therewith, are hereby authorized and approved by 

the City. 



 

 
 

(8) No agreements or provisions contained in this Agreement shall give rise to any pecuniary 

liability of the City or a charge against its general credit or taxing powers, or shall obligate the City 

financially in any way except with respect to the application of the Tax Increment as specifically provided 

in this Agreement and in the TIF Note.  The TIF Note, including principal, premium and any other 

payments however designated, and the interest due thereon do not and shall never constitute a general 

obligation of the City within the meaning of any state constitutional or statutory provision and do not and 

shall not constitute or give rise to a pecuniary liability or moral obligation of the City, the State or any of 

its political subdivisions, or a charge against its general credit or taxing powers, or to the extent permitted 

by law, any pecuniary liability of any officer, employee or agent of the City.  The provisions of this 

paragraph are controlling notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary. 

Section 3.2 Developer Acknowledgments.  The Developer understands and acknowledges 

the following:   

(1) The Developer understands and acknowledges that the City makes no representations or 

warranties regarding the amount of Tax Increment that will be available, or that revenues pledged to 

repayment of the TIF Note will be sufficient to pay all or any of the amounts payable on the TIF Note.  

The City additionally makes no representations as to the sufficiency of the Development Property 

(including soil conditions or the presence of any hazardous substances on the Development Property) for 

the Project.  Any estimates of Tax Increment available prepared by the City, or the City’s independent 

municipal advisor, consultants, agents, employees or officers in connection with the TIF District or this 

Agreement are for the sole benefit of the City, and are not intended as representations on which the 

Developer or any purchaser of the TIF Note may rely.  The Developer further understands and 

acknowledges that no assistance is being provided by the City under this Agreement except through the 

issuance of the TIF Note, and the Developer has no claim against any funds of the City except as set forth 

in the Authorizing Resolution and the TIF Note.   

(2) Up to five percent (5%) of Tax Increment will be retained by the City for the on-going 

Administrative Expenses related to the TIF District. 

Section 3.3 Payment of Costs.  The Developer shall pay upon demand by the City, and upon 

the delivery of appropriate billing statements, the ordinary and customary fees of the City’s bond counsel, 

the City’s general legal counsel, the City’s independent municipal advisor, and other consultants retained 

by the City to assist the City with the negotiation and preparation of this Agreement, the establishment of 

the TIF District, and any other documents or agreements prepared in connection with the Project.  All 

other ongoing costs other than as set forth herein shall be paid as Administrative Expenses.  Nothing in 

this Section shall be construed to limit the ability of the City to lawfully recover Administrative Expenses 

from Tax Increment during or after the termination of this Agreement.   

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

ARTICLE IV 

 

EVENTS OF DEFAULT; INDEMNIFICATION 

 

Section 4.1 Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be “Events of Default” under this 

Agreement and the term “Event of Default” shall mean whenever it is used in this Agreement any one or 

more of the following events: 

(a) Failure by the Developer to timely pay any ad valorem real property taxes 

assessed with respect to the Development Property. 

(b) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Project to be completed 

pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations of this Agreement or any issued permits for the 

Project. 

(c) Failure of the Developer to observe or perform any other covenant, condition, 

obligation or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under this Agreement. 

(d) If the Developer shall: 

(A) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under the United 

States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended or under any similar federal or state law; or 

(B) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

(C) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

(D) be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing the adjudication of the Developer as a bankrupt or its reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall be filed in 

any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged or denied within 60 days 

after the filing thereof; or a receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Developer, or of the 

Project, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceeding brought against the 

Developer, and shall not be discharged within 60 days after such appointment, or if the 

Developer, shall consent to or acquiesce in such appointment. 

Section 4.2 Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in Section 4.1 

occurs and is continuing, the City, as specified below, may take any one or more of the following 

actions after the giving of 30 days’ written notice to the Developer, citing with specificity the item or 

items of default and notifying the Developer that it has 30 days within which to cure said Event of 

Default.  If the Event of Default is by its nature incurable within 30 days, the City shall not take any one 

or more of the following actions below if the Developer, in the good-faith opinion of the City, is 

undertaking action to cure the Event of Default as soon as reasonably possible.   

(a) The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement and the TIF Note 

until it receives written assurances from the Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that the 



 

 
Developer will cure its default and continue its performance under this Agreement, and no 

interest shall accrue on the TIF Note for the benefit of the Developer while performance is 

suspended in accordance with this Section 4.2. 

(b) The City may cancel and rescind this Agreement and the TIF Note. 

(c) The City may take any action, including legal or administrative action, in law or 

equity, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance of any 

obligation, agreement, or covenant of the Developer under this Agreement. 

Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, the City agrees that if the Developer 

completes construction of the Project and has assigned the TIF Note to an Assignee in accordance with 

Section 5.9 herein, the City will not exercise any remedies set forth in this Section 4.2 which would have 

the effect of reducing, suspending or terminating any payments on the TIF Note.  This paragraph shall not 

limit the City’s remedies provided under any other agreement between the City and the Developer, 

provided such remedies do not have the effect of reducing, suspending or terminating any payments on 

the TIF Note. 

Whenever the City delivers any notice of an Event of Default hereunder, the City shall 

concurrently deliver a copy of such notice to the limited partner of the Developer in accordance with 

Section 5.4 hereof.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, such limited partner shall have the 

same right as the Developer to cure or remedy any Event of Default hereunder within the cure period 

provided to the Developer and the City shall accept such cure as if tendered by the Developer.   

Section 4.3 No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the City 

is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each and every such remedy 

shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or 

hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  No delay or omission to exercise any right or power 

accruing upon any default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver 

thereof, but any such right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be 

deemed expedient. 

Section 4.4 No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this Agreement 

should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such waiver shall be limited 

to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive any other concurrent, previous or 

subsequent breach hereunder. 

Section 4.5 Agreement to Pay Attorney’s Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any Event of 

Default occurs and the City shall employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the collection of 

payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or performance or observance of any obligation 

or agreement on the part of the Developer herein contained, the Developer agrees that it shall, on 

demand therefor, pay to the City the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses so 

incurred by the City. 

Section 4.6 Indemnification of City. 

(1) The Developer releases from and covenants and agrees that the City, its governing body 

members, officers, agents, including the independent contractors, consultants and legal counsel, and 

employees thereof (collectively, the “Indemnified Parties”), shall not be liable for and agrees to indemnify 

and hold harmless the Indemnified Parties against any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death 



 

 
of any person occurring at or about or resulting from any defect in the Project, provided that the foregoing 

indemnification shall not be effective for any intentional actions of the Indemnified Parties that are not 

contemplated by this Agreement. 

(2) Except for any willful misrepresentation or any willful or wanton misconduct of the 

Indemnified Parties, the Developer agrees to protect and defend the Indemnified Parties, now and forever, 

and further agrees to hold the aforesaid harmless from any claim, demand, suit, action or other proceeding 

whatsoever by any person or entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from the actions or inactions 

of the Developer (or if other persons acting on its behalf or under its direction or control) under this 

Agreement, or the transactions contemplated hereby or the acquisition, construction, installation, 

ownership, and operation of the Project. 

(3) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City contained 

herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

and not of any governing body member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City, as the case may 

be. 

 

 

 

 

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.) 



 

 

ARTICLE V 

 

ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

 

Section 5.1 Restrictions on Use.  The Developer agrees for itself, its successors and assigns 

and every successor in interest to the Development Property, or any part thereof, that the Developer and 

such successors and assigns shall operate, or cause to be operated, the Project as a multifamily 

residential rental facility and shall devote the Development Property to, and in accordance with, the uses 

specified in this Agreement. 

Section 5.2 Conflicts of Interest.  No member of the governing body or other official of the 

City shall have any financial interest, direct or indirect, in this Agreement, the Development Property or 

the Project, or any contract, agreement or other transaction contemplated to occur or be undertaken 

thereunder or with respect thereto, nor shall any such member of the governing body or other official 

participate in any decision relating to the Agreement which affects his or her personal interests or the 

interests of any corporation, partnership or association in which he or she is directly or indirectly 

interested.  No member, official or employee of the City shall be personally liable to the City in the 

event of any default or breach by the Developer or successor or on any obligations under the terms of 

this Agreement. 

Section 5.3 Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, articles and 

sections of the Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be disregarded in 

construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

Section 5.4 Notices and Demands.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this 

Agreement, a notice, demand or other communication under this Agreement by any party to any other 

shall be sufficiently given or delivered if it is dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, 

return receipt requested, or delivered personally, and 

(a) in the case of the Developer is addressed to or delivered personally to: 

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 

2905 Northwest Boulevard #150 

Plymouth, Minnesota  55441 

Attn: Mark S. Moorhouse and Owen C. Metz  

With copy to: 

(Developer’s legal counsel) 

Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A. 

225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3500 

Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402-4629 

Attn: John D. Nolde, Esq. 

(Developer’s limited partner) 

AEGON USA Realty Advisors, LLC 

4333 Edgewood Road Northeast 

MS 54R547 

Cedar Rapids, Iowa  52488 



 

 
Attn: ____________________ 

 

(b) in the case of the City is addressed to or delivered personally to the City at: 

City of Spring Lake Park 

1301 81st Avenue Northeast 

Spring Lake Park, Minnesota  55432 

Attn: City Administrator 

With copy to: 

Eckberg Lammers, P.C. 

1809 Northwestern Avenue 

Stillwater, Minnesota  55082 

or at such other address with respect to any such party as that party may, from time to time, designate in 

writing and forward to the other, as provided in this Section. 

Section 5.5 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, 

each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

Section 5.6 Law Governing.  This Agreement will be governed and construed in accordance 

with the laws of the State. 

Section 5.7 Expiration.  This Agreement shall expire on the Termination Date. 

Section 5.8 Provisions Surviving Rescission or Expiration.  Sections 4.5 and 4.6 shall survive 

any rescission, termination or expiration of this Agreement with respect to or arising out of any event, 

occurrence or circumstance existing prior to the date thereof. 

Section 5.9 Assignability of Agreement and TIF Note.  This Agreement and the TIF Note 

may be assigned only with the written consent of the City, which consent shall not be unreasonably 

withheld.  If the City consents to the assignment of the TIF Note to a third-party assignee to secure 

financing for the Project, the Developer may request, at its sole expense, an opinion of the City’s Bond 

Counsel to the effect that the TIF Note is a valid obligation of the City enforceable in accordance with 

its terms. 

 Section 5.10 Governing Law; Venue.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with 

the laws of the State.  Any dispute arising from this Agreement shall be heard in the State or federal 

courts of Minnesota, and all parties waive any objection to the jurisdiction thereof, whether based on 

convenience or otherwise.   

 

 Section 5.11 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the 

parties pertaining to its subject matter and it supersedes all prior contemporaneous agreements, 

representations, and understandings of the parties pertaining to the subject matter of this Agreement.  This 

Agreement may be modified, amended, terminated, or waived, in whole or in part, only by a writing 

signed by all of the parties.   

 



 

 
 Section 5.12 Re-execution of Documents.  The City and the Developer agree to re-execute any 

documents which may be necessary to correct an error or to enable said document to be filed of record.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.)



 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Contract for Private Development (Legends 

of Spring Lake Park Project) to be duly executed in its name and on its behalf and its seal to be hereunto 

duly affixed, and the Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its name and on its 

behalf, on or as of the date first above written. 

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, 

MINNESOTA 

By_______________________________ 

Cindy Hansen, Mayor 

By_______________________________ 

Daniel Buchholtz, City Administrator 

(SEAL) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(City signature page for the Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project), by 

and between the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, and  

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP) 

  



 

 
SPRING LAKE PARK LEASED HOUSING 

ASSOCIATES I, LLLP 

By: Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, 

LLC 

 

Its: General Partner 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

 

By: Mark S. Moorhouse 

Its: Senior Vice President 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Developer signature page for the Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park 

Project), by and between the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, and  

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP) 



 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 



 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

FORM OF TIF NOTE 

No. R-1 $3,270,000.00 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

COUNTY OF ANOKA 

COUNTY OF RAMSEY 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK 

TAX INCREMENT REVENUE NOTE 

(LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK PROJECT) 

The City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota (the “City”), hereby acknowledges itself to be indebted 

and, for value received, hereby promises to pay the amounts hereinafter described (the “Payment 

Amounts”) to Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP (the “Developer”) or its registered 

assigns (the “Registered Owner”), but only in the manner, at the times, from the sources of revenue, and 

to the extent hereinafter provided.   

The principal amount of this Note shall equal from time to time the principal amount stated 

above, as reduced to the extent that such principal installments shall have been paid in whole or in part 

pursuant to the terms hereof; provided that the sum of the principal amount listed above shall in no event 

exceed Three Million Two Hundred Seventy Thousand and No/100 Dollars ($3,270,000.00), as provided 

in that certain Contract for Private Development (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project), dated as of July 

10, 2017, as the same may be amended from time to time (the “Development Agreement”), by and 

between the City and the Developer.  The unpaid principal amount hereof shall bear interest from the date 

of this Note at the rate of 5.00% per annum.  Interest shall be computed on the basis of a 360 day year 

consisting of twelve (12) 30-day months.  All capitalized but undefined terms herein shall be defined as in 

the Development Agreement.   

The amounts due under this Note shall be payable on each February 1 and August 1, commencing 

on August 1, 2020, and thereafter to and including the Termination Date, or, if the first payment date 

should not be on a Business Day, the payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day (the 

“Payment Dates”).  On each Payment Date the City shall pay by check or draft mailed to the person that 

was the Registered Owner of this Note at the close of the last business day of the City preceding such 

Payment Date an amount equal to the Tax Increment received by the City during the six-month period 

preceding such Payment Date (or, with respect to the first Payment Date, in the period commencing on 

the date of issuance of this Note through the day that is prior to the first Payment Date).  All payments 

made by the City under this Note shall first be applied to accrued interest and then to principal.  This Note 

is pre-payable by the City, without penalty, in whole or in part, on any date. 

The Payment Amounts due hereon shall be payable solely from 95% of Tax Increment derived 

from the Development Property within the City’s Tax Increment Financing District No. 6-1 (the “TIF 

District”) within its Municipal Development District No. 6, which is paid to the City and which the City 

is entitled to retain pursuant to the provisions of Minnesota Statutes, Sections 469.174 through 469.1799, 

as the same may be amended or supplemented from time to time (the “TIF Act”).  This Note shall 

terminate and be of no further force and effect following the Termination Date, on any date upon which 

the City shall have terminated the Development Agreement under Section 4.2(b) thereof, the date TIF 



 

 

District is terminated, or on the date that all principal and interest payable hereunder shall have been paid 

in full, whichever occurs earliest. 

The City makes no representation or covenant, express or implied, that the Tax Increment will be 

sufficient to pay, in whole or in part, the amounts which are or may become due and payable hereunder.  

In the event Tax Increment is not sufficient, the City is not responsible to further fund or reimburse the 

Developer (or its assigns or creditors) for any such shortfall.  The City is not responsible to fund or 

reimburse any obligation of the Developer (or its assigns or creditors) unless expressly stated in this 

Agreement. 

Subject to the terms of the Development Agreement, the City’s payment obligations hereunder 

shall be further conditioned on the fact that no Event of Default under the Development Agreement shall 

have occurred and be continuing at the time payment is otherwise due hereunder, but such unpaid 

amounts shall become payable if said Event of Default shall thereafter have been cured; and further, if 

pursuant to the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Development Agreement the City elects, 

subject to the provisions of Section 4.2 of the Development Agreement, to cancel and rescind the 

Development Agreement, the City shall have no further debt or obligation under this Note whatsoever.  

Reference is hereby made to all of the provisions of the Development Agreement, including without 

limitation Section 3.1 thereof, for a fuller statement of the rights and obligations of the City to pay the 

principal of this Note, and said provisions are hereby incorporated into this Note as though set out in full 

herein. 

This Note is a special, limited revenue obligation and not a general obligation of the City and is 

payable by the City only from the sources and subject to the qualifications stated or referenced herein.  

This Note is not a general obligation of the City, and neither the full faith and credit nor the taxing powers 

of the City are pledged to the payment of the principal of this Note and no property or other asset of the 

City, save and except the above-referenced Tax Increment, is or shall be a source of payment of the City’s 

obligations hereunder. 

This Note is issued by the City in aid of financing a project pursuant to and in full conformity 

with the Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota, including the TIF Act. 

This Note may be assigned only with the consent of the City.  In order to assign the Note, the 

assignee shall surrender the same to the City either in exchange for a new fully registered note or for 

transfer of this Note on the registration records for the Note maintained by the City.  Each permitted 

assignee shall take this Note subject to the foregoing conditions and subject to all provisions stated or 

referenced herein. 



 

 

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED AND RECITED that all acts, conditions, and things required by the 

Constitution and laws of the State of Minnesota to be done, to have happened, and to be performed 

precedent to and in the issuance of this Note have been done, have happened, and have been performed in 

regular and due form, time, and manner as required by law; and that this Note, together with all other 

indebtedness of the City outstanding on the date hereof and on the date of its actual issuance and delivery, 

does not cause the indebtedness of the City to exceed any constitutional or statutory limitation thereon. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, by its City Council, has 

caused this Note to be executed by the manual signatures of its Mayor and City Administrator and has 

caused this Note to be dated as of ___________________. 

 

 

_________________________________   

City Administrator   Mayor 



 

 

CERTIFICATION OF REGISTRATION 

It is hereby certified that the foregoing Tax Increment Revenue Note (Legends of Spring Lake 

Park Project) was registered in the name of Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, and 

that, at the request of the Registered Owner of this Note, the undersigned has this day registered the Note 

in the name of such Registered Owner, as indicated in the registration blank below, on the books kept by 

the undersigned for such purposes. 

 

 

NAME AND ADDRESS OF 

    REGISTERED OWNER      

 

DATE OF 

REGISTRATION 

 

SIGNATURE OF CITY 

ADMINISTRATOR 

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing 

Associates I, LLLP 

2905 Northwest Boulevard #150 

Plymouth, Minnesota  55441 

 

 

 

 

  

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

__________________________ 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 



ECKBERG LAMMERS 
 MEMORANDUM 

 
 
TO:  Mayor and City Council, City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 

City Administrator Daniel Buchholtz 
 

FROM:  Andy Pratt, Bond Counsel 
 

DATE:   June 14, 2017 

 
RE:  Legends of Spring Lake Park/Dominium Financing Documents 

 
 

As the City Council and City staff is well aware, the City has been working on the Legends of 

Spring Lake Park multifamily residential rental housing development for several months.  The 

purpose of this memorandum is to give you an update on the progress of this financing and to 

explain what items are before the City Council at the regular meeting on June 19, 2017. 

 

The Borrower, Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, has been working with its 

financing team to put together the necessary short- and long-term financing needed to complete the 

Legends of Spring Lake Park Project.  The City Administrator, the City’s independent municipal 

advisor (Northland Securities, Inc.), and my office have been working together during this process 

to coordinate the timing and details of the necessary financing approvals.  As you will recall, the 

City Council held a public hearing on January 17, 2017, and approved the issuance of the City’s 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 (Legends of Spring Lake Park) (the “Bonds”).   

 

Initially, the maximum principal amount of the Bonds was $45 million, but the City ultimately 

received approval from the State of Minnesota/Minnesota Management and Budget for a final tax-

exempt amount of $22,242,684.  The Borrower may also request the City to issue taxable revenue 

bonds on its behalf to fully fund the project.  The Borrower had to file a civil lawsuit against the 

State of Minnesota to obtain this allocation amount, which lawsuit was successful.  Under relevant 

state statutes, the Bonds must be issued within 120 days from the date of the initial allocation of tax-

exempt financing.  We have calculated that date to be July 12, 2017, and a closing date on the 

issuance of the Bonds is tentatively scheduled for July 10, 2017. 

 

There are two action items before the Council at its June 19, 2017 meeting: 

 

Contract for Private Development – Tax Increment Financing 

 

The City Administrator has prepared a separate memorandum on this topic.  As you will recall, on 

November 21, 2016, the City Council held the necessary public hearing to create a Tax Increment 

Financing District to provide an additional financing mechanism for the project.  The Contract for 

Private Development sets the ground rules for how that financing will be administered by the City.  



The pay-as-you-go note mentioned in the City Administrator’s memorandum will be funded 

through the twice-yearly receipt of tax increment revenues from Anoka County, in the total 

principal amount of $3,270,000, spread over 20 years, at an interest rate of 5.00%.  It is important to 

note that the Borrower is taking on the risk that it will receive all the tax increment revenues 

available over this 20-year timeline; if actual revenues received over these 20 years do not pay the 

total principal amount and accrued interest, the Borrower may not request the City to add in 

additional revenues from any other source to complete the reimbursement.  The TIF Note (as 

referred to in the Contract for Private Development and the City Administrator’s memorandum) is 

not a general obligation of the City, and the full faith and credit of the City is not pledged to its 

repayment. 

 

Approval of Draft Financing Documents 

 

As stated previously, the Borrower has lined up a financing and consulting team to assist it to fully 

fund the project, both on a short-term basis for construction funding, and on a long-term basis.  Our 

office has begun the process to draft financing documents to memorialize these funding obligations.  

As the City is the “conduit issuer” of the Bonds, the City needs to be a signatory on these financing 

documents.  The draft financing documents have been submitted for approval by the City Council 

on June 19, 2017.  Please keep in mind, these are draft documents, and are under review by many 

parties to this transaction.  The documents will change to some degree up to and even including the 

closing date of July 10, 2017.  The purpose of receiving City Council approval of these documents 

now is so that each and every revision and addendum does not have to come back before the City 

Council.  This is a standard procedure for complex conduit financing transactions such as the 

Bonds. 

 

Again, the City has absolutely no obligation to repay any of the Bonds.  The Borrower has the 

repayment obligation, and it will have corporate guarantors to assist it with that obligation should 

revenues from the project initially fall short.  Additionally, the Borrower will be mortgaging the 

project’s underlying property, as further security for repayment of the Bonds.  If the Borrower and 

its guarantors ever fall short of paying debt service on the Bonds, these parties may not request the 

City to add in additional revenues from any other source.  The Bonds are not general obligations of 

the City, and the full faith and credit of the City is not pledged to their repayment. 

 

Meeting Attendance 

 

I will be on vacation and unable to attend the June 19 Council meeting.  However, I have arranged 

for my colleague and fellow financing attorney, Tom Loonan, to attend the meeting, should any 

questions arise from the Council.  I can also make myself available via speakerphone if necessary, 

and I can work with the City Administrator to make that happen.  I expect representatives from 

Dominium to be present as well.  The good news is, once the financing is finally closed, 

construction may finally commence!  The items before you at the June 19 meeting are simply 

prerequisites to complete to make this project a reality.   

 

It has been wonderful to work with City staff on this project.  I look forward to additional (although 

likely smaller) projects in the future.   

 



RESOLUTION NO. 17-15 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING FORMS OF FINANCING DOCUMENTS RELATED 

TO THE ISSUANCE OF THE CITY’S MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE 

BONDS, SERIES 2017 (LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK PROJECT)  

 

 BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council (the “Council”) of the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 

(the “City”), as follows: 

 

 Section 1. Recitals. 

   

1.01. Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 462C, as amended (the “Act”), the City is 

authorized to carry out the public purposes described in the Act by providing for the issuance of revenue 

bonds to finance multifamily housing developments to be located within the City.  

  

1.02. In the issuance of the City’s revenue bonds and in the making of a loan to finance a 

multifamily housing development the City may exercise, within the corporate limits of the City, any of the 

powers that the Minnesota Housing Finance Agency may exercise under Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 462A, 

as amended, without limitation under the provisions of Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 475, as amended. 

 

1.03. The City previously received a proposal that it issue its Multifamily Housing Revenue 

Bonds (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project), Series 2017, in one or more series, taxable and tax-exempt 

(the “Bonds”), and the City has received an allocation for tax-exempt bonding authority from the State of 

Minnesota in the aggregate principal amount of $22,242,684, to provide funds to be loaned to Spring Lake 

Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limited partnership (the “Borrower”) 

to finance all or a portion of the: (i) acquisition, construction and equipping of an approximately 194-unit, 

four-story affordable apartment building with an underground parking garage and surface parking, to be 

located at 1066 County Highway 10 in the City (the “Project”); (ii) payment of interest on the Bonds during 

the construction of the Project; (iii) funding of one or more reserve funds to secure the timely payment of 

the Bonds; and (iv) costs of issuing the Bonds. 

 

1.04. On January 17, 2017, this Council held a duly noticed public hearing on the issuance of the 

Bonds, and approved the issuance for the purposes stated above.  

 

1.05. Ever since the approval of the Bonds by this Council, the Borrower and its fiscal and 

administrative consultants have been working diligently to arrange temporary and permanent financing for 

the Project.  As of the date of this Resolution, closing on the Bonds is scheduled for July 10, 2017. 

 

Section 2. Financing Documents.  Eckberg Lammers, P.C., Bond Counsel to the City, has 

prepared draft forms of a (i) Borrower Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2017, by and between the City 

and the Borrower, and (ii) Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2017, among the City, U.S. Bank 

National Association, as fiscal agent for the Bonds, and Citibank, N.A., as funding lender for the Bonds.  

Bond Counsel will additionally prepare customary closing certificates and collateral financing documents, 

for execution by the Mayor and the City Administrator of the City.  The Borrower Loan Agreement, the 

Funding Loan Agreement, and the customary closing certificates and collateral financing documents are 

referred to herein as the “Financing Documents.” 

 

Section 3. Approval of Financing Documents.  The forms of the Financing Documents are 

hereby approved, and this Council authorizes the Mayor and the City Administrator to execute such 

Financing Documents in substantially the forms on file with the City, subject to modifications that do not 



substantially alter the substance of the transaction and are approved by such officials, provided that 

execution of the Financing Documents by such officials is conclusive evidence of their approval. 

 

Section 4.  Certification of Proceedings.  The officers of the City are authorized and directed to 

prepare and furnish to the Borrower and its consultants, and other parties to the transaction, certified copies 

of all proceedings and records of the City, and such other affidavits, certificates and information as may be 

required to show the facts relating to the legality of the Financing Documents as the same appear from the 

books and records under their custody and control or as otherwise known to them, and all such certified 

copies, certificates and affidavits, including any heretofore furnished, shall be deemed representations of 

the City as to the facts recited therein.  

 

 

 Adopted by the City Council of the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, this 19th day of June, 

2017. 

 

 

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, MINNESOTA 

 

 

 

  

Cindy Hansen, Mayor 

 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

  

Daniel Buchholtz, City Administrator 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT 

 

Dated as of July 1, 2017 

 

Among 

CITIBANK, N.A., 

as Funding Lender, 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, MINNESOTA 

as Issuer 

and 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 

as Fiscal Agent 

Relating to: 

$___________ 

City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 

(Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

Article I DEFINITIONS; PRINCIPLES OF CONSTRUCTION ............................................................ 2 

Section 1.1. Definitions ................................................................................................................... 2 

Section 1.2. Effect of Headings and Table of Contents ............................................................ 14 

Section 1.3. Date of Funding Loan Agreement ......................................................................... 15 

Section 1.4. Designation of Time for Performance ................................................................... 15 

Section 1.5. Interpretation ............................................................................................................ 15 

Article II TERMS; GOVERNMENTAL LENDER NOTE .................................................................... 15 

Section 2.1. Terms. ........................................................................................................................ 15 

Section 2.2. Form of Bonds........................................................................................................... 17 

Section 2.3. Execution and Delivery of Bonds .......................................................................... 17 

Section 2.4. Authentication .......................................................................................................... 17 

Section 2.5. Registration and Transfer of Bonds; Required Transferee Representations; 

Participations; Sale and Assignment. ................................................................................................ 18 

Article III PREPAYMENT ....................................................................................................................... 19 

Section 3.1. Prepayment of the Bonds from Prepayment under the Borrower Note .......... 19 

Section 3.2. Notice of Prepayment .............................................................................................. 20 

Article IV SECURITY ............................................................................................................................... 20 

Section 4.1. Security for the Funding Loan ................................................................................ 20 

Section 4.2. Delivery of Security ................................................................................................. 21 

Article V LIMITED LIABILITY .............................................................................................................. 22 

Section 5.1. Source of Payment of Funding Loan and Other Obligations ............................ 22 

Section 5.2. Exempt from Individual Liability .......................................................................... 22 

Article VI CLOSING CONDITIONS; APPLICATION OF FUNDS .................................................. 23 

Section 6.1. Conditions Precedent to Closing ........................................................................... 23 

Article VII FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ................................................................................................. 24 

Section 7.1. Authorization to Create Funds and Accounts ..................................................... 24 

Section 7.2. Investment of Funds ................................................................................................ 24 

Section 7.3. Establishment of Funds and Accounts .................................................................. 24 

Section 7.4. Funding Loan Payment Fund................................................................................. 25 

Section 7.5. Expense Fund ........................................................................................................... 26 

Section 7.6. Project Fund. ............................................................................................................. 27 

Section 7.7. Rebate Fund .............................................................................................................. 29 

Article VIII REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS .................................................................... 30 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Section 8.1. General Representations ......................................................................................... 30 

Section 8.2. No Encumbrance on Security ................................................................................. 31 

Section 8.3. Repayment of Funding Loan .................................................................................. 31 

Section 8.4. Servicer ...................................................................................................................... 31 

Section 8.5. Borrower Loan Agreement Performance. ............................................................. 31 

Section 8.6. Maintenance of Records; Inspection of Records. ................................................. 32 

Section 8.7. Tax Covenants .......................................................................................................... 32 

Section 8.8. Performance by the Borrower ................................................................................ 33 

Section 8.9. Maintenance of Records .......................................................................................... 33 

Article IX DEFAULT; REMEDIES ......................................................................................................... 33 

Section 9.1. Events of Default ...................................................................................................... 33 

Section 9.2. Acceleration of Maturity; Rescission and Annulment. ....................................... 34 

Section 9.3. Additional Remedies; Funding Lender Enforcement. ........................................ 35 

Section 9.4. Application of Money Collected ............................................................................ 37 

Section 9.5. Remedies Vested in Funding Lender .................................................................... 38 

Section 9.6. Restoration of Positions ........................................................................................... 38 

Section 9.7. Rights and Remedies Cumulative ......................................................................... 38 

Section 9.8. Delay or Omission Not Waiver .............................................................................. 38 

Section 9.9. Waiver of Past Defaults ........................................................................................... 38 

Section 9.10. Remedies Under Borrower Loan Agreement or Borrower Note ...................... 38 

Section 9.11. Waiver of Appraisement and Other Laws............................................................ 39 

Section 9.12. Suits to Protect the Security .................................................................................... 39 

Section 9.13. Remedies Subject to Applicable Law .................................................................... 39 

Section 9.14. Assumption of Obligations ..................................................................................... 39 

Article X AMENDMENT; AMENDMENT OF FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT AND OTHER 

DOCUMENTS .......................................................................................................................................... 40 

Section 10.1. Amendment of Funding Loan Agreement ........................................................... 40 

Section 10.2. Amendments Require Funding Lender Consent................................................. 40 

Section 10.3. Consents and Opinions ........................................................................................... 40 

Article XI THE FISCAL AGENT ............................................................................................................ 40 

Section 11.1. Appointment of Fiscal Agent; Acceptance ........................................................... 40 

Section 11.2. Certain Duties and Responsibilities of Fiscal Agent. .......................................... 41 

Section 11.3. Notice of Defaults ..................................................................................................... 43 

Section 11.4. Certain Rights of Fiscal Agent ................................................................................ 43 

Section 11.5. Not Responsible for Recitals ................................................................................... 44 

Section 11.6. May Hold Bonds ...................................................................................................... 45 

Section 11.7. Moneys Held in Trust .............................................................................................. 45 

Section 11.8. Compensation and Reimbursement ...................................................................... 45 

Section 11.9. Fiscal Agent Required; Eligibility .......................................................................... 46 

Section 11.10. Resignation and Removal; Appointment of Successor. ...................................... 46 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Section 11.11. Acceptance of Appointment by Successor. .......................................................... 47 

Section 11.12. Merger, Conversion, Consolidation or Succession to Business ......................... 47 

Section 11.13. Appointment of Co-Fiscal Agent ........................................................................... 48 

Section 11.14. Loan Servicing .......................................................................................................... 48 

Section 11.15. No Recourse Against Officers or Employees of Fiscal Agent ............................ 49 

Section 11.16. USA Patriot Act Requirements of the Fiscal Agent ............................................. 49 

Article XII MISCELLANEOUS ............................................................................................................... 49 

Section 12.1. Notices ....................................................................................................................... 49 

Section 12.2. Term of Funding Loan Agreement ........................................................................ 51 

Section 12.3. Successors and Assigns ........................................................................................... 52 

Section 12.4. Legal Holidays .......................................................................................................... 52 

Section 12.5. Governing Law ......................................................................................................... 52 

Section 12.6. Severability ................................................................................................................ 52 

Section 12.7. Execution in Several Counterparts ........................................................................ 52 

Section 12.8. Nonrecourse Obligation of the Borrower ............................................................. 52 

Section 12.9. Waiver of Trial by Jury ............................................................................................ 52 

Section 12.10. Electronic Transactions ........................................................................................... 53 

Section 12.11. Reference Date .......................................................................................................... 54 

 

 

EXHIBIT A - FORM OF GOVERNMENTAL LENDER NOTE 

EXHIBIT B - FORM OF REQUIRED TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATIONS 

EXHIBIT C - FORM OF WRITTEN REQUISITION (PROJECT FUND) 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT 

This Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2017 (this “Funding Loan 

Agreement”), is entered into by CITIBANK, N.A. (together with its successors and assigns 

hereunder, the “Funding Lender”), the CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, MINNESOTA, a 

municipal corporation and political subdivision duly organized and existing under the laws of 

the State of Minnesota (together with its successors and assigns, the “Issuer”), and U.S. BANK 

NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking association, as fiscal agent (together with any 

successor fiscal agent hereunder, the “Fiscal Agent”). 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized by Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 462C, as amended 

(the “Act”), to issue multifamily housing revenue bonds to finance in whole or in part the cost 

of a “Project” (hereinafter defined) for the public purposes expressed in the Act. 

WHEREAS, the Act specifically authorizes the Issuer to adopt a Housing Program, 

under which the Issuer may: (a) make loans to provide financing for multifamily residential 

housing developments located within the jurisdiction of the Issuer and intended to be occupied 

in part by persons of low and moderate income, as determined by the Issuer, (b) issue its 

revenue bonds for the purpose of obtaining money to make such loans and provide such 

financing, to establish necessary reserve funds and to pay administrative costs and other costs 

incurred in connection with the incurrence of such indebtedness of the Issuer; and (c) pledge all 

or any part of the revenues and receipts to be received by the Issuer from or in connection with 

such loans, and to mortgage, pledge or grant security interests in such loans or other property 

of the Issuer in order to secure the payment of the principal of and interest on such bonds. 

WHEREAS, Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited 

liability limited partnership (the “Borrower”), has requested the Issuer to enter into this 

Funding Loan Agreement under which the Funding Lender will (i) advance funds (the 

“Funding Loan”) to or for the account of the Issuer, and (ii) apply the proceeds of the Funding 

Loan to make a loan (the “Borrower Loan”) to the Borrower to finance a portion of the costs of 

the acquisition, construction and equipping of a 194-unit multifamily housing residential rental 

project spread over four stories, with one level of underground parking, to be located at 1066 

County Highway 10 in the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, which development will be 

known as the Legends of Spring Lake Park (the “Project”). 

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the delivery of this Funding Loan Agreement, the 

Issuer and the Borrower will enter into the Borrower Loan Agreement, of even date herewith 

(as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the “Borrower Loan Agreement”), 

whereby the Borrower agrees to make loan payments to the Issuer in an amount which, when 

added to other funds available under this Funding Loan Agreement, will be sufficient to enable 

the Issuer to repay the Funding Loan, which is derived from the issuance by the Issuer of its 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Multifamily Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 2017 (Legends of Spring Lake Park Project) (the 

“Bonds”) and to pay all costs and expenses related thereto when due; and 

WHEREAS, the Borrower Loan is secured by, among other things, the Mortgage, 

Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing Agreement, of even date herewith 

(as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time, the “Security Instrument”), in 

favor of the Issuer and assigned to the Funding Lender to secure the Funding Loan, 

encumbering the Project, and will be advanced to the Borrower pursuant to this Borrower Loan 

Agreement and the Construction Funding Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, 

covenants and agreements herein contained, the parties hereto do hereby agree as follows: 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS; PRINCIPLES OF CONSTRUCTION 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  For all purposes of this Funding Loan Agreement, except 

as otherwise expressly provided or unless the context otherwise clearly requires: 

(a) Unless specifically defined herein, all capitalized terms have the meanings 

ascribed thereto in the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

(b) The terms “herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder” and other words of similar import 

refer to this Funding Loan Agreement as a whole and not to any particular Article, Section or 

other subdivision.  The terms “agree” and “agreements” contained herein are intended to 

include and mean “covenant” and “covenants.” 

(c) All references made (i) in the neuter, masculine or feminine gender shall be 

deemed to have been made in all such genders, and (ii) in the singular or plural number shall be 

deemed to have been made, respectively, in the plural or singular number as well.  Singular 

terms shall include the plural as well as the singular, and vice versa. 

(d) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings assigned 

to them, and all computations herein provided for shall be made, in accordance with the 

Approved Accounting Method.  All references herein to “Approved Accounting Method” refer 

to such principles as they exist at the date of application thereof. 

(e) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and other 

subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and subdivisions of this instrument as 

originally executed. 

(f) All references in this instrument to a separate instrument are to such separate 

instrument as the same may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time pursuant 

to the applicable provisions thereof. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(g) References to the Bonds or the Funding Loan as “tax exempt” or to the “tax 

exempt status” of the Bonds or the Funding Loan are to the exclusion of interest on the Bonds 

(other than any portion of the Bonds held by a “substantial user” of the Project or a “related 

person” within the meaning of Section 147 of the Code) from gross income for federal income 

tax purposes pursuant to Section 103(a) of the Code. 

(h) The following terms have the meanings set forth below: 

“Act” shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals above. 

“Additional Borrower Payments” has the meaning given such term in the Borrower 

Loan Agreement. 

“Affiliate” means, as to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly, is in 

Control of, is Controlled by or is under common Control with such Person. 

“Approved Transferee” means (1) a “qualified institutional buyer” (“QIB”) as defined in 

Rule 144A promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as in effect on the date hereof (the 

“Securities Act”) that is a financial institution or commercial bank having capital and surplus of 

$5,000,000,000 or more, (2) an affiliate of the Funding Lender, or (3) a trust or custodial 

arrangement established by the Funding Lender or one of its affiliates the beneficial interests in 

which are owned only by QIBs. 

“Authorized Amount” means $___________, the maximum principal amount of the 

Funding Loan under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Authorized Issuer Representative” means the City Administrator of the Issuer, or such 

other person at the time designated to act on behalf of the Issuer as evidenced by a written 

certificate furnished to the Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer Servicer, the Servicer (if 

any) and the Borrower containing the specimen signature of such person and signed on behalf 

of the Issuer by an Authorized Issuer Representative.  Such certificate may designate an 

alternate or alternates, each of whom shall be entitled to perform all duties of the Authorized 

Issuer Representative. 

“Bonds” means the “Bonds” as described in the recitals of this Funding Loan 

Agreement. 

“Borrower” means Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota 

limited liability limited partnership.  

“Borrower Controlling Entity” means, if the Borrower is a partnership, any general 

partner or managing partner of the Borrower, or if the Borrower is a limited liability company, 

the manager or managing member of the Borrower. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

“Borrower Equity Account” means the account by that name created and established in 

the Project Fund under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Borrower Loan” means the mortgage loan made by the Issuer to the Borrower pursuant 

to the Borrower Loan Agreement in the aggregate principal amount of the Borrower Loan 

Amount, as evidenced by the Borrower Note. 

“Borrower Loan Agreement” means the Borrower Loan Agreement, of even date 

herewith, between the Issuer and the Borrower, as amended, supplemented or restated from 

time to time in accordance with its terms. 

“Borrower Loan Agreement Default” means any event of default set forth in 8.1 of the 

Borrower Loan Agreement.  A Borrower Loan Agreement Default shall “exist” if a Borrower 

Loan Agreement Default shall have occurred and be continuing beyond any applicable cure 

period.  

“Borrower Loan Amount” means the amount of $___________. 

“Borrower Loan Documents” has the meaning given such term in the Borrower Loan 

Agreement. 

“Borrower Note” means the “Borrower Note” as described in the recitals of this Funding 

Loan Agreement. 

“Business Day” means any day other than (i) a Saturday or a Sunday, or (ii) a day on 

which the offices of the Fiscal Agent in Fort Lauderdale, Florida or federally insured depository 

institutions in New York, New York are authorized or obligated by law, regulation, 

governmental decree or executive order to be closed. 

“Closing Costs” means the costs relating to the issuance of the Bonds. 

“Closing Date” means July 10, 2017, the date that initial Funding Loan proceeds are 

disbursed hereunder. 

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as in effect on the Closing Date or 

(except as otherwise referenced herein) as it may be amended to apply to obligations issued on 

the Closing Date, together with applicable proposed, temporary and final regulations 

promulgated, and applicable official public guidance published, under the Code. 

“Conditions to Conversion” has the meaning given such term in the Construction 

Funding Agreement. 

“Construction Funding Agreement” means that certain Construction Funding 

Agreement of even date herewith, between the Funding Lender, as agent for the Issuer, and the 

Borrower, pursuant to which the Borrower Loan will be advanced by the Funding Lender (or 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

the Servicer on its behalf), as agent of the Issuer, to the Borrower and setting forth certain 

provisions relating to disbursement of the Borrower Loan during construction, insurance and 

other matters, as such agreement may be amended, modified, supplemented and replaced from 

time to time. 

“Contingency Draw-Down Agreement” means the Contingency Draw-Down 

Agreement of even date herewith between the Funding Lender and the Borrower relating to 

possible conversion of the Funding Loan from a draw-down loan to a fully funded loan, as 

amended, supplemented or restated from time to time. 

“Control” means, with respect to any Person, either (i) ownership directly or through 

other entities of more than 50% of all beneficial equity interest in such Person, or (ii) the 

possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the 

management and policies of such Person, through the ownership of voting securities, by 

contract or otherwise. 

“Default” means the occurrence of an event, which, under any Funding Loan Document, 

would, but for the giving of notice or passage of time, or both, be an event of default under the 

applicable Funding Loan Document or a Borrower Loan Agreement Default. 

“Draw-Down Notice” means a notice described in Section 1.01 of the Contingency 

Draw-Down Agreement regarding the conversion of the Funding Loan from a draw down loan 

to a fully funded loan. 

“Equity Investor” has the meaning given to that term in the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

“Event of Default” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 9.1. 

“Expense Fund” means the fund by that name created and established under this 

Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Fiscal Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, as fiscal agent hereunder, 

and any successor fiscal agent or co-fiscal agent appointed under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Fiscal Agent’s Fees” shall mean the Fiscal Agent’s initial acceptance fee of $__________ 

plus fees and expenses of its counsel in conjunction with the issuance of the Bonds and the 

ongoing compensation and expenses payable to the Fiscal Agent as follows: 

(a) the annual administration fees of the Fiscal Agent, for the ordinary 

services of the Fiscal Agent rendered under this Funding Loan Agreement during each 

twelve-month period shall be $[______] per annum payable in semiannual installments 

of $[_____] in advance on the Closing Date and each June 1 and December 1 thereafter; 

(b) the reasonable fees and charges of the Fiscal Agent for necessary 

extraordinary services rendered by it and/or reimbursement for extraordinary expenses 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

incurred by it under this Funding Loan Agreement as and when the same become due, 

including reasonable fees and expenses of legal counsel and internal default 

administrators (including fees prior to litigation, at trial or for appellate proceedings); 

provided, however, that the Fiscal Agent shall not be required to undertake any such 

extraordinary services unless provision for payment of extraordinary expenses 

satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent shall have been made; and 

(c) for purposes of the Borrower Loan Agreement, indemnification of the 

Fiscal Agent by the Borrower. 

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc.  

“Funding Lender” means Citibank N.A., a national banking association, and any 

successor under this Funding Loan Agreement and the Borrower Loan Documents. 

“Funding Loan” means the “Funding Loan” as described in the recitals of this Funding 

Loan Agreement. 

“Funding Loan Agreement” means this Funding Loan Agreement, by and among the 

Funding Lender, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent, as amended, supplemented or restated from 

time to time pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof. 

“Funding Loan Documents” means (i) this Funding Loan Agreement, (ii) the Borrower 

Loan Agreement, (iii) the Regulatory Agreement, (iv) the Tax Agreement, (v) the Borrower 

Loan Documents, (vi) all other documents evidencing, securing, governing or otherwise 

pertaining to the Funding Loan, and (vii) all amendments, modifications, renewals and 

substitutions of any of the foregoing. 

“Funding Loan Payment Fund” means the fund by that name created and established 

under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Funding Loan Proceeds Account” means the account by that name created and 

established in the Project Fund under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Issuer” means the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota. 

“Issuer Closing Costs” means the fees, costs and expenses incurred in connection with 

the closing of the Funding Loan and issuance of the Bonds, including, without limitation, the 

Issuer’s one (1) time initial issuance fee in the amount of $__________. 

“Issuer Fee” means, collectively, the Issuer’s (i) one (1) time initial issuance fee payable 

by the Fiscal Agent to the Issuer on or before the Closing Date in the amount of $__________, 

and (ii) the annual fee of the Issuer, payable by the Borrower to the Fiscal Agent in the amount 

of _______________ the outstanding principal amount of the Funding Loan (calculated on the 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Business day prior to any principal reduction of the Borrower Note) payable in semiannual 

installments in arrears on each [May 1] and [November 1], commencing [November 1, 2017]. 

 “Issuer Servicer” means _____________________________, and its successors and 

assigns, or any other servicer appointed by the Issuer to service the Borrower Loan on behalf of 

the Issuer and to monitor the Project. 

“Issuer Servicing Agreement” means the Construction Loan and Mortgage Servicing 

Agreement dated as of July 1, 2017, among the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer, the Fiscal Agent and 

the Borrower, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time. 

“Government Obligations” means noncallable, nonprepayable (i) direct, general 

obligations of the United States of America, or (ii) any obligations unconditionally guaranteed 

as to the full and timely payment of all amounts due thereunder by the full faith and credit of 

the United States of America (including obligations held in book entry form), but specifically 

excluding any mutual funds or unit investment trusts invested in such obligations. 

“Highest Rating Category” means, with respect to a Permitted Investment, that the 

Permitted Investment is rated by S&P or Moody’s in the highest rating given by that rating 

agency for that general category of security.  By way of example, the Highest Rating Category 

for tax exempt municipal debt established by S&P is “A 1+” for debt with a term of one year or 

less and “AAA” for a term greater than one year, with corresponding ratings by Moody’s of 

“MIG 1” (for fixed rate) or “VMIG 1” (for variable rate) for three months or less and “Aaa” for 

greater than three months.  If at any time (i) both S&P and Moody’s rate a Permitted Investment 

and (ii) one of those ratings is below the Highest Rating Category, then such Permitted 

Investment will, nevertheless, be deemed to be rated in the Highest Rating Category if the lower 

rating is no more than one rating category below the highest rating category of that rating 

agency.  For example, a Permitted Investment rated “AAA” by S&P and “Aa3” by Moody’s is 

rated in the Highest Rating Category.  If, however, the lower rating is more than one full rating 

category below the Highest Rating Category of that rating agency, then the Permitted 

Investment will be deemed to be rated below the Highest Rating Category.  For example, a 

Permitted Investment rated “AAA” by S&P, “A1” by Moody’s and “AAA” by Fitch is not rated 

in the Highest Rating Category. 

“Maturity Date” means the earlier to occur of (i) _______________, or (ii) any earlier date 

on which the unpaid principal balance of the Borrower Note becomes due and payable, by 

acceleration or otherwise. 

“Maximum Rate” means the lesser of (i) 12% per annum and (ii) the maximum interest 

rate that may be paid on the Funding Loan under State law. 

“Minimum Beneficial Ownership Amount” means an amount no less than fifteen 

percent (15%) of the outstanding principal amount of the Funding Loan. 

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. or its successor. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

“Negative Arbitrage Deposit” has the meaning set forth in the Contingency Draw-Down 

Agreement. 

“Noteowner” or “owner of the Bonds” means the owner, or as applicable, collectively 

the owners, of the Bonds as shown on the registration books maintained by the Fiscal Agent 

pursuant to Section 2.5 hereof. 

“Operating Agreement” has the meaning given to that term in the Borrower Loan 

Agreement. 

 “Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion from an attorney or firm of attorneys, 

acceptable to the Funding Lender and the Issuer with experience in the matters to be covered in 

the opinion; provided that whenever an Opinion of Counsel is required to address the exclusion 

of interest on the Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, such 

opinion shall be provided by Tax Counsel. 

“Permitted Investments” means, to the extent authorized by law for investment of any 

moneys held under this Funding Loan Agreement: 

(a) Government Obligations. 

(b) Direct obligations of, and obligations on which the full and timely 

payment of principal and interest is unconditionally guaranteed by, any agency or 

instrumentality of the United States of America (other than the Federal Home Loan 

Mortgage Corporation) or direct obligations of the World Bank, which obligations are 

rated in the Highest Rating Category. 

(c) Obligations, in each case rated in the Highest Rating Category, of (i) any 

state or territory of the United States of America, (ii) any agency, instrumentality, 

authority or political subdivision of a state or territory or (iii) any public benefit or 

municipal corporation the principal of and interest on which are guaranteed by such 

state or political subdivision. 

(d) Any written repurchase agreement entered into with a Qualified 

Financial Institution whose unsecured short term obligations are rated in the Highest 

Rating Category. 

(e) Commercial paper rated in the Highest Rating Category. 

(f) Interest bearing negotiable certificates of deposit, interest bearing time 

deposits, interest bearing savings accounts and bankers’ acceptances, issued by a 

Qualified Financial Institution if either (i) the Qualified Financial Institution’s unsecured 

short term obligations are rated in the Highest Rating Category or (ii) such deposits, 

accounts or acceptances are fully collateralized by investments described in clauses (a) or 

(b) of this definition or fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(g) An agreement authorized by the Issuer with the consent of the Funding 

Lender, held by the Fiscal Agent for the investment of moneys at a guaranteed rate with 

a Qualified Financial Institution whose unsecured long term obligations are rated in the 

Highest Rating Category or the Second Highest Rating Category, or whose obligations 

are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by a Qualified Financial Institution whose 

unsecured long term obligations are rated in the Highest Rating Category or Second 

Highest Rating Category; provided that such agreement is in a form acceptable to the 

Funding Lender and the Fiscal Agent; and provided further that such agreement 

includes the following restrictions: 

(i) the invested funds will be available for withdrawal without 

penalty or premium, at any time that the Funding Lender is required to pay 

moneys from the Fund(s) established under this Funding Loan Agreement to 

which the agreement is applicable; 

(ii) the agreement, and if applicable the guarantee or insurance, is an 

unconditional and general obligation of the provider and, if applicable, the 

guarantor or insurer of the agreement, and ranks pari passu with all other 

unsecured unsubordinated obligations of the provider, and if applicable, the 

guarantor or insurer of the agreement; 

(iii) the Funding Lender and the Fiscal Agent receive an Opinion of 

Counsel, which may be subject to customary qualifications, that such agreement 

is legal, valid, binding and enforceable upon the provider in accordance with its 

terms and, if applicable, an Opinion of Counsel that any guaranty or insurance 

policy provided by a guarantor or insurer is legal, valid, binding and enforceable 

upon the guarantor or insurer in accordance with its terms; and 

(iv) the agreement provides that if during its term the rating of the 

Qualified Financial Institution providing, guaranteeing or insuring, as applicable, 

the agreement, is withdrawn, suspended by any Rating Agency or falls below the 

Second Highest Rating Category, the provider must, within ten days, either:  (A) 

collateralize the agreement (if the agreement is not already collateralized) with 

Permitted Investments described in paragraph (a) or (b) by depositing collateral 

with the Fiscal Agent or a third party custodian, such collateralization to be 

effected in a manner and in an amount reasonably satisfactory to the Funding 

Lender, or, if the agreement is already collateralized, increase the collateral with 

Permitted Investments described in paragraph (a) or (b) by depositing collateral 

with the Fiscal Agent or a third party custodian, in an amount reasonably 

satisfactory to the Funding Lender, (B) at the request of the Funding Lender, 

repay the principal of and accrued but unpaid interest on the investment, in either 

case with no penalty or premium unless required by law or (C) transfer the 

agreement, guarantee or insurance, as applicable, to a replacement provider, 

guarantor or insurer, as applicable, then meeting the requirements of a Qualified 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Financial Institution and whose unsecured long term obligations are then rated in 

the Highest Rating Category or the Second Highest Rating Category.  The 

agreement may provide that the downgraded provider may elect which of the 

remedies to the downgrade (other than the remedy set out in (B)) to perform. 

Notwithstanding anything else in this Paragraph (g) to the contrary and with respect 

only to any agreement described in this Paragraph (g) or any guarantee or insurance for any 

such agreement which is to be in effect for any period after the Conversion Date, any reference 

in this Paragraph to the “Second Highest Rating Category” will be deemed deleted so that the 

only acceptable rating category for such an agreement, guarantee or insurance will be the 

Highest Rating Category. 

(h) Subject to the ratings requirements set forth in this definition, shares in 

any money market mutual fund (including those of the Fiscal Agent, the Funding Lender 

or any of their affiliates) registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as 

amended, that have been rated “AAAm G” or “AAAm” by S&P or “Aaa” by Moody’s so 

long as the portfolio of such money market mutual fund is limited to Government 

Obligations and agreements to repurchase Government Obligations.  If approved in 

writing by the Funding Lender, a money market mutual fund portfolio may also contain 

obligations and agreements to repurchase obligations described in paragraphs (b) or (c).  

The money market mutual fund must be rated “AAAm G” or “AAAm” by S&P or Aaa 

by Moody’s.  If at any time (i) both S&P and Moody’s rate a money market mutual fund 

and (ii) one of those ratings is below the level required by this paragraph, then such 

money market mutual fund will, nevertheless, be deemed to be rated in the Highest 

Rating Category if the lower rating is no more than one rating category below the 

highest rating category of that rating agency. 

(i) Any other investment authorized by the laws of the State, if such 

investment is approved in writing by the Funding Lender. 

Permitted Investments shall not include any of the following: 

(i) Except for any investment described in the next sentence, any 

investment with a final maturity or any agreement with a term greater than one 

year from the date of the investment.  This exception (1) shall not apply to 

Permitted Investments listed in paragraphs (g) and (i). 

(ii) Except for any obligation described in paragraph (a) or (b), any 

obligation with a purchase price greater or less than the par value of such 

obligation. 

(iii) Any asset backed security, including mortgage backed 

securities, real estate mortgage investment conduits, collateralized mortgage 

obligations, credit card receivable asset backed securities and auto loan asset 

backed securities. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(iv) Any interest only or principal only stripped security. 

(v) Any obligation bearing interest at an inverse floating rate. 

(vi) Any investment which may be prepaid or called at a price less 

than its purchase price prior to stated maturity. 

(vii) Any investment the interest rate on which is variable and is 

established other than by reference to a single index plus a fixed spread, if any, 

and which interest rate moves proportionately with that index. 

(viii) Any investment described in paragraph (d) or (g) with, or 

guaranteed or insured by, a Qualified Financial Institution described in clause (iv) 

of the definition of Qualified Financial Institution if such institution does not 

agree to submit to jurisdiction, venue and service of process in the United States 

of America in the agreement relating to the investment. 

(ix) Any investment to which S&P has added an “r” or “t” 

highlighter. 

“Person” means any individual, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, 

joint venture, estate, trust, unincorporated association, any federal, state, county or municipal 

government or any bureau, department or agency thereof and any fiduciary acting in such 

capacity on behalf of any of the foregoing. 

“Pledged Revenues” means the amounts pledged under this Funding Loan Agreement 

to the payment of the principal of, prepayment premium, if any, and interest on the Funding 

Loan and the Bonds, consisting of the following:  (i) all income, revenues, proceeds and other 

amounts to which the Issuer is entitled (other than amounts received by the Issuer with respect 

to the Unassigned Rights) and derived from or in connection with the Project and the Funding 

Loan Documents, including all Borrower Loan Payments due under the Borrower Loan 

Agreement and the Borrower Note, payments with respect to the Borrower Loan Payments and 

all amounts obtained through the exercise of the remedies provided in the Funding Loan 

Documents and all receipts credited under the provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement 

against said amounts payable, and (ii) moneys held in the funds and accounts established under 

this Funding Loan Agreement, together with investment earnings thereon (except any amounts 

on deposit in the Expense Fund and Rebate Fund). 

“Prepayment Premium” means (i) any premium payable by the Borrower pursuant to 

the Borrower Loan Documents in connection with a prepayment of the Borrower Note 

(including any Prepayment Premium as set forth in the Borrower Note) and (ii) any premium 

payable on the Bonds pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Project” has the meaning given to that term in the Borrower Loan Agreement. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

“Project Fund” means the fund by that name created and established under this Funding 

Loan Agreement. 

“Qualified Financial Institution” means any (i) bank or trust company organized under 

the laws of any state of the United States of America, (ii) national banking association, 

(iii) savings bank,  savings and loan association, or insurance company or association chartered 

or organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America, (iv) federal branch or 

agency pursuant to the International Banking Act of 1978 or any successor provisions of law or 

a domestic branch or agency of a foreign bank which branch or agency is duly licensed or 

authorized to do business under the laws of any state or territory of the United States of 

America, (v) government bond dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary 

dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, (vi) securities dealer approved in writing by 

the Funding Lender the liquidation of which is subject to the Securities Investors Protection 

Corporation or other similar corporation and (vii) other entity which is acceptable to the 

Funding Lender.  With respect to an entity which provides an agreement held by the Fiscal 

Agent for the investment of moneys at a guaranteed rate as set out in paragraph (g) of the 

definition of the term “Permitted Investments” or an entity which guarantees or insures, as 

applicable, the agreement, a “Qualified Financial Institution” may also be a corporation or 

limited liability company organized under the laws of any state of the United States of America. 

“Rating Agency” means any one and each of S&P, Moody’s and Fitch then rating the 

Permitted Investments or any other nationally recognized statistical rating agency then rating 

the Permitted Investments, which has been approved by the Funding Lender. 

“Rebate Fund” means the fund by that name created and established under this Funding 

Loan Agreement. 

“Record Date” shall mean the last day of each calendar month.   

“Regulations” means with respect to the Code, the relevant U.S. Treasury regulations 

and proposed regulations thereunder or any relevant successor provision to such regulations 

and proposed regulations.   

“Regulatory Agreement” means the Land Use Restriction Agreement, of even date 

herewith, by and among the Issuer, the Borrower and the Fiscal Agent, as amended, 

supplemented or restated from time to time. 

“Remaining Funding Loan Proceeds Account” has the meaning set forth in the 

Contingency Draw-Down Agreement. 

 “Remaining Funding Loan Proceeds Account Earnings Subaccount” has the meaning 

set forth in the Contingency Draw-Down Agreement. 

“Required Transferee Representations” means the representations in substantially the 

form attached to this Funding Loan Agreement as Exhibit B. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

 “Resolution” means the resolution of the Issuer authorizing the Funding Loan and the 

execution and delivery of the Funding Loan Documents to which the Issuer is a party. 

“Responsible Officer” means any officer within the Corporate Trust Department (or any 

successor group) of the Fiscal Agent, including any vice president, assistant vice president, 

assistant secretary or any other officer or assistant officer of the Fiscal Agent customarily 

performing functions similar to those performed by the persons who at the time shall be such 

officers, respectively, who is responsible for the administration of this Funding Loan 

Agreement. 

“Second Highest Rating Category” means, with respect to a Permitted Investment, that 

the Permitted Investment is rated by S&P or Moody’s in the second highest rating category 

given by that rating agency for that general category of security.  By way of example, the 

Second Highest Rating Category for tax exempt municipal debt established by S&P is “AA” for 

a term greater than one year, with corresponding ratings by Moody’s of “Aa.”  If at any time (i) 

both S&P and Moody’s rate a Permitted Investment and (ii) one of those ratings is below the 

Second Highest Rating Category, then such Permitted Investment will not be deemed to be 

rated in the Second Highest Rating Category.  For example, an Investment rated “AA” by S&P 

and “A” by Moody’s is not rated in the Second Highest Rating Category. 

“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

“Security” means the security for the performance by the Issuer of its obligations under 

the Bonds and this Funding Loan Agreement as more fully set forth in Article IV hereof. 

“Security Instrument” means the Multifamily Mortgage, Assignment of Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing (as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time), 

made by the Borrower in favor of the Issuer, as assigned to the Funding Lender to secure the 

performance by the Issuer of its obligations under the Funding Loan. 

“Servicer” means any Servicer appointed by the Funding Lender to perform certain 

servicing functions with respect to the Funding Loan and on the Borrower Loan pursuant to a 

separate servicing agreement to be entered into between the Funding Lender and the Servicer.  

Initially the Servicer shall be the Funding Lender pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement. 

“Servicing Agreement” means any servicing agreement entered into between the 

Funding Lender and a Servicer with respect to the servicing of the Funding Loan and/or the 

Borrower Loan. 

“S&P” means S&P Global Ratings, a Division of the McGraw Hill, and its successors. 

“State” means the State of Minnesota. 

“Tax Agreement” means, collectively, (a) the Certificate as to Arbitrage and Certain 

Other Tax Matters dated the Closing Date and executed by the Issuer and the Borrower, and 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(b) the Borrower Proceeds Certificate dated the Closing Date and executed and delivered by the 

Borrower, and (c) the Arbitrage Rebate Agreement by and among the Issuer, the Borrower and 

the Fiscal Agent, in each case including all exhibits and other attachments thereto and in each 

case as may be amended from time to time. 

“Tax Counsel” means Eckberg Lammers, P.C., or any other attorney or firm of attorneys 

designated by the Issuer and approved by the Funding Lender having a national reputation for 

skill in connection with the authorization and issuance of municipal obligations under 

Sections 103 and 141 through 150 (or any successor provisions) of the Code. 

“Tax Counsel Approving Opinion” means an opinion of Tax Counsel substantially to 

the effect that the Bonds constitute valid and binding obligations of the Issuer and that, under 

existing statutes, regulations published rulings and judicial decisions, the interest on the Bonds 

is excludable from gross income for federal income tax purposes (subject to the inclusion of 

such customary exceptions as are acceptable to the recipient thereof). 

“Tax Counsel No Adverse Effect Opinion” means an opinion of Tax Counsel to the effect 

that the taking of the action specified therein will not impair the exclusion of interest on the 

Bonds from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation (subject to the inclusion of 

such customary exceptions as are acceptable to the recipient thereof). 

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State. 

“Unassigned Rights” means the Issuer’s rights to reimbursement and payment of its 

fees, costs and expenses and the Rebate Amount under Section 2.5 of the Borrower Loan 

Agreement, its rights of access under Section 5.17 thereof, its rights to indemnification under 

Section 5.15 thereof, its rights to attorneys’ fees under Sections 5.11 and 5.14 thereof, and its 

rights to receive notices, reports and other statements and its rights to consent to certain matters 

as provided in this Funding Loan Agreement and the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

“Written Certificate,” “Written Certification, “Written Consent,” “Written Direction,” 

“Written Notice,” “Written Order,” “Written Registration,” “Written Request,” and “Written 

Requisition” means a written certificate, direction, notice, order or requisition signed by an 

Authorized Borrower Representative, an Authorized Issuer Representative, a Responsible 

Officer of the Fiscal Agent or an authorized representative of the Funding Lender and delivered 

to the Funding Lender, the Servicer, the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer Servicer or such other Person as 

required under the Funding Loan Documents. 

“Yield” means yield as defined in Section 148(h) of the Code and any regulations 

promulgated thereunder.  

Section 1.2. Effect of Headings and Table of Contents.  The Article and Section 

headings herein and in the Table of Contents are for convenience only and shall not affect the 

construction hereof. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Section 1.3. Date of Funding Loan Agreement.  The date of this Funding Loan 

Agreement is intended as and for a date for the convenient identification of this Funding Loan 

Agreement and is not intended to indicate that this Funding Loan Agreement was executed and 

delivered on said date. 

Section 1.4. Designation of Time for Performance.  Except as otherwise expressly 

provided herein, any reference in this Funding Loan Agreement to the time of day means the 

time of day in the city where the Funding Lender maintains its place of business for the 

performance of its obligations under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

Section 1.5. Interpretation.  The parties hereto acknowledge that each of them and 

their respective counsel have participated in the drafting and revision of this Funding Loan 

Agreement.  Accordingly, the parties agree that any rule of construction that disfavors the 

drafting party shall not apply in the interpretation of this Funding Loan Agreement or any 

amendment or supplement or exhibit hereto. 

ARTICLE II 

TERMS; BONDS 

Section 2.1. Terms. 

(a) Principal Amount.  The total principal amount of the Funding Loan is 

hereby expressly limited to the Authorized Amount. 

(b) Draw-Down Funding.  The Funding Loan is originated on a draw-down 

basis.  The proceeds of the Funding Loan shall be advanced by the Funding Lender to 

the Fiscal Agent for payment to or for the benefit of the Borrower for the account of the 

Issuer as and when needed to make each advance in accordance with the disbursement 

provisions of Section 7.6 hereof, the Borrower Loan Agreement and the Construction 

Funding Agreement.  Upon each advance of principal under the Borrower Loan 

Agreement and the Construction Funding Agreement, a like amount of the Funding 

Loan shall be deemed concurrently and simultaneously advanced under this Funding 

Loan Agreement, including the initial advance of $___________ on the Bonds.  Subject to 

the terms and conditions of the Borrower Loan Agreement, the Funding Lender agrees 

to advance, on behalf of the Issuer, through the Fiscal Agent, to the Borrower under the 

Borrower Loan Agreement an amount not to exceed $___________ on the Borrower 

Note, and the Funding Lender agrees to correspondingly and simultaneously advance 

this amount for the account of the Issuer under this Funding Loan Agreement as an 

advance on the Funding Loan.  Notwithstanding anything in this Funding Loan 

Agreement to the contrary, no additional amounts of the Funding Loan may be drawn 

down and funded hereunder after July _________, provided, however, that upon the 

delivery of a Tax Counsel No Adverse Effect Opinion to the Issuer and the Funding 

Lender such date may be changed to a later date as specified in such Tax Counsel No 

Adverse Effect Opinion.  The Issuer has reviewed and approved the form of the 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Contingency Draw-Down Agreement, consents to the terms thereof and agrees to take 

all actions reasonably required of the Issuer in connection with the conversion of the 

Funding Loan to a fully drawn loan pursuant to the provisions of the Contingency 

Draw-Down Agreement if a Draw-Down Notice is filed by the Funding Lender or the 

Borrower. 

(c) Origination Date; Maturity.  The Funding Loan shall be originated on the 

Closing Date and shall mature on the Maturity Date at which time the entire principal 

amount, to the extent not previously paid, and all accrued and unpaid interest, shall be 

due and payable. 

(d) Principal.  The outstanding principal amount of each Bonds and of the 

Funding Loan as of any given date shall be the total amount advanced by the Funding 

Lender to or for the account of the Issuer to fund corresponding advances with respect to 

the related Borrower Note under the Borrower Loan Agreement and the Construction 

Funding Agreement as proceeds of the Borrower Loan, less any payments of principal of 

a Bonds previously received upon payment of corresponding principal amounts under 

the related Borrower Note, including regularly scheduled principal payments and 

voluntary and mandatory prepayments.  The principal amount of each Bonds and 

interest thereon shall be payable on the basis specified in this paragraph (d) and in 

paragraphs (e) and (f) of this Section 2.1.  The Fiscal Agent shall keep a record of all 

principal advances and principal repayments made under each Bonds and shall upon 

written request provide the Issuer and the Funding Lender with a statement of the 

outstanding principal balance of each Bonds and the Funding Loan. 

(e) Interest.  Interest shall be paid on the outstanding principal amount of 

each Bonds at the rate or rates set forth in related Borrower Note and otherwise as set 

forth in the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

(f) Corresponding Payments.  The payment or prepayment of principal, 

interest and premium, if any, due on the Funding Loan and each Bonds shall be identical 

with and shall be made on the same dates, terms and conditions, as the principal, 

interest, premiums, late payment fees and other amounts due on the related Borrower 

Note.  The Bonds shall be payable from payments on the Borrower Note.  Any payment 

or prepayment made by the Borrower of principal, interest, premium, if any, due on a 

Borrower Note shall be deemed to be like payments or prepayments of principal, interest 

and premium, if any, due on the Funding Loan and the related Bonds. 

(g) Usury.  The Issuer intends to conform strictly to the usury laws 

applicable to this Funding Loan Agreement and the Bonds and all agreements made in 

the Bonds, this Funding Loan Agreement and the Funding Loan Documents are 

expressly limited so that in no event whatsoever shall the amount paid or agreed to be 

paid as interest or the amounts paid for the use of money advanced or to be advanced 

hereunder exceed the highest lawful rate prescribed under any law which a court of 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

competent jurisdiction may deem applicable hereto.  If, from any circumstances 

whatsoever, the fulfillment of any provision of the Bonds, this Funding Loan Agreement 

or the other Funding Loan Documents shall involve the payment of interest in excess of 

the limit prescribed by any law which a court of competent jurisdiction may deem 

applicable hereto, then the obligation to pay interest hereunder shall be reduced to the 

maximum limit prescribed by law.  If from any circumstances whatsoever, the Funding 

Lender shall ever receive anything of value deemed interest, the amount of which would 

exceed the highest lawful rate, such amount as would be excessive interest shall be 

deemed to have been applied, as of the date of receipt by the Funding Lender, to the 

reduction of the principal remaining unpaid hereunder and not to the payment of 

interest, or if such excessive interest exceeds the unpaid principal balance, such excess 

shall be refunded to the Borrower.  This paragraph shall control every other provision of 

the Bonds, this Funding Loan Agreement and all other Funding Loan Documents.  In 

determining whether the amount of interest charged and paid might otherwise exceed 

the limit prescribed by law, the Issuer intends and agrees that (i) interest shall be 

computed upon the assumption that payments under the Borrower Loan Agreement and 

other Funding Loan Documents will be paid according to the agreed terms, and (ii) any 

sums of money that are taken into account in the calculation of interest, even though 

paid at one time, shall be spread over the actual term of the Funding Loan. 

Section 2.2. Form of Bonds.  As evidence of its obligation to repay the Funding 

Loan, simultaneously with the delivery of this Funding Loan Agreement to the Funding 

Lender, the Issuer hereby agrees to execute and deliver the Bonds.  The Bonds shall be 

substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto, with such appropriate 

insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as are required or permitted by this 

Funding Loan Agreement or State law.  In connection with Conversion, the Funding Lender 

shall have the right to exchange the then existing Bonds on or after the Conversion Date for a 

new Bonds with a dated date of the Conversion Date and in a stated principal amount equal to 

the then outstanding principal amount of the Bonds, which amount will equal the Permanent 

Period Amount of the Borrower Loan. 

Section 2.3. Execution and Delivery of Bonds.  The Bonds shall be executed on 

behalf of the Issuer by the manual or facsimile signature of the Mayor and the City 

Administrator, attested by the manual or facsimile signature of said officers, under the official 

seal, or a facsimile of the official seal, of the Issuer.  The manual or facsimile signatures of 

individuals who were the proper officers of the Issuer at the time of execution shall bind the 

Issuer, notwithstanding that such individuals or any of them shall have ceased to hold such 

offices prior to the authentication and delivery of the Bonds or shall not have held such offices 

at the date of the Bonds. 

Section 2.4. Authentication.  The Bonds shall not be valid or obligatory for any 

purpose or be entitled to any security or benefit under this Funding Loan Agreement unless a 

certificate of authentication on such Bonds, substantially in the form set forth in Exhibit A 

hereto, shall have been manually executed by the Fiscal Agent.  The Fiscal Agent shall 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

authenticate the Bonds by execution of the certificate of authentication on or attached to the 

Bonds, and the certificate of authentication so executed on or attached to the Bonds shall be 

conclusive evidence that it has been authenticated and delivered under this Funding Loan 

Agreement. 

Section 2.5. Registration and Transfer of Bonds; Required Transferee 

Representations; Participations; Sale and Assignment. 

(a) On the Closing Date the Funding Lender shall deliver to the Issuer the 

Required Transferee Representations in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit 

B. 

(b) The Funding Lender shall have the right to sell (i) the Bonds and the 

Funding Loan or (ii) any portion of or a participation interest in the Bonds and the 

Funding Loan, to the extent permitted by paragraph (c) of this Section 2.5, provided that 

such sale shall be only to Approved Transferees that execute and deliver the Required 

Transferee Representations to the Funding Lender and the Issuer. 

(c) The Fiscal Agent, on behalf of the Issuer, shall provide for the registration 

of the Bonds or interests therein and the registration of transfers thereof.  In that regard, 

the Fiscal Agent shall maintain a register which shall contain a record of the Bonds or 

interests therein at any time authenticated hereunder, together with the name and 

address of the holder thereof, the date of authentication, the date of transfer or payment, 

and such other matters as may be deemed appropriate by the Fiscal Agent or the Issuer.  

The Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and any agent of the Issuer or the Fiscal Agent shall treat the 

person in whose name a Bonds is registered as of the Record Date as the owner of such 

Bonds or any interest therein for the purpose of receiving payment of the Bonds or any 

interest therein and for all other purposes whatsoever whether or not the Bonds 

payments are overdue, and, to the extent permitted by law, neither the Issuer, the Fiscal 

Agent nor any such agent shall be affected by notice to the contrary.  

(d) The transfer of the Bonds and any interest therein is subject to registration 

by the holder thereof only upon compliance with the conditions for registration of 

transfer imposed on the holder under this Section 2.5 and under Section 2.6 hereof.  

Upon surrender of any Bonds or any interest therein at the principal corporate trust 

office of the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer shall execute (if necessary), and the Fiscal Agent 

shall authenticate and deliver, in the name of the designated transferee or transferees 

(but not registered in blank or to “bearer” or a similar designation), a new Bonds or 

participation interest therein of a like principal amount, and having the same stated 

maturity, tenor and interest rate.  In connection with Conversion of the Funding Loan, 

the Funding Lender shall have the right to exchange the then existing Bonds on or after 

the Conversion Date for new Bonds with a dated date of the Conversion Date and in a 

principal amount equal to the then outstanding principal amount of the applicable 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Bonds, which amount represents the permanent phase principal amount of the Borrower 

Loan. 

(e) Any Bonds or any interest therein delivered in exchange for or upon 

transfer of a Bonds or any interest therein shall be a valid limited obligation of the Issuer 

evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this Funding Loan 

Agreement, as any Bonds or any interest therein surrendered for such exchange or 

transfer. 

(f) Registration of the transfer of the Bonds or any interest therein may be 

made on the Fiscal Agent’s register by the holder thereof in person or by such holder’s or 

holders’ attorney duly authorized in writing.  The Bonds or any interest therein 

presented or surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange shall (i) be 

accompanied by evidence of compliance with the provisions of this Section 2.5, (ii) be 

duly endorsed or be accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of transfer, in 

a form satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent, duly executed and with guaranty of signature of 

the holder thereof or his, her or its attorney duly authorized in writing and (iii) include 

written instructions as to the details of the transfer of the Bonds or interest therein.  

Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section 2.5, no beneficial ownership interest 

in the Bonds and Funding Loan shall be sold in an amount that is less than the Minimum 

Beneficial Ownership Amount. 

(g) No service charge shall be made for any sale or assignment of any portion 

of the Bonds, but the Issuer and Fiscal Agent may require payment of a sum sufficient to 

cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed in connection with any 

such sale or assignment.  Such sums shall be paid in every instance by the purchaser or 

assignee of the Funding Loan or portion thereof.  

(h) The parties agree that no rating shall be sought from a Rating Agency 

with respect to the Funding Loan or the Bonds. 

ARTICLE III 

PREPAYMENT 

Section 3.1. Prepayment of the Bonds from Prepayment under the Borrower 

Note.  The Bonds are subject to voluntary and mandatory prepayment as follows: 

(a) Each Bond shall be subject to voluntary prepayment in full or in part by 

the Issuer, from funds of the Issuer received by the Issuer to the extent and in the manner 

and on any date that the related Borrower Note is subject to voluntary prepayment as set 

forth therein, at a prepayment price equal to the principal balance of the related 

Borrower Note to be prepaid, plus interest thereon to the date of prepayment and the 

amount of any Prepayment Premium payable under the related Borrower Note, plus any 

Additional Borrower Payments due and payable under the Borrower Loan Agreement 

through the date of prepayment. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

The Borrower shall not have the right to voluntarily prepay all or any portion of a 

Borrower Note, thereby causing the related Bonds to be prepaid, except as specifically 

permitted in the applicable Borrower Note, without the prior written consent of Funding 

Lender, which may be withheld in Funding Lender’s sole and absolute discretion. 

(b) Each Bonds shall be subject to mandatory prepayment in whole or in part 

upon prepayment of the related Borrower Note at the direction of the Funding Lender in 

accordance with the terms of the related Borrower Note, at a prepayment price equal to 

the outstanding principal balance of the related Borrower Note prepaid, plus accrued 

interest plus any other amounts payable under the related Borrower Note or the 

Borrower Loan Agreement. 

Section 3.2. Notice of Prepayment.  Notice of prepayment of a Bonds shall be 

deemed given to the extent that notice of prepayment of the related Borrower Note is timely 

and properly given to Funding Lender and Fiscal Agent in accordance with the terms of the 

related Borrower Note and the Borrower Loan Agreement, and no separate notice of 

prepayment of a Bond is required to be given. 

ARTICLE IV 

SECURITY 

Section 4.1. Security for the Funding Loan.  To secure the payment of the Funding 

Loan and the Bonds, to declare the terms and conditions on which the Funding Loan and the 

Bonds are secured, and in consideration of the premises and of the funding of the Funding Loan 

by the Funding Lender, the Issuer by these presents does grant, bargain, sell, remise, release, 

convey, assign, transfer, mortgage, hypothecate, pledge, set over and confirm to the Funding 

Lender (except as limited herein), a lien on and security interest in the following described 

property (excepting, however, in each case, the Unassigned Rights) (said property, rights and 

privileges being herein collectively called, the “Security”): 

(a) All right, title and interest of the Issuer in, to and under the Borrower 

Loan Agreement and the Borrower Note, including, without limitation, all rents, 

revenues and receipts derived by the Issuer from the Borrower relating to the Project and 

including, without limitation, all Pledged Revenues, Borrower Loan Payments and 

Additional Borrower Payments derived by the Issuer under and pursuant to, and subject 

to the provisions of, the Borrower Loan Agreement; provided that the pledge and 

assignment made under this Funding Loan Agreement shall not impair or diminish the 

obligations of the Issuer under the provisions of the Borrower Loan Agreement; 

(b) All right, title and interest of the Issuer in, to and under, together with all 

rights, remedies, privileges and options pertaining to, the Funding Loan Documents, and 

all other payments, revenues and receipts derived by the Issuer under and pursuant to, 

and subject to the provisions of, the Funding Loan Documents;  



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(c) Any and all moneys and investments from time to time on deposit in, or 

forming a part of, all funds and accounts created and held under this Funding Loan 

Agreement other than the Expense Fund and the Rebate Fund, and any amounts held at 

any time in the Remaining Funding Loan Proceeds Account and the Remaining Funding 

Loan Proceeds Account Earnings Subaccount, any Negative Arbitrage Deposit and any 

other amounts held under the Contingency Draw-Down Agreement, subject to the 

provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement permitting the application thereof for the 

purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth herein; and 

(d) Any and all other real or personal property of every kind and nature or 

description, which may from time to time hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any 

kind, be subjected to the lien of this Funding Loan Agreement as additional security by 

the Issuer or anyone on its part or with its consent, or which pursuant to any of the 

provisions hereof or of the Borrower Loan Agreement may come into the possession or 

control of the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender or a receiver appointed pursuant to 

this Funding Loan Agreement; and the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender is hereby 

authorized to receive any and all such property as and for additional security for the 

Funding Loan and each Bonds and to hold and apply all such property subject to the 

terms hereof. 

The pledge and assignment of and the security interest granted in the Security pursuant 

to this Section 4.1 for the payment of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on each 

Bonds, in accordance with its terms and provisions, and for the payment of all other amounts 

due hereunder, shall attach and be valid and binding from and after the time of the delivery of 

each Bonds by the Issuer.  The Security so pledged and then or thereafter received by the Fiscal 

Agent or the Funding Lender shall immediately be subject to the lien of such pledge and 

security interest without any physical delivery or recording thereof or further act, and the lien 

of such pledge and security interest shall be valid and binding and prior to the claims of any 

and all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the Issuer 

irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof. 

Section 4.2. Delivery of Security.  To provide security for the payment of the 

Funding Loan and the Bonds, the Issuer has pledged and assigned to secure payment of the 

Funding Loan and each Bonds its right, title and interest in the Security to the Funding Lender.  

In connection with such pledge, assignment, transfer and conveyance, the Issuer shall deliver to 

the Funding Lender the following documents or instruments promptly following their 

execution and, to the extent applicable, their recording or filing: 

(a) Each Bond endorsed without recourse to the Funding Lender by the 

Issuer; 

(b) The originally executed Borrower Loan Agreement, Regulatory 

Agreement and Tax Agreement; 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(c) The originally executed Security Instrument and all other Borrower Loan 

Documents existing at the time of delivery of the Borrower Note and an assignment for 

security of the Security Instrument from the Issuer to the Funding Lender, in recordable 

form; 

(d) Uniform Commercial Code financing statements or other chattel security 

documents giving notice of the Funding Lender’s status as an assignee of the Issuer’s 

security interest in any personal property forming part of the Project, in form suitable for 

filing; and 

(e) Uniform Commercial Code financing statements giving notice of the 

pledge by the Issuer of the Security pledged under this Funding Loan Agreement. 

At the sole expense of the Borrower, the Issuer shall deliver and deposit with the Fiscal 

Agent or the Funding Lender such additional documents, financing statements, and 

instruments as the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender may reasonably require from time to 

time for the better perfecting and assuring to the Fiscal Agent or the Funding Lender of its lien 

and security interest in and to the Security, including, at the request of the Funding Lender, any 

amounts held under the Contingency Draw-Down Agreement. 

ARTICLE V 

LIMITED LIABILITY 

Section 5.1. Source of Payment of Funding Loan and Other Obligations.  The 

Funding Loan and the Bonds are limited obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from the 

Pledged Revenues and other funds and moneys and Security pledged and assigned hereunder.  

None of the Issuer, the State, or any political subdivision thereof (except the Issuer, to the 

limited extent set forth herein) nor any public agency shall in any event be liable for the 

payment of the principal of, premium (if any) or interest on the Funding Loan or the Bonds or 

for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of any kind whatsoever with 

respect thereto except as set forth herein, and none of the Funding Loan or the Bonds or any of 

the Issuer’s agreements or obligations with respect to the Funding Loan, the Bonds, or 

hereunder, shall be construed to constitute an indebtedness of or a pledge of the faith and credit 

of or a loan of the credit of or a moral obligation of any of the foregoing within the meaning of 

any constitutional or statutory provision whatsoever.  Neither the faith, revenues, credit nor 

taxing power of the State or any other political corporation or subdivision or agency thereof 

shall be pledged to the payment of the principal of, premium (if any), or interest on the Bonds 

or this Funding Loan Agreement.  The Issuer has no taxing power. 

Section 5.2. Exempt from Individual Liability.  No covenant, condition or 

agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be a covenant, agreement or obligation of any 

present or future officer, director, employee or agent of the Issuer in his individual capacity, 

and neither the officers, directors, employees or agents of the Issuer executing the Bonds or this 

Funding Loan Agreement shall be liable personally on the Bonds or under this Funding Loan 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Agreement or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance of 

the Bonds or the execution of this Funding Loan Agreement. 

ARTICLE VI 

CLOSING CONDITIONS; APPLICATION OF FUNDS 

Section 6.1. Conditions Precedent to Closing.  Closing of the Funding Loan on the 

Closing Date shall be conditioned upon satisfaction or waiver by the Funding Lender and the 

Issuer in their sole discretion of each of the conditions precedent to closing set forth in this 

Funding Loan Agreement, including but not limited to the following: 

(a) Receipt by the Funding Lender of the original Bonds dated the Closing 

Date, authenticated by the Fiscal Agent; 

(b) Receipt by the Funding Lender of the original executed Borrower Note, 

endorsed, without recourse, to the Funding Lender by the Issuer and receipt by the 

Fiscal Agent of an executed copy of the Borrower Note; 

(c) Receipt by the Fiscal Agent and Funding Lender of executed counterpart 

copies of this Funding Loan Agreement, the Borrower Loan Agreement, the 

Construction Funding Agreement, the Regulatory Agreement, the Tax Agreement, the 

Security Instrument, and any UCC financing statement required by the Security 

Instrument; 

(d) Receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certified copy of the Resolution; 

(e) Receipt by the Fiscal Agent of Executed Required Transferee 

Representations from the Funding Lender; 

(f) Delivery into escrow or to the Fiscal Agent, as appropriate, of all amounts 

required to be paid in connection with the origination of the Borrower Loan and the 

Funding Loan and any underlying real estate transfers or transactions, including the 

Costs of Funding Deposit, in accordance with Section 2.3(c)(ii) of the Borrower Loan 

Agreement; 

(g) Receipt by the Funding Lender and Fiscal Agent of a Tax Counsel 

Approving Opinion; 

(h) Receipt by the Funding Lender of an Opinion of Counsel from Tax 

Counsel to the effect that the Bonds is exempt from registration under the Securities Act, 

and this Funding Loan Agreement is exempt from qualification under the Trust 

Indenture Act of 1939, as amended; 

(i) Delivery of an opinion of counsel to the Borrower addressed to the Issuer 

to the effect that the Borrower Loan Documents, the Regulatory Agreement and the Tax 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Agreement are valid and binding obligations of the Borrower, enforceable against the 

Borrower in accordance with their terms, subject to such exceptions and qualifications as 

are acceptable to the Issuer;  

(j) Receipt by the Funding Lender and the Issuer of any other documents or 

opinions that the Funding Lender, the Issuer or Tax Counsel may require; and 

(k) Issuer Servicer’s letter acknowledging that all contingencies listed in the 

Final Credit Underwriting Report and have been satisfied. 

ARTICLE VII 

FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS 

Section 7.1. Authorization to Create Funds and Accounts.  Except as provided in 

Section 7.3 hereof, no other funds or accounts shall be established in connection with the 

Funding Loan at the time of closing and origination of the Funding Loan.  The Fiscal Agent is 

authorized to establish and create from time to time such other funds and accounts or 

subaccounts as directed by the Funding Lender or, if there is a Servicer, by the Servicer, as may 

be necessary for the deposit of moneys (including, without limitation, insurance proceeds 

and/or condemnation awards), if any, received by the Issuer, the Funding Lender, the Fiscal 

Agent or the Servicer pursuant to the terms hereof or any of the other Funding Loan Documents 

and not immediately transferred or disbursed pursuant to the terms of the Funding Loan 

Documents and/or the Borrower Loan Documents. 

Section 7.2. Investment of Funds.  Amounts held in any funds or accounts created 

by the Fiscal Agent under this Funding Loan Agreement shall be invested in Permitted 

Investments at the written direction of the Borrower, subject in all cases to the restrictions of 

Section 8.7 hereof and of the Tax Agreement. 

The Fiscal Agent may conclusively rely upon the Borrower’s written instructions as to 

both the suitability and legality of the directed investments. 

Although the Issuer and the Borrower each recognizes that it may obtain a broker 

confirmation or written statement containing comparable information at no additional cost, the 

Issuer and the Borrower hereby agree that confirmations of Permitted Investments are not 

required to be issued by the Fiscal Agent for each month in which a monthly statement is 

rendered.  No statement need be rendered for any fund or account if no activity occurred in 

such fund or account during such month. 

Section 7.3. Establishment of Funds and Accounts.  There are established with the 

Fiscal Agent the following funds and accounts: 

(a) The Funding Loan Payment Fund; 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(b) The Project Fund and within such fund, a Funding Loan Proceeds 

Account and a Borrower Equity Account; 

(c) The Rebate Fund; and 

(d) The Expense Fund and therein a Closing Cost Account and a Fiscal Agent 

Fee Account. 

All money required to be deposited with or paid to the Fiscal Agent for the account of 

any of the funds or accounts created by this Funding Loan Agreement shall be held by the Fiscal 

Agent in trust for the benefit of the Funding Lender, and except for money held in the Expense 

Fund and Rebate Fund, shall, while held by the Fiscal Agent, constitute part of the Pledged 

Revenues and be subject to the lien hereof. 

Section 7.4. Funding Loan Payment Fund.  The Issuer and the Borrower shall have 

no interest in the Funding Loan Payment Fund or the moneys therein, which shall always be 

maintained by the Fiscal Agent completely separate and segregated from all other moneys held 

hereunder and from any other moneys of the Issuer and the Borrower.  

The Fiscal Agent shall deposit into the Funding Loan Payment Fund any amounts 

received from the Borrower as payments of principal of or interest on the Borrower Loan and 

any other amounts received by the Fiscal Agent that are subject to the lien and pledge of this 

Funding Loan Agreement, including any Pledged Revenues not required to be deposited to the 

Expense Fund or Rebate Fund or not otherwise specifically directed in writing to be deposited 

into other funds created by this Funding Loan Agreement.   

The Fiscal Agent shall apply all amounts on deposit in the Funding Loan Payment Fund 

in the following order of priority: 

First, to pay or provide for the payment of the interest then due on the Bonds; 

Second, to pay or provide for the payment or the prepayment of principal on the Bonds, 

provided moneys have been transferred or deposited into the Funding Loan Payment Fund for 

such purpose; and 

Third, to pay or provide for the payment of the Bonds on their respective Maturity 

Dates. 

If the Fiscal Agent has not received, by 11:00 a.m. Eastern time on the date interest is due 

on a Bonds, an amount sufficient to pay such interest, the Fiscal Agent shall provide immediate 

telephonic or electronic notice to the Funding Lender of such deficiency.  The Fiscal Agent may 

rely on the payment terms of the Bonds for purposes of payments described above. 

In making any payment under this Section, the Fiscal Agent may rely conclusively upon 

a written statement provided by the Funding Lender as to the amount payable to the Funding 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Lender pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement, the Borrower Loan Agreement or the 

Construction Funding Agreement, as applicable. 

Section 7.5. Expense Fund.  The Fiscal Agent shall deposit in the Expense Fund the 

amounts required by the Borrower Loan Agreement to be paid by the Borrower to the Issuer or 

the Fiscal Agent as provided in this Section 7.5.  On the Closing Date, the Fiscal Agent shall 

deposit $___________ to the Fiscal Agent Fee Account of the Expense Fund.  Amounts on 

deposit in the Expense Fund shall be used to pay the fees and expenses of the Issuer and the 

Fiscal Agent, as and when the same become due.  In that regard, moneys in the Expense Fund 

shall be withdrawn or maintained, as appropriate, by the Fiscal Agent to pay (i) on each [May 1] 

and [November 1], commencing [November 1, 2017], the portion of the Issuer Fee due on such 

date, (ii) on each May 1 and November 1, commencing on [November 1, 2017] to the Fiscal 

Agent amounts due pursuant to subparts (a) and (b) of the definition of “Fiscal Agent’s Fees” 

herein, which amounts shall be withdrawn first from the Fiscal Agent Fee Account until such 

account has been depleted, (iii) upon receipt, to the Fiscal Agent, any amounts due to the Fiscal 

Agent which have not been paid, other than amounts paid in accordance with clause (ii) hereof, 

and (iv) upon receipt, to, or at the direction of, the Issuer, any amounts owing the Issuer by the 

Borrower and then due and unpaid, other than amounts paid in accordance with clause (i) 

hereof.  The Costs of Funding received by the Fiscal Agent one Business Day prior to the 

Closing Date shall be deposited by the Fiscal Agent in the Closing Cost Account of the Expense 

Fund to pay the Costs of Funding as provided in written instructions delivered by the Borrower 

and countersigned by the Funding Lender. 

In addition, any additional fees and expenses of Tax Counsel shall be timely funded by 

additional deposits into the Closing Cost Account of the Expense Fund of moneys from the 

Borrower not derived from the proceeds of the Borrower Loan.   

In the event that the amounts on deposit in the Expense Fund or Closing Cost Account 

therein are not equal to the amounts payable from the Expense Fund as provided in the 

preceding paragraph on any date on which such amounts are due and payable, the Fiscal Agent 

shall give notice to the Borrower of such deficiency and of the amount of such deficiency and 

request payment within two Business Days to the Fiscal Agent of the amount of such deficiency. 

Written notice of any insufficiency, which results in the Issuer not receiving the Issuer 

Fee on the applicable due date, shall be provided by the Fiscal Agent to the Issuer (with a copy 

to the Borrower and the Funding Lender) within 10 days of the respective due date. 

Upon payment to the Fiscal Agent by the Borrower of such deficiency, the amounts for 

which such deficiency was requested shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent. 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Fiscal Agent, on behalf of the 

Issuer, shall prepare and submit a written invoice to the Borrower for payment of the Issuer Fee 

not later than 10 days prior to the due date for payment of such the Issuer Fee, and shall remit 

moneys received from the Borrower to the Issuer for payment of such fee.  Failure of the Fiscal 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Agent to prepare or submit such notice shall not excuse the Borrower from making the required 

payments. 

Section 7.6. Project Fund. 

(a) All proceeds of the Funding Loan provided by the Funding Lender shall 

be deposited to the Funding Loan Proceeds Account of the Project Fund as advanced 

and disbursed as herein provided.  The Borrower shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, 

the Equity Contributions with the Fiscal Agent for further deposit into the Borrower 

Equity Account of the Project Fund as it is contributed by the Equity Investor to 

Borrower, in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Operating Agreement.  The 

Fiscal Agent shall use moneys in the Funding Loan Proceeds Account and the Borrower 

Equity Account of the Project Fund for the acquisition and construction of the Project, to 

pay other Qualified Project Costs and to pay other costs related to the Project as 

provided herein.   

Not less than 95% of the moneys representing proceeds of the Funding Loan 

deposited in and credited to the Funding Loan Proceeds Account of the Project Fund, 

including Investment Income thereon, will be expended for Qualified Project Costs (the 

“95% Requirement”).  The amounts on deposit in the Funding Loan Proceeds Account of 

the Project Fund shall not be applied to the payment of Closing Costs.   

Before any payment shall be made from the Project Fund, the Regulatory 

Agreement shall have been executed and submitted to a title company for recordation in 

the official records of the County and there shall be filed with the Fiscal Agent a Written 

Requisition of the Borrower substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C and 

approved by the Funding Lender pursuant to the terms, conditions and provisions of 

the Construction Funding Agreement and the Issuer Servicer pursuant to the terms, 

conditions and provisions of the Issuer Servicing Agreement.  The Fiscal Agent shall be 

entitled to conclusively rely upon any Written Requisition in determining whether to 

disburse amounts from the Project Fund. 

In connection with a Written Requisition: 

(i) Only the signature of an authorized officer of the Funding Lender 

and the Issuer Servicer shall be required on a Written Requisition during any 

period in which a default by the Borrower has occurred and is then continuing 

under the Borrower Loan (notice of which default has been given in writing by 

an authorized officer of the Funding Lender to the Fiscal Agent, and the Fiscal 

Agent shall be entitled to conclusively rely on any such Written Notice as to the 

occurrence and continuation of such a default). 

(ii) The Fiscal Agent shall disburse amounts in the Project Fund upon 

receipt of a Written Requisition signed only by the Funding Lender and the 

Issuer Servicer (and without any need for any signature by an Authorized 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Borrower Representative), so long as the amount to be disbursed is to be used 

solely to make payments of principal, interest and/or fees due under the 

Funding Loan Documents. 

(iii) The Fiscal Agent may conclusively rely on all Written 

Requisitions, the execution of the Written Requisitions by the Authorized 

Borrower Representative and the approval of all Written Requisitions by the 

Funding Lender and Issuer Servicer, as required by this Section, as conditions of 

payment from the Project Fund, which Written Requisitions constitute, as to the 

Fiscal Agent, irrevocable determinations that all conditions to payment of the 

specified amounts from the Project Fund have been satisfied.  These documents 

shall be retained by the Fiscal Agent, subject at all reasonable times to 

examination by the Borrower, the Issuer, the Issuer Servicer, the Funding 

Lender and the agents and representatives thereof upon reasonable notice to the 

Fiscal Agent.  The Fiscal Agent is not required to inspect the Project or the 

construction work or to make any independent investigation with respect to the 

matters set forth in any Written Requisition or other statements, orders, 

certifications and approvals received by the Fiscal Agent.  The Fiscal Agent is 

not required to obtain completion bonds, lien releases or otherwise supervise 

the acquisition, construction, renovation, equipping, improvement and 

installation of the Project. 

(b) Upon receipt of each Written Requisition submitted by the Borrower and 

approved in writing by the Funding Lender and Issuer Servicer, the Fiscal Agent shall 

promptly, but in any case within three Business Days, make payment from the 

appropriate account within the Project Fund in accordance with such Written 

Requisition pursuant to the Construction Funding Agreement.  The Fiscal Agent shall 

have no duty to determine whether any requested disbursement from the Project Fund 

complies with the terms, conditions and provisions of the Funding Loan Documents, 

constitutes payment of Qualified Project Costs or complies with the 95% Requirement.  

The approval in writing of a Written Requisition by the Funding Lender and Issuer 

Servicer shall be deemed a certification and, insofar as the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer are 

concerned, shall constitute conclusive evidence that all of the terms, conditions and 

requirements of the Funding Loan Documents applicable to such disbursement have 

been fully satisfied or waived and the Written Requisition from the Borrower shall, 

insofar as the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer are concerned, constitute conclusive evidence 

that the costs described in the Written Requisition constitute Qualified Project Costs or 

other permitted Project costs. 

The Fiscal Agent shall immediately provide Written Notice to the Borrower, the 

Funding Lender and the Issuer Servicer if there are not sufficient funds available to or 

on deposit with the Fiscal Agent to make the transfers as and when required by this 

Section 7.6(b).  Except as provided in the next sentence, all such payments shall be made 

by check or draft payable, or by wire transfer, either (i) directly to the person, firm or 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

corporation to be paid, (ii) to the Borrower and such person, firm or corporation, or (iii) 

upon receipt by the Funding Lender and the Issuer Servicer of evidence that the 

Borrower has previously paid such amount and Written Direction to the Fiscal Agent as 

to such as evidenced by the Funding Lender’s and Issuer Servicer’s approval of the 

Written Requisition, to the Borrower.  Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default of the 

Borrower of which the Fiscal Agent has knowledge as provided herein, which is 

continuing under the Funding Loan Documents, with the Written Consent of the 

Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent may apply amounts on deposit in the Project Fund to 

the payment of principal of and interest on the Bonds.  If a Written Requisition signed 

by the Authorized Borrower Representative and countersigned by an authorized officer 

of the Funding Lender and Issuer Servicer is received by the Fiscal Agent, the requested 

disbursement shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent as soon as practicable, but in no event 

later than three Business Days following receipt thereof by the Fiscal Agent.  Upon final 

disbursement of all amounts on deposit in the Project Fund, the Fiscal Agent shall close 

the Project Fund.  Any amounts remaining on deposit in the Borrower Equity Account of 

the Project Fund following Completion of the Project shall be applied as set forth in the 

written instructions of the Borrower and the Funding Lender.  Any amounts remaining 

on deposit in the Borrower Equity Account of the Project Fund on the Conversion Date 

shall be paid by the Fiscal Agent to the Borrower. 

(c) Immediately prior to any mandatory prepayment of the Funding Loan 

pursuant hereto, any amounts then remaining in the Project Fund shall, at the written 

direction of the Funding Lender, be transferred to the Funding Loan Payment Fund to be 

applied to the prepayment of the Bonds pursuant hereto.   

(d) Amounts on deposit in the Project Fund shall be invested in Permitted 

Investments directed in writing by the Borrower.  Investment Income earned on amounts 

on deposit in the Project Fund shall be retained in and credited to and become a part of 

the amounts on deposit in the Project Fund. 

Section 7.7. Rebate Fund.  All amounts in the Rebate Fund shall be held, invested 

and disbursed by the Fiscal Agent in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Agreement, the 

terms of which are incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof as if fully set forth 

herein.  The Borrower shall have the absolute obligation to deposit funds into the Rebate Fund 

in accordance with the provisions of the Tax Agreement.  The Fiscal Agent shall make rebate 

payments to the United States Treasury in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Tax 

Agreement.  The Fiscal Agent shall conclusively be deemed to have complied with such 

provisions if it follows the written instructions of the Borrower and shall not be required to take 

any actions under the Tax Agreement on behalf of the Borrower in the absence of written 

instructions from the Borrower. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

ARTICLE VIII 

REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS 

Section 8.1. General Representations.  The Issuer makes the following 

representations as the basis for the undertakings on its part herein contained: 

(a) The Issuer is a municipal corporation and political subdivision under the 

laws of the State, including the Act, has the power and authority to (i) enter into the 

Funding Loan Documents to which it is a party and the transactions contemplated 

thereby, (ii) incur the limited obligation represented by the Bonds and the Funding Loan 

and apply the proceeds of such obligation or loan to finance a portion of the costs of the 

Project and (iii) carry out its other obligations under this Funding Loan Agreement and 

the Bonds, and by proper action has duly authorized the Issuer’s execution and delivery 

of, and its performance under, such Funding Loan Documents and all other agreements 

and instruments relating thereto. 

(b) The Issuer is not in default under or in violation of, and the execution and 

delivery of the Funding Loan Documents to which it is a party and its compliance with 

the terms and conditions thereof will not conflict or constitute a default under or a 

violation of, (i) the Act, (ii) to its knowledge, any other existing laws, rules, regulations, 

judgments, decrees and orders applicable to it, or (iii) to its knowledge, the provisions of 

any agreements and instruments to which the Issuer is a party, a default under or 

violation of which would prevent it from entering into the Funding Loan Agreement, 

executing and delivering the Bonds, financing the Project, executing and delivering the 

other Funding Loan Documents to which it is a party or consummating the transactions 

contemplated thereby, and, to its knowledge, no event has occurred and is continuing 

under the provisions of any such agreement or instrument or otherwise that with the 

lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute such a default or violation 

(it being understood, however, that the Issuer is making no representations as to the 

necessity of registering the Bonds or the Borrower Note pursuant to any securities laws 

or complying with any other requirements of securities laws). 

(c) No litigation, inquiry or investigation of any kind in or by any judicial or 

administrative court or agency is pending or, to its knowledge, threatened against the 

Issuer with respect to (i) the organization and existence of the Issuer, (ii) its authority to 

execute or deliver the Funding Loan Documents to which it is a party, (iii) the validity or 

enforceability of any such Funding Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated 

thereby, (iv) the title of any officer of the Issuer who executed such Funding Loan 

Documents, or (v) any authority or proceedings relating to the execution and delivery of 

such Funding Loan Documents on behalf of the Issuer, and no such authority or 

proceedings have been repealed, revoked, rescinded or amended but are in full force and 

effect. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(d) The revenues and receipts to be derived from the Borrower Loan 

Agreement, the Borrower Note and this Funding Loan Agreement have not been 

pledged previously by the Issuer to secure any of its notes or bonds other than the 

Funding Loan Agreement as evidenced by the Bonds. 

(e) The State has provided an allocation of the State’s 2017 private activity 

bond volume cap under Section 146 of the Code to the Issuer. 

THE ISSUER MAKES NO REPRESENTATION, COVENANT OR AGREEMENT AS TO 

THE FINANCIAL POSITION OR BUSINESS CONDITION OF THE BORROWER OR THE 

PROJECT AND DOES NOT REPRESENT OR WARRANT AS TO ANY STATEMENTS, 

MATERIALS, REPRESENTATIONS OR CERTIFICATIONS FURNISHED BY THE BORROWER 

IN CONNECTION WITH THE FUNDING LOAN OR AS TO THE CORRECTNESS, 

COMPLETENESS OR ACCURACY THEREOF. 

Section 8.2. No Encumbrance on Security.  The Issuer will not knowingly create or 

knowingly permit the creation of any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance of any 

kind on the Security or any part thereof prior to or on parity with the lien of this Funding Loan 

Agreement, except as expressly permitted or contemplated by the Funding Loan Documents. 

Section 8.3. Repayment of Funding Loan.  Solely from amounts pledged therefor, 

and subject to the provisions of Article V hereof, the Issuer will duly and punctually repay, or 

cause to be repaid, the Funding Loan, as evidenced by the Bonds, as and when the same shall 

become due, all in accordance with the terms of the Bonds and this Funding Loan Agreement. 

Section 8.4. Servicer.  The Funding Lender may appoint a Servicer to service and 

administer the Governmental Loan and/or the Borrower Loan on behalf of the Funding Lender 

and the Fiscal Agent, including without limitation the fulfillment of rights and responsibilities 

granted by Issuer to Funding Lender pursuant to Section 2.1 of the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

Section 8.5. Borrower Loan Agreement Performance. 

(a) The Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Servicer, if any, on behalf 

of the Issuer, may (but shall not be required or obligated) perform and observe any such 

agreement or covenant of the Issuer under the Borrower Loan Agreement, all to the end 

that the Issuer’s rights under the Borrower Loan Agreement may be unimpaired and free 

from default. 

(b) The Issuer will promptly notify the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent, the 

Servicer and the Funding Lender in writing of the occurrence of any Borrower Loan 

Agreement Default, provided that the Issuer has received written notice or otherwise has 

knowledge of such event. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Section 8.6. Maintenance of Records; Inspection of Records. 

(a) The Fiscal Agent shall keep and maintain adequate records pertaining to 

any funds and accounts established hereunder, including all deposits to and 

disbursements from said funds and accounts and shall keep and maintain the 

registration books for the Funding Loan and interests therein.  The Fiscal Agent shall 

retain in its possession all certifications and other documents presented to it, all such 

records and all records of principal, interest and premium paid on the Funding Loan, 

subject to the inspection of the Funding Lender and the Issuer and their representatives 

at all reasonable times and upon reasonable prior notice. 

(b) The Issuer and the Funding Lender will at any and all times, upon the 

reasonable request of the Servicer the Borrower, the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer or the 

Funding Lender, afford and procure a reasonable opportunity by their respective 

representatives to inspect the books, records, reports and other papers of the Issuer or 

the Funding Lender, as appropriate, relating to the Project and the Funding Loan, if any, 

and to make copies thereof. 

Section 8.7. Tax Covenants.  The Issuer covenants to and for the benefit of the 

Funding Lender that, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement or 

of any other instrument, it will: 

(a) Enforce or cause to be enforced all obligations of the Borrower under the 

Regulatory Agreement in accordance with its terms and seek to cause the Borrower to 

correct any violation of the Regulatory Agreement within a reasonable period after any 

such violation is first discovered; 

(b) Not take or cause to be taken any other action or actions, or fail to take 

any action or actions, which would cause the interest payable on the Bonds to be 

includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes; 

(c) At all times do and perform all acts and things permitted by law and 

necessary or desirable in order to assure that interest paid by the Issuer on the Bonds will 

be excluded from the gross income of the holders of the Bonds, for federal income tax 

purposes, pursuant to Section 103 of the Code, except in the event where any holder of 

the Funding Loan or a portion thereof is a “substantial user” of the facilities financed 

with the Funding Loan or a “related person” within the meaning of Section 147(a) of the 

Code; 

(d) Not take any action or permit or suffer any action to be taken if the result 

of the same would be to cause the Funding Loan to be “federally guaranteed” within the 

meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code and the Regulations; and 

(e) Require the Borrower to agree, pursuant to the terms and provisions of 

the Borrower Loan Agreement, not to commit any act and not to make any use of the 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

proceeds of the Funding Loan, or any other moneys which may be deemed to be 

proceeds of the Funding Loan pursuant to the Code, which would cause the Funding 

Loan to be an “arbitrage bond” within the meaning of Sections 103(b) and 148 the Code, 

and to comply with the requirements of the Code throughout the term of the Funding 

Loan; and 

(f) Require the Borrower to take all steps necessary to compute and pay any 

arbitrage rebate in accordance with Section 148(f) of the Code. 

In furtherance of the covenants in this Section 8.7, the Issuer and the Borrower shall 

execute, deliver and comply with the provisions of the Tax Agreement, which are by this 

reference incorporated into this Funding Loan Agreement and made a part of this Funding 

Loan Agreement as if set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement in full. 

For purposes of this Section 8.7 the Issuer’s compliance shall be based solely on matters 

within the Issuer’s control and no acts, omissions or directions of the Borrower, the Fiscal 

Agent, the Funding Lender or any other Persons shall be attributed to the Issuer. 

In complying with the foregoing covenants, the Issuer may rely from time to time on a 

Tax Counsel No Adverse Effect Opinion or other appropriate opinion of Tax Counsel. 

Section 8.8. Performance by the Borrower.  Without relieving the Issuer from the 

responsibility for performance and observance of the agreements and covenants required to be 

performed and observed by it hereunder, the Borrower, on behalf of the Issuer, may perform 

any such agreement or covenant if no Borrower Loan Agreement Default or Potential Default 

under the Borrower Loan Agreement exists. 

Section 8.9. Maintenance of Records.  The Funding Lender shall keep and 

maintain adequate records pertaining to funds and accounts relative to the Borrower Loan not 

established with the Fiscal Agent, if any, including all deposits to and disbursements from said 

funds and accounts and will provide information and records relating thereto to the Fiscal 

Agent or the Issuer upon request. 

ARTICLE IX 

DEFAULT; REMEDIES 

Section 9.1. Events of Default.  Any one or more of the following shall constitute 

an event of default (an “Event of Default”) under this Funding Loan Agreement (whatever the 

reason for such event and whether it shall be voluntary or involuntary or be effected by 

operation of law or pursuant to any judgment, decree or order of any court or any order, rule or 

regulation of any administrative or governmental body): 

(a) A default in the payment of any interest upon the Bonds when such 

interest becomes due and payable; or 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(b) A default in the payment of principal of, or premium on, the Bonds when 

such principal or premium becomes due and payable, whether at its stated maturity, by 

declaration of acceleration or call for mandatory prepayment or otherwise; or 

(c) Subject to Section 8.8 hereof, default in the performance or breach of any 

material covenant or warranty of the Issuer in this Funding Loan Agreement (other than 

a covenant or warranty or default in the performance or breach of which is elsewhere in 

this Section specifically dealt with), and continuance of such default or breach for a 

period of 30 days after there has been given written notice, as provided in Section 12.1 

hereof, to the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Borrower by the Funding Lender or the 

Servicer, specifying such default or breach and requiring it to be remedied and stating 

that such notice is a “Notice of Default” under this Funding Loan Agreement; provided 

that, so long as the Issuer, or the Borrower on its behalf, has commenced to cure such 

failure to observe or perform within the thirty (30) day cure period and the subject 

matter of the default is not capable of cure within said thirty (30) day period and the 

Issuer, or the Borrower on its behalf, is diligently pursuing such cure to the Funding 

Lender’s satisfaction, with the Funding Lender’s Written Direction or Written Consent, 

then the Issuer shall have an additional period of time as reasonably necessary (not to 

exceed 30 days unless extended in writing by the Funding Lender) within which to cure 

such default; or 

(d) A default in the payment of any Borrower Payments; or 

(e) Any other “Default” or “Event of Default” under any of the other 

Funding Loan Documents (taking into account any applicable grace periods therein). 

Any notice of default delivered by the Funding Lender to the Borrower shall be 

contemporaneously delivered to the Equity Investor. 

Section 9.2. Acceleration of Maturity; Rescission and Annulment. 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 9.9 hereof, upon the occurrence of an 

Event of Default under Section 9.1 hereof, then and in every such case, the Funding 

Lender may declare the principal of the Funding Loan and the Bonds and the interest 

accrued to be immediately due and payable, by notice to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer and 

the Borrower and upon any such declaration, all principal of and Prepayment Premium, 

if any, and interest on the Funding Loan and the Bonds shall become immediately due 

and payable. 

(b) At any time after a declaration of acceleration has been made pursuant to 

subsection (a) of this Section, the Funding Lender may by Written Notice to the Fiscal 

Agent, the Borrower and the Issuer, rescind and annul such declaration and its 

consequences if: 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(i) There has been deposited with the Fiscal Agent or the Funding 

Lender a sum sufficient to pay (1) all overdue installments of interest on the 

Funding Loan, (2) the principal of and Prepayment Premium on the Funding 

Loan that has become due otherwise than by such declaration of acceleration and 

interest thereon at the rate or rates prescribed therefor in the Funding Loan, (3) to 

the extent that payment of such interest is lawful, interest upon overdue 

installments of interest at the rate or rates prescribed therefor in the Funding 

Loan, and (4) all sums paid or advanced by the Funding Lender and the 

reasonable compensation, expenses, disbursements and advances of the Funding 

Lender, its agents and counsel (but only to the extent not duplicative with 

subclauses (1) and (3) above); and 

(ii) All Events of Default, other than the nonpayment of the principal 

of the Funding Loan which have become due solely by such declaration of 

acceleration, have been cured or have been waived in writing as provided in 

Section 9.9 hereof. 

No such rescission and annulment shall affect any subsequent default or impair any 

right consequent thereon. 

(c) Notwithstanding the occurrence and continuation of an Event of Default, 

it is understood that the Funding Lender shall pursue no remedies against the Borrower 

or the Project if no Borrower Loan Agreement Default has occurred and is continuing.  

An Event of Default hereunder shall not in and of itself constitute a Borrower Loan 

Agreement Default. 

Section 9.3. Additional Remedies; Funding Lender Enforcement. 

(a) Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Funding Lender may, 

subject to the provisions of this Section 9.3 and Section 9.9 hereof, proceed to protect and 

enforce its rights by mandamus or other suit, action or proceeding at law or in equity.  

No remedy conferred by this Funding Loan Agreement upon or remedy reserved to the 

Funding Lender is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each such remedy 

shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to any other remedy given to the Funding 

Lender hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  The 

Funding Lender acknowledges and agrees that the Issuer shall not be responsible or 

liable for any fees and expenses incurred by the Funding Lender in connection with 

pursuing remedies under this Article IX other than from Pledged Revenues. 

(b) Upon the occurrence and continuation of any Event of Default, the 

Funding Lender may proceed forthwith to protect and enforce its rights and this 

Funding Loan Agreement by such suits, actions or proceedings as the Funding Lender, 

in its sole discretion, shall deem expedient.  Funding Lender shall have upon the 

occurrence and continuation of any Event of Default all rights, powers, and remedies 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

with respect to the Security as are available under the Uniform Commercial Code 

applicable thereto or as are available under any other applicable law at the time in effect 

and, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Funding Lender may proceed 

at law or in equity or otherwise, to the extent permitted by applicable law: 

(i) to take possession of the Security or any part thereof, with or 

without legal process, and to hold, service, administer and enforce any rights 

thereunder or thereto, and otherwise exercise all rights of ownership thereof, 

including (but not limited to) the sale of all or part of the Security; 

(ii) to become mortgagee of record for the Borrower Loan including, 

without limitation, completing the assignment of the Security Instrument by the 

Issuer to the Funding Lender as anticipated by this Funding Loan Agreement, 

and recording the same in the real estate records of the jurisdiction in which the 

Project is located, without further act or consent of the Issuer, and to service and 

administer the same for its own account; 

(iii) to service and administer the Funding Loan as agent and on 

behalf of the Issuer or otherwise, and, if applicable, to take such actions necessary 

to enforce the Borrower Loan Documents and the Funding Loan Documents on 

its own behalf, and to take such alternative courses of action, as it may deem 

appropriate; or 

(iv) to take such steps to protect and enforce its rights whether by 

action, suit or proceeding in equity or at law for the specific performance of any 

covenant, condition or agreement in the Bonds, this Funding Loan Agreement or 

the other Funding Loan Documents, or the Borrower Loan Documents, or in and 

of the execution of any power herein granted, or for foreclosure hereunder, or for 

enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy or otherwise as 

the Funding Lender may elect. 

(c) Whether or not an Event of Default has occurred, the Funding Lender, in 

its sole discretion, shall have the sole right to waive or forbear any term, condition, 

covenant or agreement of the Security Instrument, the Borrower Loan Agreement, the 

Borrower Note or any other Borrower Loan Documents or Funding Loan Documents 

applicable to the Borrower, or any breach thereof, other than a covenant that would 

adversely impact the tax exempt status of the interest on the Bonds, and provided that 

the Issuer may enforce specific performance with respect to the Unassigned Rights; 

provided, however, that any such forbearance by the Funding Lender in the exercise of 

its remedies under the Funding Loan Documents shall not be construed as a waiver by 

the Funding Lender of any Conditions to Conversion. 

(d) If the Borrower defaults in the performance or observance of any 

covenant, agreement or obligation of the Borrower set forth in the Regulatory 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Agreement, and if such default remains uncured for a period of 60 days after the 

Borrower, the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent and the Funding Lender receive Written Notice 

stating that a default under the Regulatory Agreement has occurred and specifying the 

nature of the default, the Funding Lender shall have the right to seek specific 

performance of the provisions of the Regulatory Agreement or to exercise its other rights 

or remedies thereunder; provided, however, that any such forbearance by the Funding 

Lender in the exercise of its remedies under the Funding Loan Documents shall not be 

construed as a waiver by the Funding Lender of any Conditions to Conversion. 

(e) If the Borrower defaults in the performance of its obligations under the 

Borrower Loan Agreement to make rebate payments, to comply with any applicable 

continuing disclosure requirements, or to make payments owed pursuant to Sections 2.5, 

5.14 or 5.15 of the Borrower Loan Agreement for fees, expenses or indemnification, the 

Funding Lender shall have the right to exercise all its rights and remedies thereunder 

(subject to the last paragraph of Section 9.14 hereof). 

Section 9.4. Application of Money Collected.  Any money collected by the 

Funding Lender or the Fiscal Agent pursuant to this Article and any other sums then held by 

the Funding Lender as part of the Security, shall be applied in the following order, at the date or 

dates fixed by the Funding Lender: 

(a) First:  To the payment of any and all amounts due under the Funding 

Loan Documents other than with respect to principal and interest accrued on the 

Funding Loan, including, without limitation, any amounts due to the Issuer, the Funding 

Lender, the Servicer, the Issuer Servicer, the Fiscal Agent and the Rebate Analyst; 

(b) Second:  To the payment of the whole amount of the Funding Loan, as 

evidenced by the Bonds, then due and unpaid in respect of which or for the benefit of 

which such money has been collected, with interest (to the extent that such interest has 

been collected or a sum sufficient therefor has been so collected and payment thereof is 

legally enforceable at the respective rate or rates prescribed therefor in the Funding 

Loan) on overdue principal of, and Prepayment Premium and overdue installments of 

interest on the Funding Loan; provided, however, that partial interests in any portion of 

the Funding Loan shall be paid in such order of priority as may be prescribed by Written 

Direction of the Funding Lender in its sole and absolute discretion; and 

(c) Third:  The payment of the remainder, if any, to the Borrower or to 

whosoever may be lawfully entitled to receive the same or as a court of competent 

jurisdiction may direct. 

If and to the extent this Section 9.4 conflicts with the provisions of the Servicing 

Agreement, the provisions of the Servicing Agreement shall control.  Capitalized 

terms used in this Section 9.4 but not otherwise defined in this Funding Loan 

Agreement have the meanings given such terms in the Servicing Agreement. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Section 9.5. Remedies Vested in Funding Lender.  All rights of action and claims 

under this Funding Loan Agreement or the Bonds may be prosecuted and enforced by the 

Funding Lender without the possession of the Bonds or the production thereof in any 

proceeding relating thereto. 

Section 9.6. Restoration of Positions.  If Funding Lender shall have instituted any 

proceeding to enforce any right or remedy under this Funding Loan Agreement and such 

proceeding shall have been discontinued or abandoned for any reason or shall have been 

determined adversely to the Funding Lender, then and in every such case the Issuer and the 

Funding Lender shall, subject to any determination in such proceeding, be restored to their 

former positions hereunder, and thereafter all rights and remedies of the Issuer and the 

Funding Lender shall continue as though no such proceeding had been instituted. 

Section 9.7. Rights and Remedies Cumulative.  No right or remedy herein 

conferred upon or reserved to the Funding Lender is intended to be exclusive of any other right 

or remedy, and every right and remedy shall, to the extent permitted by law, be cumulative and 

in addition to every other right and remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law 

or in equity or otherwise.  The assertion or employment of any right or remedy hereunder, or 

otherwise, shall not prevent the concurrent assertion or employment of any other appropriate 

right or remedy. 

Section 9.8. Delay or Omission Not Waiver.  No delay or omission of the Funding 

Lender to exercise any right or remedy accruing upon an Event of Default shall impair any such 

right or remedy or constitute a waiver of any such Event of Default or acquiescence therein.  

Every right and remedy given by this Article or by law to the Funding Lender may be exercised 

from time to time, and as often as may be deemed expedient, by Funding Lender.  No waiver of 

any default or Event of Default pursuant to Section 9.9 hereof shall extend to or shall affect any 

subsequent default or Event of Default hereunder or shall impair any rights or remedies 

consequent thereon. 

Section 9.9. Waiver of Past Defaults.  Before any judgment or decree for payment 

of money due has been obtained by the Funding Lender, the Funding Lender may, subject to 

Section 9.6 hereof, by Written Notice to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer and the Borrower, waive 

any past default hereunder or under the Borrower Loan Agreement and its consequences except 

for default in obligations due the Issuer pursuant to or under the Unassigned Rights.  Upon any 

such waiver, such default shall cease to exist, and any Event of Default arising therefrom shall 

be deemed to have been cured, for every purpose of this Funding Loan Agreement and the 

Borrower Loan Agreement; but no such waiver shall extend to any subsequent or other default 

or impair any right consequent thereon. 

Section 9.10. Remedies Under Borrower Loan Agreement or Borrower Note.  As 

set forth in this Section 9.10 but subject to Section 9.9 hereof, the Funding Lender shall have the 

right, in its own name or on behalf of the Issuer, to declare any default and exercise any 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

remedies under the Borrower Loan Agreement or the Borrower Note, whether or not the Bonds 

has been accelerated or declared due and payable by reason of an Event of Default. 

Section 9.11. Waiver of Appraisement and Other Laws. 

(a) To the extent permitted by law, the Issuer will not at any time insist upon, 

plead, claim or take the benefit or advantage of, any appraisement, valuation, stay, 

extension or redemption law now or hereafter in force, in order to prevent or hinder the 

enforcement of this Funding Loan Agreement; and the Issuer, for itself and all who may 

claim under it, so far as it or they now or hereafter may lawfully do so, hereby waives 

the benefit of all such laws.  The Issuer, for itself and all who may claim under it, waives, 

to the extent that it may lawfully do so, all right to have the property in the Security 

marshaled upon any enforcement hereof. 

(b) If any law now in effect prohibiting the waiver referred to in Section 

9.11(a), shall hereafter be repealed or cease to be in force, such law shall not thereafter be 

deemed to constitute any part of the contract herein contained or to preclude the 

application of this Section 9.11. 

Section 9.12. Suits to Protect the Security.  The Funding Lender shall have power to 

institute and to maintain such proceedings as it may deem expedient to prevent any 

impairment of the Security by any acts that may be unlawful or in violation of this Funding 

Loan Agreement and to protect its interests in the Security and in the rents, issues, profits, 

revenues and other income arising therefrom, including power to institute and maintain 

proceedings to restrain the enforcement of or compliance with any Governmental enactment, 

rule or order that may be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, if the enforcement of or 

compliance with such enactment, rule or order would impair the security hereunder or be 

prejudicial to the interests of the Funding Lender. 

Section 9.13. Remedies Subject to Applicable Law.  All rights, remedies and 

powers provided by this Article may be exercised only to the extent that the exercise thereof 

does not violate any applicable provision of law in the premises, and all the provisions of this 

Article are intended to be subject to all applicable mandatory provisions of law which may be 

controlling in the premises and to be limited to the extent necessary so that they will not render 

this Funding Loan Agreement invalid, unenforceable or not entitled to be recorded, registered 

or filed under the provisions of any applicable law. 

Section 9.14. Assumption of Obligations.  If the Funding Lender or its assignee or 

designee shall become the legal or beneficial owner of the Project by foreclosure or deed in lieu 

of foreclosure, such party shall succeed to the rights and the obligations of the Borrower under 

the Borrower Loan Agreement, the Borrower Note, the Regulatory Agreement, the Tax 

Agreement and any other Funding Loan Documents to which the Borrower is a party.  Such 

assumption shall be effective from and after the effective date of such acquisition and shall be 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

made with the benefit of the limitations of liability set forth therein and without any liability for 

the prior acts of the Borrower. 

It is the intention of the parties hereto that upon the occurrence and continuance of an 

Event of Default hereunder, rights and remedies may be pursued pursuant to the terms of the 

Funding Loan Documents. 

ARTICLE X 

AMENDMENT; AMENDMENT OF FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT 

AND OTHER DOCUMENTS 

Section 10.1. Amendment of Funding Loan Agreement.  Any of the terms of this 

Funding Loan Agreement and the Bonds may be amended or waived only by an instrument 

signed by the Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer; provided, however, no such 

amendment which materially affects the rights, duties, obligations or other interests of the 

Borrower shall be made without the consent of the Borrower, and, provided further, that if the 

Borrower is in default under any Funding Loan Document, no Borrower consent shall be 

required unless such amendment has a material adverse effect on the rights, duties, obligations 

or other interests of the Borrower.  All of the terms of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be 

binding upon the successors and assigns of and all persons claiming under or through the 

Issuer, the Fiscal Agent or any such successor or assign, and shall inure to the benefit of and be 

enforceable by the successors and assigns of the Funding Lender and the Fiscal Agent. 

Section 10.2. Amendments Require Funding Lender Consent.  Neither the Issuer 

nor the Fiscal Agent shall consent to any amendment, change or modification of the Borrower 

Loan Agreement or any other Borrower Loan Document or Funding Loan Document without 

the prior Written Consent of the Funding Lender. 

Section 10.3. Consents and Opinions.  No amendment to this Funding Loan 

Agreement or any other Funding Loan Document entered into under this Article X or any 

amendment, change or modification otherwise permitted under this Article X shall become 

effective unless and until (i) the Funding Lender shall have approved the same in writing in its 

sole discretion and (ii) the Funding Lender, the Issuer and the Fiscal Agent shall have received, 

at the expense of the Borrower, a Tax Counsel No Adverse Effect Opinion and an Opinion of 

Counsel to the effect that any such proposed amendment is authorized and complies with the 

provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement and is a legal, valid and binding obligation of the 

parties thereto, subject to normal exceptions relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and equitable 

principles limitations. 

ARTICLE XI 

THE FISCAL AGENT 

Section 11.1. Appointment of Fiscal Agent; Acceptance.  The Issuer hereby 

appoints U.S. Bank National Association as Fiscal Agent hereunder.  The Fiscal Agent shall 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

signify its acceptance of the duties and obligations imposed upon it by this Funding Loan 

Agreement by executing this Funding Loan Agreement. 

Section 11.2. Certain Duties and Responsibilities of Fiscal Agent. 

(a) The Fiscal Agent undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties 

as are specifically set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement, and no implied covenants 

or obligations shall be read into this Funding Loan Agreement against the Fiscal Agent. 

(b) If an event of default exists hereunder or under any Borrower Loan 

Document of which Fiscal Agent has been provided Written Notice, the Fiscal Agent 

shall exercise such of the rights and powers vested in it by this Funding Loan 

Agreement, and subject to Section 11.2(c)(iii) hereof, use the same degree of care and skill 

in their exercise, as a prudent corporate trust officer would exercise or use under the 

circumstances in the conduct of corporate trust business.  The Fiscal Agent, prior to the 

occurrence of an event of default and after the curing of all events of default which may 

have occurred, undertakes to perform such duties and only such duties as are 

specifically set forth in this Funding Loan Agreement, and no implied covenants or 

obligations should be read into this Funding Loan Agreement against the Fiscal Agent. 

(i) The Fiscal Agent may consult with counsel, and the advice of such 

counsel or any Opinion of Counsel shall be full and complete authorization and 

protection in respect of any action taken, suffered or omitted by the Fiscal Agent 

hereunder in good faith and in reliance thereon. 

(ii) The Fiscal Agent shall not be accountable for the use or 

application by the obligor of the Bonds or the proceeds thereof or for the use or 

application of any money paid over by the Fiscal Agent in accordance with the 

provisions of this Funding Loan Agreement or for the use and application of 

money received by any paying agent. 

(iii) The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for any loss, expense or 

liability incurred as a result of such investment made in accordance with 

directions of the Borrower or the Issuer, as applicable. 

(c) No provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be construed to 

relieve the Fiscal Agent from liability for its own negligent action, its own negligent 

failure to act, or its own willful misconduct, in each case, as finally adjudicated by a 

court of law, except that: 

(i) This subsection shall not be construed to limit the effect of 

subsection (a) of this Section; 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(ii) The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for any error of judgment 

made in good faith, unless it shall be proved that the Fiscal Agent was negligent 

in ascertaining the pertinent facts; 

(iii) The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable with respect to any action 

taken or omitted to be taken by it in accordance with the direction of the Funding 

Lender relating to the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding for 

any remedy available to the Fiscal Agent, or exercising any trust or power 

conferred upon the Fiscal Agent under this Funding Loan Agreement; and 

(iv) No provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall require the 

Fiscal Agent to expend or risk its own funds or otherwise incur any financial 

liability in the performance of any of its duties hereunder, or in the exercise of any 

of its rights or powers, if it shall have reasonable grounds for believing that 

repayment of such funds or adequate indemnity against such risk or liability is 

not assured to it in its sole discretion. 

Subject to its rights to indemnification pursuant to Section 11.4 hereof, the Fiscal Agent 

is directed to enter into the Borrower Loan Documents to which it is a party and other related 

documents, solely in its capacity as Fiscal Agent. 

(d) Whether or not therein expressly so provided, every provision of this 

Funding Loan Agreement and the other Funding Loan Documents relating to the 

conduct or affecting the liability of or affording protection to the Fiscal Agent shall be 

subject to the provisions of this Section. 

(e) The Fiscal Agent may conclusively rely, as to the truth of the statements 

and the correctness of the opinions expressed therein, upon certificates or opinions 

furnished to the Fiscal Agent and conforming to the requirements of this Funding Loan 

Agreement; but in the case of any such certificates or opinions which by any provision 

hereof are specifically required to be furnished to the Fiscal Agent, the Fiscal Agent shall 

be under a duty to examine the same to determine whether or not they conform to the 

requirements of this Funding Loan Agreement. 

(f) The permissive rights of the Fiscal Agent to do things enumerated in this 

Funding Loan Agreement shall not be construed as a duty. 

(g) The rights of the Fiscal Agent and limitations of liability enumerated 

herein and in Section 11.4 shall extend to actions taken or omitted in its role as assignee 

of the Issuer under the Borrower Loan Agreement and the other Funding Loan 

Documents. 

(h) In connection with the issuance of the Bonds, certain moneys will be 

deposited with the Fiscal Agent before the closing date pursuant to one or more letters of 

instruction from the provider or providers of such money.  Such moneys will be held by 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

the Fiscal Agent subject to the terms and conditions of this Funding Loan Agreement in 

addition to terms provided in such letter(s) of instruction.  For such purpose the 

standards of care, provisions regarding responsibilities and indemnification and other 

sections relating to the Fiscal Agent contained in this Funding Loan Agreement and the 

Borrower Loan Agreement (the “Effective Provisions”) shall be effective as of the first 

day of receipt by the Fiscal Agent of such moneys.  The Effective Provisions shall be 

deemed incorporated into such letter(s) of instructions. 

Section 11.3. Notice of Defaults.  Upon the occurrence of any default hereunder or 

under any Borrower Loan Document and provided that a Responsible Officer of the Fiscal 

Agent is aware of or has received Written Notice of the existence of such default, promptly, and 

in any event within 15 days, the Fiscal Agent shall transmit to the Issuer, the Borrower, the 

Equity Investor, the Issuer Servicer, the Servicer, if any, and the Funding Lender, in the manner 

and at the addresses for notices set forth in Section 12.1 hereof, notice of such default hereunder 

known to the Fiscal Agent pursuant to Section 11.4(g) hereof, unless such default shall have 

been cured or waived. 

Section 11.4. Certain Rights of Fiscal Agent.  Except as otherwise provided in 

Section 11.1 hereof: 

(a) The Fiscal Agent may rely and shall be protected in acting or refraining 

from acting upon any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, report, 

notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, note, debenture, coupon or other paper 

or document believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or presented by the 

purported proper party or parties; 

(b) Any request or direction of the Issuer mentioned herein shall be 

sufficiently evidenced by a certificate or order executed by an Authorized Issuer 

Representative; 

(c) Whenever in the administration of this Funding Loan Agreement or any 

Borrower Loan Document the Fiscal Agent shall deem it desirable that a matter be 

proved or established prior to taking, suffering or omitting any action hereunder, the 

Fiscal Agent (unless other evidence be herein specifically prescribed) may, in the absence 

of bad faith on its part, rely upon a Written Certificate of the Issuer, the Funding Lender, 

the Servicer or the Borrower, as appropriate; 

(d) The Fiscal Agent shall be under no obligation to exercise any of the rights 

or powers vested in it by this Funding Loan Agreement or any Borrower Loan 

Document at the request or direction of the Funding Lender, pursuant to this Funding 

Loan Agreement, unless the Funding Lender shall have offered to the Fiscal Agent in 

writing security or indemnity reasonably satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent against the 

costs, expenses and liabilities which might be incurred by it in compliance with such 

request or direction, except costs, expenses and liabilities which are adjudicated to have 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

resulted from its own negligence or willful misconduct, provided, that nothing 

contained in this subparagraph (d) shall be construed to require such security or 

indemnity for the performance by the Fiscal Agent of its obligations under Section 8.6 

hereof; 

(e) The Fiscal Agent shall not be bound to make any investigation into the 

facts or matters stated in any resolution, certificate, statement, instrument, opinion, 

report, notice, request, direction, consent, order, bond, note, debenture, coupon or other 

paper or document but the Fiscal Agent, in its discretion, may make such further inquiry 

or investigation into such facts or matters as it may see fit, and, if the Fiscal Agent shall 

determine to make such further inquiry or investigation, it shall be entitled to examine 

the books and records of the Issuer, if any, and of the Borrower, in either case personally 

or by agent or attorney after reasonable notice and during normal business hours; 

(f) The Fiscal Agent may execute any of the trusts or powers hereunder or 

perform any duties hereunder either directly or by or through agents or attorneys and 

pay reasonable compensation thereto and the Fiscal Agent shall not be responsible for 

any misconduct or negligence on the part of any agent or attorney appointed with due 

care by it hereunder.  The Fiscal Agent may act upon the advice of counsel of its choice 

concerning all matters hereof and the Fiscal Agent shall not be responsible for any loss or 

damage resulting from any action or inaction taken in good faith reliance upon said 

advice; and 

(g) The Fiscal Agent shall not be required to take notice or be deemed to have 

notice of any default hereunder or under any Borrower Loan Document except for 

failure by the Borrower to make payments of principal, interest, premium, if any, or the 

Issuer Fee when due, unless a Responsible Officer of the Fiscal Agent shall be specifically 

notified by a Written Direction of such default by the Issuer, the Servicer or the Funding 

Lender, and all notices or other instruments required by this Funding Loan Agreement 

or under any Borrower Loan Document to be delivered to the Fiscal Agent, must, in 

order to be effective, be delivered in writing to a Responsible Officer of the Fiscal Agent 

at the Office of the Fiscal Agent, and in the absence of such Written Notice so delivered 

the Fiscal Agent may conclusively assume there is no default as aforesaid. 

Section 11.5. Not Responsible for Recitals.  The recitals contained herein and in the 

Bonds shall be taken as the statements of the Issuer, and the Fiscal Agent assumes no 

responsibility for their correctness.  The Fiscal Agent makes no representations as to the value 

or condition of the Pledged Revenues, the Security or any part thereof, or as to the title of the 

Issuer thereto or as to the security afforded thereby or hereby, or as to the validity or sufficiency 

of this Funding Loan Agreement or of the Bonds. 

The Fiscal Agent shall have no responsibility or liability with respect to any information, 

statement or recital in any offering memorandum or other disclosure material prepared or 

distributed with respect to the funding of the Funding Loan. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

The Fiscal Agent shall not be required to monitor the financial condition of the Borrower 

or the physical condition of the Project.  Unless otherwise expressly provided, the Fiscal Agent 

shall be under no obligation to analyze, review or make any credit decisions with respect to any 

financial statements, reports, notices, certificates or documents received hereunder but shall 

hold such financial statements reports, notices, certificates and documents solely for the benefit 

of, and review by, the Funding Lender and such other parties to whom the Fiscal Agent may 

provide such information pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement.  The Fiscal Agent shall not 

be deemed to have notice of any information contained therein or event of default which may 

be disclosed therein in any manner. 

The Fiscal Agent makes no representations as to and shall have no responsibility for the 

sufficiency of the insurance required under any of the Borrower Loan Documents. 

Section 11.6. May Hold Bonds.  The Fiscal Agent in its individual or any other 

capacity may become the owner or pledgee of the Bonds and may otherwise deal with the 

Issuer, the Funding Lender and the Borrower with the same rights it would have if it were not 

Fiscal Agent. 

Section 11.7. Moneys Held in Trust.  Moneys held by the Fiscal Agent in trust 

hereunder need not be segregated from other funds except to the extent required by law.  The 

Fiscal Agent shall be under no liability for interest on any moneys received by it hereunder 

except as otherwise provided herein. 

Section 11.8. Compensation and Reimbursement.  Under the Borrower Loan 

Agreement, the Borrower has agreed to, except as otherwise expressly provided herein, 

reimburse the Fiscal Agent as provided in this Funding Loan Agreement or the Borrower Loan 

Agreement, upon its request for all reasonable expenses, disbursements and advances incurred 

or made by the Fiscal Agent in accordance with any provision of this Funding Loan Agreement 

(including the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of its agents and counsel), except 

any such expense, disbursement or advance as may be attributable to the Fiscal Agent’s 

negligence or willful misconduct, both as finally adjudicated by a court of law. 

When the Fiscal Agent incurs expenses or renders service in connection with any 

bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, such expenses (including the fees and expenses of its 

counsel) and the compensation for such services are intended to constitute expenses of 

administration under any bankruptcy law or law relating to creditors rights generally. 

(a) The Issuer has no obligation to pay the Fiscal Agent for services rendered. 

(b) As security for the performance of the obligations of the Borrower under 

this Section and for the payment of such compensation, expenses, reimbursements and 

indemnity, the Fiscal Agent shall have the right to use and apply any moneys held by it 

as Pledged Revenues. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

(c) The Fiscal Agent’s rights to compensation and reimbursement shall 

survive its resignation or removal, the payment of the Funding Loan or the Borrower 

Loan or the release of this Funding Loan Agreement. 

Section 11.9. Fiscal Agent Required; Eligibility.  Any successor Fiscal Agent shall 

at all times be a trust company, a state banking corporation or a national banking association 

with the authority to accept trusts in the State approved in writing by the Issuer and either (a) 

have a combined capital and surplus of at least $50,000,000 as set forth in its most recent 

published annual report of condition, (b) be a wholly owned subsidiary of a bank holding 

company, or a wholly owned subsidiary of a company that is a wholly owned subsidiary of a 

bank holding company, having a combined capital surplus of at least $50,000,000 as set forth in 

its most recent published annual report of condition, have at least $500,000,000 of trust assets 

under management and have a combined capital surplus of at least $2,000,000 as set forth in its 

most recent published annual report of condition, or (c) be otherwise acceptable to the Funding 

Lender in its sole and absolute discretion. 

Section 11.10. Resignation and Removal; Appointment of Successor. 

(a) No resignation or removal of the Fiscal Agent hereunder and no 

appointment of a successor Fiscal Agent pursuant to this Article shall become effective 

until the written acceptance by the successor Fiscal Agent of such appointment. 

(b) The Fiscal Agent may resign at any time by giving 60 days’ Written 

Notice thereof to the Issuer, the Borrower, the Servicer, if any, and the Funding Lender.  

If an instrument of acceptance by a successor Fiscal Agent shall not have been delivered 

to the Fiscal Agent within 30 days after the giving of such notice of resignation, the 

resigning Fiscal Agent may petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the 

appointment of a successor Fiscal Agent. 

(c) The Fiscal Agent may be removed at any time with 30 days’ notice by 

(i) the Issuer, with the Written Consent of the Funding Lender, (ii) the Borrower (unless 

the Borrower is in default under any of the Borrower Loan Documents), with the Written 

Consent of the Funding Lender and the Issuer, or (iii) the Funding Lender by Written 

Notice delivered to the Fiscal Agent, the Issuer and the Borrower. 

(d) If the Fiscal Agent shall resign, be removed or become incapable of 

acting, or if a vacancy shall occur in the Office of the Fiscal Agent for any cause, the 

Issuer shall promptly appoint a successor Fiscal Agent, with the consent of the Funding 

Lender.  In case all or substantially all of the Pledged Revenues and Security shall be in 

the possession of a receiver or trustee lawfully appointed, such receiver or trustee may 

similarly appoint a successor to fill such vacancy until a new Fiscal Agent shall be so 

appointed by the Issuer.  If, within 60 days after such resignation, removal or 

incapability or the occurrence of such vacancy, the Issuer has failed to so appoint a 

successor Fiscal Agent, then a successor Fiscal Agent shall be appointed by the Funding 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

Lender (from any institution acceptable to the Issuer to serve as a fiscal agent or trustee) 

with Written Notice thereof delivered to the Issuer, the Borrower, the Servicer, if any, 

and the retiring Fiscal Agent, and the successor Fiscal Agent so appointed shall, 

forthwith upon its acceptance of such appointment, become the successor Fiscal Agent 

and supersede the successor Fiscal Agent appointed by such receiver or Fiscal Agent.  If 

no successor Fiscal Agent shall have been appointed by the Issuer or the Funding Lender 

and accepted appointment in the manner hereinafter provided, the Fiscal Agent may 

petition any court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Fiscal 

Agent. 

(e) The retiring Fiscal Agent shall cause Written Notice of each resignation 

and each removal of the Fiscal Agent and each appointment of a successor Fiscal Agent 

to be provided to the Funding Lender.  Each notice shall include the name of the 

successor Fiscal Agent and the address of the office of the successor Fiscal Agent. 

Section 11.11. Acceptance of Appointment by Successor. 

(a) Every successor Fiscal Agent appointed hereunder shall execute, 

acknowledge and deliver to the Issuer and to the retiring Fiscal Agent an instrument 

accepting such appointment, and thereupon the resignation or removal of the retiring 

Fiscal Agent shall become effective and such successor Fiscal Agent, without any further 

act, deed or conveyance, shall become vested with all the estates, properties, rights, 

powers, trusts and duties of the retiring Fiscal Agent; notwithstanding the foregoing, on 

request of the Issuer or the successor Fiscal Agent, such retiring Fiscal Agent shall, upon 

payment of its charges, execute and deliver an instrument conveying and transferring to 

such successor Fiscal Agent upon the trusts herein expressed all the estates, properties, 

rights, powers and trusts of the retiring Fiscal Agent, and shall duly assign, transfer and 

deliver to such successor Fiscal Agent all property and money held by such retiring 

Fiscal Agent hereunder.  Upon request of any such successor Fiscal Agent, the Issuer 

shall execute any and all instruments for more fully and certainly vesting in and 

confirming to such successor Fiscal Agent all such estates, properties, rights, powers and 

trusts. 

(b) No successor Fiscal Agent shall accept its appointment unless at the time 

of such acceptance such successor Fiscal Agent shall be qualified and eligible under this 

Article, to the extent operative. 

Section 11.12. Merger, Conversion, Consolidation or Succession to Business.  Any 

corporation into which the Fiscal Agent may be merged or with which it may be consolidated, 

or any corporation resulting from any merger, conversion or consolidation to which the Fiscal 

Agent shall be a party, or any corporation succeeding to all or substantially all of the corporate 

trust business of the Fiscal Agent, shall be the successor of the Fiscal Agent hereunder, provided 

such corporation shall be otherwise qualified and eligible under this Article, to the extent 

operative, without the execution or filing of any paper or any further act on the part of any of 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

the parties hereto.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any such successor Fiscal Agent shall cause 

Written Notice of such succession to be delivered to the Funding Lender within 30 days of such 

succession.   

Section 11.13. Appointment of Co-Fiscal Agent.  It is the purpose of this Funding 

Loan Agreement that there shall be no violation of any laws of any jurisdiction (including 

particularly the laws of the State) denying or restricting the right of banking corporations or 

associations to transact business as Fiscal Agent in such jurisdiction.  It is recognized that in case 

of litigation under this Funding Loan Agreement, the Borrower Loan Agreement, any other 

Borrower Loan Document or the Regulatory Agreement, and in particular in case of the 

enforcement of any of them on default, or in case the Fiscal Agent deems that by reason of any 

present or future law of any jurisdiction it may not exercise any of the powers, rights or 

remedies herein granted to the Fiscal Agent or hold title to the properties, in trust, as herein 

provided, or take any other action which may be desirable or necessary in connection therewith, 

it may be necessary that the Fiscal Agent appoint an additional individual or institution as a 

separate or co-fiscal agent.  The following provisions of this Section are adopted to these ends. 

The Fiscal Agent is hereby authorized to appoint an additional individual or institution 

as a separate or co-fiscal agent hereunder, upon Written Notice to the Issuer, the Funding 

Lender and the Borrower, and with the consent of the Issuer and the Funding Lender, but 

without the necessity of further authorization or consent, in which event each and every 

remedy, power, right, claim, demand, cause of action, immunity, estate, title, interest and lien 

expressed or intended by this Funding Loan Agreement, any Borrower Loan Document, the 

Regulatory Agreement or the Borrower Loan Agreement to be exercised by or vested in or 

conveyed to the Fiscal Agent with respect thereto shall be exercisable by and vest in such 

separate or co-fiscal agent but only to the extent necessary to exercise such powers, rights and 

remedies, and every covenant and obligation necessary to the exercise thereof by such separate 

or co-fiscal agent shall run to and be enforceable by either of them. 

Should any instrument in writing from the Issuer be required by the separate fiscal 

agent or co-fiscal agent appointed by the Fiscal Agent for more fully and certainly vesting in 

and confirming to him or it such properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations, any 

and all such instruments in writing shall, on request of the Fiscal Agent, be executed, 

acknowledged and delivered by the Issuer.  In case any separate fiscal agent or co Fiscal Agent, 

or a successor to either, shall die, become incapable of acting, resign or be removed, all the 

estates, properties, rights, powers, trusts, duties and obligations of such separate fiscal agent or 

co-fiscal agent, so far as permitted by law, shall vest in and be exercised by the Fiscal Agent 

until the appointment of a successor to such separate fiscal agent or co-fiscal agent. 

Section 11.14. Loan Servicing.  The Issuer and the Fiscal Agent acknowledge that the 

Funding Lender shall have the right to appoint a Servicer to service and administer the Funding 

Loan and Borrower Loan, as set forth in a Servicing Agreement.  The Funding Lender shall 

provide Written Notice to the Fiscal Agent of the appointment, termination or replacement of 

any Servicer.  The Issuer and the Fiscal Agent shall not be responsible for monitoring the 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

performance of any Servicer or for any acts or omissions of such Servicer.  The Funding Lender 

may, in its sole discretion, terminate or replace the Servicer. 

Section 11.15. No Recourse Against Officers or Employees of Fiscal Agent.  No 

recourse with respect to any claim related to any obligation, duty or agreement contained in this 

Funding Loan Agreement or any other Funding Loan Document shall be had against any officer 

or employee, as such, of the Fiscal Agent, it being expressly understood that the obligations, 

duties and agreements of the Fiscal Agent contained in this Funding Loan Agreement and the 

other Funding Loan Documents are solely corporate in nature. 

Section 11.16. USA Patriot Act Requirements of the Fiscal Agent.  To help the 

government of the United States of America fight the funding of terrorism and money 

laundering activities, federal law requires all financial institutions to obtain, verify, and record 

information that identifies each person who opens an account.  For a non-individual person 

such as a business entity, a charity, a trust, or other legal entity, the Fiscal Agent may request 

documentation to verify such person’s formation and existence as a legal entity and the identity 

of the owners or controlling persons thereof.  The Fiscal Agent may also request financial 

statements, licenses, identification and authorization documents from individuals claiming 

authority to represent such person or other relevant documentation. 

ARTICLE XII 

MISCELLANEOUS 

Section 12.1. Notices.  All notices, demands, requests and other communications 

required or permitted to be given by any provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall be in 

writing and sent by first class, regular, registered or certified mail, commercial delivery service, 

overnight courier, telegraph, telex, telecopier or facsimile transmission, air or other courier, or 

hand delivery to the party to be notified addressed as follows: 

 

If to the Borrower:   Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 

2905 Northwest Boulevard #150 

Plymouth, Minnesota  55441 

Attention:  Mark S. Moorhouse and Owen C. Metz  

 

with a copy to:  Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A.  

    225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3500 

    Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402-4629 

Attention:  John D. Nolde 

 

If to the Equity Investor:  Aegon Asset Management 

230 West Monroe Street, Suite 1150 

Chicago, Illinois  60606 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

with a copy to:  ________________________ 

________________________ 

________________________ 

 

If to the Issuer: City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 

1301 81st Avenue Northeast 

Spring Lake Park, Minnesota  55432 

Attention:  City Administrator 

 

 with a  copy to:  Eckberg Lammers, P.C. 

     1809 Northwestern Avenue 

     Stillwater, Minnesota  55082 

     Attention:  Andrew J. Pratt 

 

If to Funding Lender:   CitiBank, N.A. 

     798 South Federal Highway, Suite 150 

     Boca Raton, Florida  33432 

     Attention:  Barry Krinsky, Director 

     Re: Legends of Spring Lake Park ID No. ________ 

     Facsimile: (954) 734-8646 

 

 and a copy to:  Citi Community Capital 

Greenwich Street Community Capital, LLC 

227 West Monroe Street, 25th Floor 

Chicago, Illinois  60606 

Attention:  Janet A. Micheletto, Vice President 

Re: Legends of Spring Lake Park ID No. ________ 

 

And if prior to the:  _______________________ 

Conversion Date:  _______________________ 

    _______________________ 

Attention:  _______________________ 

Re:  Legends of Spring Lake Park ID No. ________ 

 

And if following the  ________________________ 

Conversion Date:  ________________________ 

    ________________________ 

    Attention:  ________________________ 

Re:  Legends of Spring Lake Park ID No. _________ 

 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

 And a copy of any notices ______________________ 

 of default sent to: ______________________ 

______________________ 

______________________ 

Attention: _________________________  

Re:  Legends of Spring Lake Park ID No. _____ 

Facsimile:  __________________ 

 

If to Fiscal Agent:   U.S. Bank National Association 

     60 Livingston Avenue, 3rd Floor 

     EP-MN-WS3C 

     Saint Paul, Minnesota  55107-2292 

Attention: Dan Sheff, Vice President 

Facsimile: (651- 466-7430 

 

 with a  copy to:  Barnes & Thornburg LLP 

     225 South Sixth Street, Suite 2800 

     Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402-4662 

     Attention:  Benjamin W. Johnson 

 

Any such notice, demand, request or communication shall be deemed to have been 

given and received for all purposes under this Funding Loan Agreement:  (i) three Business 

Days after the same is deposited in any official depository or receptacle of the United States 

Postal Service first class, or, if applicable, certified mail, return receipt requested, postage 

prepaid; (ii) on the date of transmission when delivered by telecopier or facsimile transmission, 

telex, telegraph or other telecommunication device, provided any telecopy or other electronic 

transmission received by any party after 4:00 p.m., local time, as evidenced by the time shown 

on such transmission, shall be deemed to have been received the following Business Day; (iii) 

on the next Business Day after the same is deposited with a nationally recognized overnight 

delivery service that guarantees overnight delivery; and (iv) on the date of actual delivery to 

such party by any other means; provided, however, if the day such notice, demand, request or 

communication shall be deemed to have been given and received as aforesaid is not a Business 

Day, such notice, demand, request or communication shall be deemed to have been given and 

received on the next Business Day.  Any facsimile signature by a Person on a document, notice, 

demand, request or communication required or permitted by this Funding Loan Agreement 

shall constitute a legal, valid and binding execution thereof by such Person. 

Any party to this Funding Loan Agreement may change such party’s address for the 

purpose of notice, demands, requests and communications required or permitted under this 

Funding Loan Agreement by providing written notice of such change of address to all of the 

parties by written notice as provided herein. 

Section 12.2. Term of Funding Loan Agreement.  This Funding Loan Agreement 

shall be in full force and effect until all payment obligations of the Issuer hereunder have been 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

paid in full and the Funding Loan has been retired or the payment thereof has been provided 

for; except that on and after payment in full of the Bonds, this Funding Loan Agreement shall be 

terminated, without further action by the parties hereto. 

Section 12.3. Successors and Assigns.  All covenants and agreements in this 

Funding Loan Agreement by the Issuer shall bind its successors and assigns, whether so 

expressed or not. 

Section 12.4. Legal Holidays.  In any case in which the date of payment of any 

amount due hereunder or the date on which any other act is to be performed pursuant to this 

Funding Loan Agreement shall be a day that is not a Business Day, then payment of such 

amount or such act need not be made on such date but may be made on the next succeeding 

Business Day, and such later payment or such act shall have the same force and effect as if made 

on the date of payment or the date fixed for prepayment or the date fixed for such act, and no 

additional interest shall accrue for the period after such date and prior to the date of payment. 

Section 12.5. Governing Law.  This Funding Loan Agreement shall be governed by 

and shall be enforceable in accordance with the laws of the State. 

Section 12.6. Severability.  If any provision of this Funding Loan Agreement shall 

be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining 

portions shall not in any way be affected or impaired.  In case any covenant, stipulation, 

obligation or agreement contained in the Bonds or in this Funding Loan Agreement shall for 

any reason be held to be usurious or in violation of law, then such covenant, stipulation, 

obligation or agreement shall be deemed to be the covenant, stipulation, obligation or 

agreement of the Issuer or the Funding Lender only to the full extent permitted by law. 

Section 12.7. Execution in Several Counterparts.  This Funding Loan Agreement 

may be contemporaneously executed in several counterparts, all of which shall constitute one 

and the same instrument and each of which shall be, and shall be deemed to be, an original. 

Section 12.8. Nonrecourse Obligation of the Borrower.  Except as otherwise 

provided in the Borrower Loan Agreement, any obligations of the Borrower under this Funding 

Loan Agreement are without recourse to the Borrower or to the Borrower’s partners or 

members, as the case may be, and the provisions of Section 11.1 of the Borrower Loan 

Agreement are by this reference incorporated herein. 

Section 12.9. Waiver of Trial by Jury.  TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED 

UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO (A) COVENANTS AND 

AGREES NOT TO ELECT A TRIAL BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO ANY ISSUE ARISING OUT 

OF THIS FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT OR THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE 

PARTIES THAT IS TRIABLE OF RIGHT BY A JURY AND (B) WAIVES ANY RIGHT TO TRIAL 

BY JURY WITH RESPECT TO SUCH ISSUE TO THE EXTENT THAT ANY SUCH RIGHT 

EXISTS NOW OR IN THE FUTURE.  THIS WAIVER OF RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IS 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

SEPARATELY GIVEN BY EACH PARTY, KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WITH THE 

BENEFIT OF COMPETENT LEGAL COUNSEL. 

Section 12.10. Electronic Transactions.   

(a) The transactions described in this Funding Loan Agreement may be 

conducted and related documents and may be stored by electronic means.  Copies, 

telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed 

documents shall be deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original 

documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the 

appropriate court of law. 

(b) For purposes of this subsection (b) of this Section, the Fiscal Agent shall 

have the right to accept and act upon instructions, including funds transfer instructions 

(“Instructions”) given pursuant to this Funding Loan Agreement and delivered using 

Electronic Means; provided, however, that Borrower, the Issuer or and such other party 

giving such instruction (the “Sender”) shall provide to the Fiscal Agent an incumbency 

certificate listing officers with the authority to provide such Instructions (“Authorized 

Officers”) and containing specimen signatures of such Authorized Officers, which 

incumbency certificate shall be amended by the Sender whenever a person is to be added 

or deleted from the listing.  “Electronic Means” shall mean the following 

communications methods: S.W.I.F.T., e-mail, facsimile transmission, secure electronic 

transmission containing applicable authorization codes, passwords and/or 

authentication keys issued by the Fiscal Agent, or another method or system specified by 

the Fiscal Agent as available for use in connection with its services hereunder.  If the 

Sender elects to give the Fiscal Agent Instructions using Electronic Means and the Fiscal 

Agent in its discretion elects to act upon such Instructions, the Fiscal Agent’s 

understanding of such Instructions shall be deemed controlling.  The Borrower, the 

Issuer and any other Sender understand and agree that the Fiscal Agent cannot 

determine the identity of the actual sender of such Instructions and that the Fiscal Agent 

shall conclusively presume that directions that purport to have been sent by an 

Authorized Officer listed on the incumbency certificate provided to the Fiscal Agent 

have been sent by such Authorized Officer.  Each Sender shall be responsible for 

ensuring that only Authorized Officers transmit such Instructions to the Fiscal Agent 

and that the Sender and all Authorized Officers are solely responsible to safeguard the 

use and confidentiality of applicable user and authorization codes, passwords and/or 

authentication keys upon receipt by the Sender.  The Fiscal Agent shall not be liable for 

any losses, costs or expenses arising directly or indirectly from the Fiscal Agent’s reliance 

upon and compliance with such Instructions notwithstanding such directions conflict or 

are inconsistent with a subsequent written instruction.  The Borrower agrees: (i) to 

assume all risks arising out of the use of Electronic Means to submit Instructions to the 

Fiscal Agent, including without limitation the risk of the Fiscal Agent acting on 

unauthorized Instructions, and the risk of interception and misuse by third parties; 

(ii) that it is fully informed of the protections and risks associated with the various 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

methods of transmitting Instructions to the Fiscal Agent and that there may be more 

secure methods of transmitting Instructions than the method(s) selected by the Borrower 

for use by the Borrower, the Issuer and the other parties who may give instructions to 

the Fiscal Agent under this Funding Loan Agreement; (iii) that the security procedures 

(if any) to be followed in connection with its transmission of Instructions provide to it a 

commercially reasonable degree of protection in light of its particular needs and 

circumstances; and (iv) to notify the Fiscal Agent immediately upon learning of any 

compromise or unauthorized use of the security procedures.  

Section 12.11. Reference Date.  This Funding Loan Agreement is dated for reference 

purposes only as of the first day of July 1, 2017. 

 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Funding Lender, the Fiscal Agent and the Issuer have 

caused this Funding Loan Agreement to be duly executed as of the date first written above. 

CITIBANK, N.A., as Funding Lender 

 

 

 

By:   

Name:  Barry Krinsky  

     Authorized Signatory 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as 

Fiscal Agent 

 

 

 

By:   

Name:  Dan Sheff 

Title:  Vice President 

  



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

ISSUER: 

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, 

MINNESOTA, as the Issuer 

 

 

 

By:   

 Cindy Hansen, Mayor 

(SEAL) 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

 

      

Daniel Buchholtz, City Administrator 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

EXHIBIT A 

 

FORM OF BOND 

THIS BOND MAY BE OWNED ONLY BY AN APPROVED TRANSFEREE IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE FUNDING LOAN AGREEMENT, AND THE 

HOLDER HEREOF, BY THE ACCEPTANCE OF THIS BOND (A) REPRESENTS THAT IT IS 

A PERMITTED TRANSFEREE AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT CAN ONLY 

TRANSFER THIS BOND OR ANY INTEREST HEREIN TO ANOTHER APPROVED 

TRANSFEREE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE TERMS OF THE FUNDING LOAN 

AGREEMENT. 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, MINNESOTA 

MULTIFAMILY HOUSING REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2017 

(LEGENDS OF SPRING LAKE PARK) 

 

$______________ Date of Issuance: July ____, 2017 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota (the “Obligor”), 

promises to pay to the order of CITIBANK, N.A. (“Holder”) the maximum principal sum of 

[_________________________] ($[______________]) on ____________ 1, 20____, or earlier as 

provided herein, together with interest thereon at the rates, at the times and in the amounts 

provided below. 

Obligor shall pay to the Holder on or before each date on which payment is due under 

the Funding Loan Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2017 (the “Funding Loan Agreement”), among 

Obligor, U.S. Bank National Association, as fiscal agent (the “Fiscal Agent”), and Holder, an 

amount in immediately available funds sufficient to pay the principal amount of and 

Prepayment Premium, if any, on this Bond then due and payable, whether by maturity, 

acceleration, prepayment or otherwise.  In the event that amounts held derived from proceeds 

of the Borrower Loan, condemnation awards or insurance proceeds or investment earnings 

thereon are applied to the payment of principal due on the Funding Loan in accordance with 

the Funding Loan Agreement, the principal amount due hereunder shall be reduced to the 

extent of the principal amount of Funding Loan so paid.  Capitalized terms not otherwise 

defined herein shall have the meaning assigned in the Funding Loan Agreement. 

Obligor shall pay to the Holder on or before each date on which interest on the Funding 

Loan is payable interest on the unpaid balance hereof in an amount in immediately available 

funds sufficient to pay the interest on the Funding Loan then due and payable in the amounts 

and at the rate or rates set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement. 

This Bond is a conduit revenue obligation relating to a portion of a loan (the “Borrower 

Loan”) made by Obligor from a portion of the proceeds of the Funding Loan to SPRING LAKE 

PARK LEASED HOUSING ASSOCIATES I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limited 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

partnership, as borrower (the “Borrower”), under the Borrower Loan Agreement, dated as of 

July 1, 2017 (as the same may be modified, amended or supplemented from time to time, the 

“Borrower Loan Agreement”), between the Obligor and the Borrower, evidenced by the 

Borrower Note (as defined in the Borrower Loan Agreement).  Reference is made to the 

Borrower Loan Agreement and to the Borrower Note for complete payment and prepayment 

terms of the Borrower Note, payments on which are passed-through under this Bond. 

This Bond and the Funding Loan are limited obligations of the Obligor, payable solely 

from the Pledged Revenues and other funds and moneys and Security pledged and assigned 

under the Funding Loan Agreement.  Neither the Issuer, the State, or any political subdivision 

thereof (except the Issuer, to the limited extent set forth herein) nor any public agency shall in 

any event be liable for the payment of the principal of, premium (if any) or interest on the 

Funding Loan or this Bond or for the performance of any pledge, obligation or agreement of 

any kind whatsoever with respect thereto except as set forth herein and in the Funding Loan 

Agreement, and none of the Funding Loan or the Bond or any of the Issuer’s agreements or 

obligations with respect to the Funding Loan or this Bond shall be construed to constitute an 

indebtedness of or a pledge of the faith and credit of or a loan of the credit of or a moral 

obligation of any of the foregoing within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory 

provision whatsoever.   

All capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to 

them in the Funding Loan Agreement or in the Borrower Loan Agreement. 

This Bond is subject to the express condition that at no time shall interest be payable on 

this Bond or the Funding Loan at a rate in excess of the Maximum Rate provided in the Funding 

Loan Agreement; and Obligor shall not be obligated or required to pay, nor shall the Holder be 

permitted to charge or collect, interest at a rate in excess of such Maximum Rate.  If by the terms 

of this Bond or of the Funding Loan Agreement, Obligor is required to pay interest at a rate in 

excess of such Maximum Rate, the rate of interest hereunder or thereunder shall be deemed to 

be reduced immediately and automatically to such Maximum Rate, and any such excess 

payment previously made shall be immediately and automatically applied to the unpaid 

balance of the principal sum hereof and not to the payment of interest. 

Amounts payable hereunder representing late payments, penalty payments or the like 

shall be payable to the extent allowed by law. 

This Bond is subject to all of the terms, conditions, and provisions of the Funding Loan 

Agreement, including those respecting prepayment and the acceleration of maturity. 

If there is an Event of Default under the Funding Loan Documents, then in any such 

event and subject to the requirements set forth in the Funding Loan Agreement, the Holder may 

declare the entire unpaid principal balance of this Bond and accrued interest, if any, due and 

payable at once.  All of the covenants, conditions and agreements contained in the Funding 

Loan Documents are hereby made part of this Bond. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

No delay or omission on the part of the Holder in exercising any remedy, right or option 

under this Bond or the Funding Loan Documents shall operate as a waiver of such remedy, 

right or option.  In any event a waiver on any one occasion shall not be construed as a waiver or 

bar to any such remedy, right or option on a future occasion.  The rights, remedies and options 

of the Holder under this Bond and the Funding Loan Documents are and shall be cumulative 

and are in addition to all of the rights, remedies and options of the Holder at law or in equity or 

under any other agreement. 

Obligor shall pay all costs of collection on demand by the Holder, including without 

limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements, which costs may be added to the 

indebtedness hereunder, together with interest thereon, to the extent allowed by law, as set 

forth in the Funding Loan Agreement. 

The transfer of this Bonds is subject to certain restrictions as provided in the Funding 

Loan Agreement and described below and to registration by the holder in person or by the 

holder’s attorney hereof upon surrender of this Bond at the principal corporate trust office of 

the Fiscal Agent, duly endorsed or accompanied by a written instrument or instruments of 

transfer in form satisfactory to the Fiscal Agent and executed and with guaranty of signature by 

the holder hereof or his, her or its attorney duly authorized in writing, containing written 

instructions as to the details of the registration of the transfer of this Bond.  Thereupon the 

Obligor shall execute (if necessary) and the Fiscal Agent shall authenticate and deliver in the 

name of the transferee or transferees (but not registered in blank or to “bearer” or a similar 

designation), a new Bond. 

This Bond may not be changed orally.  Presentment for payment, notice of dishonor, 

protest and notice of protest are hereby waived.  The acceptance by the Holder of any amount 

after the same is due shall not constitute a waiver of the right to require prompt payment, when 

due, of all other amounts due hereunder.  The acceptance by the Holder of any sum in an 

amount less than the amount then due shall be deemed an acceptance on account only and 

upon condition that such acceptance shall not constitute a waiver of the obligation of Obligor to 

pay the entire sum then due, and Obligor’s failure to pay such amount then due shall be and 

continue to be a default notwithstanding such acceptance of such amount on account, as 

aforesaid.  Consent by the Holder to any action of Obligor which is subject to consent or 

approval of the Holder hereunder shall not be deemed a waiver of the right to require such 

consent or approval to future or successive actions. 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has duly executed and delivered this Bond 

or caused this Bond to be duly executed and delivered by its authorized representative as of the 

date first set forth above.  The undersigned intends that this instrument shall be deemed to be 

signed and delivered as a sealed instrument. 

OBLIGOR: 

(SEAL) CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK, 

MINNESOTA 

 

 

 

 

By:   

 Cindy Hansen, Mayor 

 

 

Attest: 

 

 

 

By:   

 Daniel Buchholtz, City Administrator 

 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION 

This Bonds is the Bonds described in the within mentioned Funding Loan Agreement. 

Date of Authentication:  July __, 2017 

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, as 

Fiscal Agent 

 

 

 

By:    

Name:    

Title:  Vice President 

 



DRAFT 

6/14/17 

EXHIBIT B 

 

FORM OF REQUIRED TRANSFEREE REPRESENTATIONS 



Funding Loan Agreement  

Legends of Spring Lake Park 

EXHIBIT C 

 

FORM OF WRITTEN REQUISITION 

(Project Fund) 

 



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Hansen and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  June 14, 2017 

Subject: Site Development Agreement – SLP Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 
 

City Attorney Thames has concluded negotiating the Site Development Agreement between the 
City of Spring Lake Park and SLP Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP for the project at 1066 
County Highway 10 NE, 1063 Manor Drive and 1075 Manor Drive properties. 
 
The Site Development Agreement spells out the developer’s responsibilities for the construction of 
the project.  A summary of these responsibilities include: 

 Compliance with the terms and conditions of City of Spring Lake Park Ordinance No. 
430, as amended by Ordinance Nos. 434 and 436.  These ordinances establish the PUD 
district under which the project is zoned. 

 Requirement of development fees to be paid in the following amounts: 
o WAC fee (City)    $185,220 
o SAC fee (City)     $  14,700 
o SAC fee (MCES)    $487,060 
o Park Dedication Fee (City)   $393,238 

 Requirement to post a Letter of Credit in the amount of $279,945 and a financial guaranty 
from Dominium Holdings I, LLC in the amount of $279,945, for a total of $559,890. 

 Outlines the erosion control measures that must be undertaken prior to the start of site 
grading and how compliance with these requirements will be obtained. 

 Specifies that the developer assumes full financial responsibility for any damage which may 
occur to public property as a result of activity by the developer, its contractors or 
subcontractors or assigns relating to the development of the project. 

 Requirement to clean dirt and debris from the streets that has resulted from construction 
work under the site improvement plan and outlines process should the developer fail to do 
so. 

 Requirement that developer provide and maintain various insurance coverages during the 
construction of the improvements 

 Obligates the developer to make cash escrow payments in the amount of $29,300 and 
requires the developer to make additional cash escrow payments if the escrow is 
insufficient.  Any remaining escrow money will be returned to the developer once the 
project is complete. 



 Responsibility of developer to obtain all applicable permits and sign required maintenance 
agreements for improvements. 

 Acknowledges a traffic study was submitted and that there are no traffic mitigation 
measures required. 

 Requires developer to maintain sanitary sewer, water, drainage facilities and sidewalk 
facilities.  The sidewalk is open to the public. 

 
Upon approval of the Site Development Agreement by the City Council and execution of the 
agreement by the City and Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, the document 
will be recorded with Anoka County. 
 
City Attorney Thames will be at the City Council meeting to answer any questions you may have 
about the development agreement.  If you have any questions prior, please don’t hesitate to 
contact me at 763-784-6491. 



 

                                                      1 
 

SITE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 

 

 This Site Development Agreement, (“Agreement”) is made this ____ day of June, 2017 

between Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability 

limited partnership, with offices located at 2905 Northwest Boulevard. #150, Plymouth, 

Minnesota 55441 (“Developer”) and the City of Spring Lake Park, a Minnesota municipal 

corporation, with offices located at 1301 81st Avenue N.E., Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 55432 

(“City”) and shall  be effective if Developer closes on its purchase of the “Subject Property” 

(hereinafter defined).  

 WHEREAS, Developer is under contract to purchase or has purchased the following 

properties within the City of Spring Lake Park, totaling approximately 4.13 acres:  

1066 County Highway 10 N.E., legally described as: Lots 2 through 9, inclusive, Block 1, 

Park Manor, according to the recorded plat thereof, Anoka County, Minnesota 

1063 Manor Drive, legally described as: Lot 10, Block 1, Park Manor, according to the 

recorded plat thereof, Anoka County, Minnesota 

1075 Manor Drive, legally described as: Lot 11, Block 1, Park Manor, according to the 

recorded plat thereof, Anoka County, Minnesota 

Collectively described as:  

Lots 2 through 11, Block 1, Park Manor, according to the recorded plat thereof, 

Anoka County, Minnesota 

(Subject Property) 

  

 



 

2 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is proposing to construct a 194-unit senior residential apartment 

complex of approximately 313,556 square feet in size on approximately 4.13 acres (the 

“Project”) on the Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the City rezoned lots 2 through 9 of the Subject Property from Commercial 

to R-3 Multiple Family Residential on August 1, 2016; and 

WHEREAS, the City rezoned lots 10 and 11 of the Subject Property from Commercial 

to R-3 Multiple Family Residential on November 7, 2016; and 

 WHEREAS, the City rezoned the Subject Property from R-3 Multiple Family 

Residential to PUD #2016-1, Planned Unit Development District on December 5, 2016; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

1) Site Development.  Developer is hereby granted permission to construct an 

approximately 313,556 square foot 194-unit senior residential apartment complex on the 

Subject Property.   

 

2) Plans and Specifications.  Developer shall complete the construction in accordance with 

the final approved plans (collectively, the “Site Improvement Plan”) as more specifically 

set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto.   

 

3) Ordinance No. 430.  Developer shall comply with the terms and conditions of Ordinance 

No. 430, adopted by the City on December 5, 2016 (and administratively corrected on 

January 17, 2017 by Ordinance No. 434 and further amended by Ordinance No. 436 on 

February 13, 2017). 

 

4) Financial Guarantees.  The attached Exhibit B outlines the financial requirements and 

guarantees of Developer, which shall be the exclusive responsibility of Developer.  A 

Letter of Credit (the “LOC”) and a guaranty from Dominium Holdings I, LLC, a 

Minnesota limited liability company, which is an affiliate of Developer, (the “Guaranty”) 

in the amounts set forth on Exhibit B must be provided to and accepted by the City; and 

all required fees, costs and escrow amounts paid, before Developer commences any work 

on Subject Property.  The City may draw upon the LOC and/or the Guaranty may be 

pursued in the event Developer fails to complete the public improvements identified in 

the Site Improvement Plan and on Exbibit B; additionally, the City may also draw upon 

the LOC and/or pursue the Guaranty to seek reimbursement for Developer’s failure to 

pay amounts due under this Agreement after the applicable notice and cure periods have 

run. Once the Project is complete and all amounts due hereunder have been paid, the 

LOC shall be released and the Guaranty shall be terminated.  In addition to posting the 



 

3 

 

sureties contemplated above, Developer shall also provide an additional bond, letter of 

credit, or cash escrow chosen by Developer to the City, as indicated on Exhibit B, in an 

amount determined by the City (the “Maintenance Bond”).  The Maintenance Bond shall 

shall be in a form approved by the City and shall remain outstanding for a period of 

twenty-four months after completion of the landscaping portion of the Site Improvement 

Plan, at which point the Maintenance Bond will be released and any unused portion will 

be returned to Developer .    

 

5) Erosion and Siltation Control. 

 

a.   Control Measures.  Before any grading is started under the Site Improvement 

Plan or related permit, all down gradient perimeter control measures as provided 

for in the Site Improvement Plan shall be installed.  No final approval of the 

improvements authorized by the Site Improvement Plan (nor a final certificate of 

occupancy) shall be issued until all disturbed areas have been stabilized as 

provided for in the Site Improvement Plan. The LOC and the Guaranty shall 

guaranty the erosion control and grading work required in this paragraph. 

 

b.   Unsatisfactory Conditions. Developer shall be responsible for compliance with 

the approved erosion and sediment control (ESC) portion of the Site Improvement 

Plan.  In the event the Developer fails to comply with the ESC requirements, the 

City shall give Developer telephonic and email  notice of the nature of such 

failure in accordance paragraph 8.  Developer shall correct such unsatisfactory 

condition described in the telephonic and email notice within three (3) business 

days after first receiving telephonic and email notice, or if the nature of such 

unsatisfactory condition is such that the same cannot reasonably be corrected 

within said three (3) business day period, then Developer shall have such 

additional time as is reasonably necessary to correct such unsatisfactory condition 

provided Developer promptly commences to correct such unsatisfactory condition 

and proceeds with diligence and continuity.  During the term of this Agreement, if 

Developer fails to comply as provided above, then the City has the right to enter 

upon the Subject Property and correct said condition at Developer’s expense.  

City shall be entitled to all of its reasonable costs and expenses of enforcing this 

paragraph of the Agreement, including, but not limited to, legal, fiscal and 

engineering costs.  City may at its option invoice the said costs for direct payment 

from Developer.  City reserves the right to invoice the said cost for direct 

payment from Developer and to withhold a final certificate of occupancy or final 

approval of the work provided for under the Site Improvement Plan, until City 

receives payment in full of its invoiced costs. 

 

6) Maintenance of Public Property Damaged or Clutter During Construction.  Developer 

agrees to assume full financial responsibility and to pay all costs for any damage which 

may occur to public property including, but not limited to, streets, street sub-base, base, 

bituminous surface, curb, utility systems including, but not limited to water main, sanitary 

sewer or storm sewer damaged or cluttered with debris (collectively, the “Public Property”) 

when said damage occurs as a result of activity by the Developer, its contractors or 



 

4 

 

subcontractors or assigns relating to the development of the Subject Property as provided 

in the Site Improvement Plan.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing contained herein 

shall require Developer to improve any of the Public Property to a condition superior than 

the condition of said Public Property at the time of Developer’s acquisition of the Subject 

Property (“Closing”).  The City shall schedule an inspection of said Public Property with 

Developer and Developer’s general contractor on or around the date of Closing and shall 

document the condition of said Public Property.  In the event the Developer fails to 

maintain or repair the damaged Public Property, the City shall give Developer written 

notice of the nature of the default or damage in accordance with paragraph 8.  Developer 

shall maintain or repair the damaged Public Property specified in the written notice within 

three (3) business days after first receiving written notice, or if the nature of such failure is 

such that the same cannot reasonably be maintained or repaired within said three (3) 

business day period, then Developer shall have such additional time as is reasonably 

necessary to complete such maintenance or repair provided Developer promptly 

commences to complete such maintenance or repair and proceeds with diligence and 

continuity.  If Developer fails to maintain or repair the damaged Public Property as 

provided above, then the City may undertake such maintenance or repair.  When the City 

undertakes such maintenance or repair, the Developer shall reimburse the City for all of its 

reasonable expenses within thirty (30) days after Developer has received an invoice 

therefore.  The Developer understands that no final certificate of occupancy shall be issued 

if an amount due hereunder remains unpaid or if the Developer is in default under the terms 

of this Agreement. 

 

7) Street Cleaning.  The Developer shall clean dirt and debris from streets that has resulted 

from construction work under the Site Improvement Plans by the Developer, its 

contractors, subcontractors, agents or assigns.  The City will inspect the site not less than 

on a weekly basis and determine whether it is necessary to take additional measures to 

clean dirt and debris from the streets.  In the event the Developer fails to clean dirt and 

debris from the streets, the City shall give Developer telephonic and email  notice of the 

nature of such failure.  Developer shall clean the dirt and debris from the streets described 

in the telephonic and email notice within one full business day after first receiving 

telephonic and email  notice, or if the nature of such failure is such that the same cannot 

reasonably be completed within one full business day, then Developer shall have such 

additional time as is reasonably necessary to complete such work provided Developer 

promptly commences to complete such work and proceeds with diligence and continuity.  

If Developer fails to complete such work as provided above, then the City may complete 

or contract to complete the clean-up of the streets at Developer’s expense.  When the City 

incurs any expense under the terms of this paragraph, the Developer shall reimburse the 

City for any reasonable costs the City incurred for such work within 30 days after 

Developer has received the City’s invoice therefore. The Developer understands that no 

final certificate of occupancy shall be issued if an amount due hereunder remains unpaid. 

 

8) Notices.  Any notices, requests or other communications required or permitted to be 

given hereunder shall be telephonic and email where indicated  and shall be deemed 

delivered  by confirmed receipt by recipient of a facsimile or e-mail, a widely recognized 

national overnight courier service, or upon receipt if mailed by United States registered or 



 

5 

 

certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed to each party at its 

address as set forth below: 

 

 City:  City of Spring Lake Park 

   1301 81st Avenue N.E. 

   Spring Lake Park, MN 55432 

   Attn:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, City Administrator 

   Telephone:  (763) 792-7211 

Facsimile:  (763) 792-7257 

e-mail: dbuchholtz@slpmn.org 

 

 Copy to: John J. Thames 

   Carson, Clelland & Schreder 

   6300 Shingle Creek Parkway, Suite #305 

   Minneapolis, MN 55430 

   Telephone:  (763) 561-2800 

Facsimile:  (763) 561-1943 

e-mail: john.thames@carsoncs.net 

 

 Developer: Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 

   2905 Northwest Boulevard. #150 

Plymouth, MN 55441 

Attn:  Owen Metz 

Telephone:  (763) 354-5618 

Facsimile:  (763) 354-5519 

e-mail: ometz@dominiuminc.com 

 

  Copy to: Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A. 

   225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3500 

   Minneapolis, MN 55402 

   Attention:  John D. Nolde 

   Telephone: (612) 604-6720 

   Facsimile:  (612) 604-6800 

   e-mail:  jnolde@winthrop.com 

 

 and:  Aegon USA Realty Advisors, LLC 

   4333 Edgewood Road NE, MS 5553 

   Cedar Rapids, Iowa 52499 

   Attention:  _________________ 

   Telephone:_________________ 

   Facsimile: _________________ 

   e-mail:      __________________ 

 

9) Insurance Requirements.  Developer shall provide and maintain at all times during the 

construction of the improvements and performance of the Site Improvement Plan until 

after acceptance by the City of all improvements: 

mailto:jnolde@winthrop.com


 

6 

 

 

a. Commercial general liability insurance (including operations, contingent liability, 

operations of subcontractors, competed operations and contractual liability 

insurance) together with an Owner’s Contractor’s Policy with limits against 

bodily injury, including death, and property damage (to include, but not be limited 

to damages caused by erosion or flooding) which may arise out of Developer’s 

work or the work of any of its subcontractors.  

 

b. Limits for bodily injury or death shall not be less than $750,000.00 for one person 

and $1,500,000.00 for each occurrence; limits for property damage shall not be 

less than $2,000,000.00 for each occurrence. 

 

c. Worker’s compensation insurance, with statutory coverage, if applicable. 

 

d. Developer shall file a Certificate of Insurance with the City Administrator prior to 

commencing site grading. The City shall be named as an Additional Insured on a 

primary and non contributory basis on the Certificate. The Certificate shall be 

modified to bear the following wording: 

 

 “Should any of the above policies be canceled before the expiration date thereof, the 

issuing company shall give thirty (30) days written notice of cancellation to the 

Certificate Holder.” 

 

 Developer shall be responsible for providing the above language to its insurer.  

 

10) Escrow Payment by Developer.   Developer shall make escrow payments identified in 

this Agreement for payment of City expenses identified on Exhibit B as the Cash 

Escrow.  In the event the Cash Escrow amount is insufficient, Developer shall pay 

additional escrow as determined by the City Engineer within ten (10) days of written 

demand.  Failure to make payment of the additional escrow amount shall permit the City 

to supplement those amounts from the above-identified LOC and/or the above-identified 

Guaranty. 

 

11) Balance of Escrow to Developer.   In the event that there is any escrow remaining at the 

end of the project and Developer has completed all of its responsibilities and obligations, 

any balance remaining shall be paid to Developer.  Any balance will be mailed to the 

address provided by Developer in this Agreement or such other address given in writing 

by Developer to the City. 

 

12) Watershed District Maintenance Agreement.   All site plans, construction, and 

maintenance shall meet the requirements of the Coon Creek Watershed District. Prior to 

beginning contruction, Developer shall provide the City with a copy of the maintenance 

agreement negotiated with and approved by the the Coon Creek Watershed District.  If 

such maintenance agreement is required by its terms to be recorded, Developer shall also 

provide proof of recording of the same with Anoka County. 

 



 

7 

 

13) Developer Responsible for Securing All Applicable Permits.   Developer shall be 

responsible for securing all applicable permits related to the project and shall provide a 

copy of the same to the City, upon request.  This includes, but is not limited to, a Storm 

Water Pollution Prevention Plan, all applicable permits from the City, the Coon Creek 

Watershed District, the Minnesota Department of Health, the Minnesota Pollution 

Control Agency, and the Anoka Highway Department.  

 

14) Field Verification of Existing Storm Sewer.   Prior to beginning construction, 

Developer shall field verify the location, size, and elevations of existing storm sewer 

running northward under County Road 10 (identified as “approx. loc.” on drawings as of 

November 28, 2016). 

 

15) Snow Removal.   Developer shall comply with all snow removal requirements within 

Site Improvement Plan.  Further, Developer shall review and update snow removal and 

snow storage requirements as necessary to ensure that snow removal and storage will not 

encroach on neighboring properties. 

 

16) Compliance with City’s Local Surface Water Plan.   Developer shall submit to the 

City drainage calculations and all other applicable evidence to demonstrate compliance 

with the City’s Surface Water Management Plan.   

 

17) Traffic Study Required.   Due to concerns about the impact on traffic from the Project 

and proposed Site Improvement Plan on adjacent streets as well as the intersection of 

Manor Drive and Able Street, Developer submitted a traffic study in form and detail 

acceptable to the City.  The study evaluated the impact of the proposed development on 

the adjacent streets and on the intersection of Manor Drive and Able Street.  Based on the 

traffic study, the City does not require any traffic mitigation measures.   

 

18) Final Plat Recording.    No construction on the project may be commenced until 

Developer has recorded the City approved final plat for the Project and provided proof of 

the same to the City.  

 

19) Sewer, Water, and Drainage Facilities On Site Considered Private, Developer to 

Maintain.   The parties agree that all sewer, water, and drainage facilties within the site 

shall be considered private facilities.  The parties agree that the Developer shall be 

responsible for maintenance of these private facilities up to and including connection to 

the City main.  Developer shall maintain all stormwater management infrastructure on the 

site in compliance with the Coon Creek Watershed maintenance agreement, referenced in 

paragraph 12 of this Agreement.  Should Developer fail to maintain the sewer, water or 

drainage facilities, the City shall provide Developer with notice of this failure and a 

reasonable opportunity to cure.  During the term of this Agreement, should Developer fail 

to cure the maintenance violation within the reasonable time provided by the City, 

Developer hereby consents to allow the City to enter the site and abate such violations.  

Developer further agrees that the City may then assess any and all costs of that abatement 

to the Subject Property, and Developer hereby waives any right of appeal to such an 

assessment, but such waiver is only of any right to appeal such an assessment.     



 

8 

 

 

20) Sidewalk Maintenance.   In addition to all other maintenance obligations contained 

herein or within the Site Improvement Plan, Developer shall also be responsible for 

maintenance of the proposed sidewalk to be constructed within the right-of-way of 

County 10 Service Drive, Laddie Road, and Manor Drive.  This sidewalk will be open to 

the public, but considered private for maintenance purposes and all maintenance will be 

the exclusive responsibility of Developer pursuant to a maintenance agreement with the 

City.  This maintenance obligation includes, but is not limited to, snow removal and 

replacement of damaged panels.   

 

21) Amendment of Agreement.   This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the 

parties and may not be amended except in writing and executed by both parties.  

 

22) Agreement Effect. This Agreement shall be binding upon and extend to the 

representatives, heirs, successors and assigns of the parties hereto.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary herein, this Agreement shall terminate once the Maintenance 

Bond is released and returned to Developer in accordance with paragraph 4 of this 

Agreement.  However, Developer’s indemnification obligations set forth in paragraph 32 

of this Agreement shall survive termination of this Agreement.   

 

23) Incorporation of Recitals.  The recital paragraphs set forth at the beginning of this 

Agreement are incorporated as part of this Agreement as though fully set forth herein. 

 

24) Headings.  Descriptive headings are for convenience only and shall not control or affect 

the meaning or construction of any provision of this Agreement. 

 

25) Incorporation by Reference.  All exhibits and other documents attached hereto or 

referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and shall become a part of this Agreement. 

 

26) Governing Law.  The laws of the State of Minnesota shall govern all issues relating to 

this Agreement. 

 

27) Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed to be an original. 

 

28) Force Majeure.  If Developer shall be delayed or hindered in or prevented from the 

performance of any act required hereunder by reason of an event of Force Majeure, the 

period for the performance of any such act shall be extended for a period equivalent to 

the period of such delay.  “Force Majeure” shall mean:  flood, fire, tornado, earthquake or 

other casualty or natural disaster; war or national emergency; governmental moratoria, 

restrictions and limitations; injunctions or other similar legal actions related to the 

Subject Property; adverse weather conditions; strikes or other labor troubles; scarcity or 

unavailability of fuel, labor or materials; or any other cause beyond the reasonable 

control of Developer. 

 



 

9 

 

29) Rights Cumulative.   Each right, power or remedy herein conferred on either party is 

cumulative in addition to every other right, power or remedy expressed or implied, now 

or hereafter arising, available to the City or Developer, at law or in equity, or under any 

other agreement, and each and every right, power or remedy herein set forth or otherwise 

so existing may be exercised from time to time as often and in such order as may be 

deemed expedient by the City or Developer and it shall not be a waiver of the right to 

exercise it at any other time thereinafter, or any other right, power or remedy. 

 

30) Severability.   In case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement 

shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and 

enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein and any other application 

thereof shall not, in any way, be affected or impaired thereby. 

 

31) Violation of Agreement.   In the event the Developer, or its successors or assigns, 

violates any of the covenants and agreements herein contained, unless this Agreement 

specifies a different amount of time, the City shall give Developer 30 days mailed notice 

thereof.  If such default is not cured within the 30 day period, the City is hereby granted 

the right and privilege to declare the contract terminated.  If the default cannot reasonably 

be cured within said 30 day period, and the Developer has given the City written notice 

of such fact, and if work on the cure in fact has been commenced within such 30 day 

period and the Developer is proceeding continuously and diligently in accomplishing the 

cure, the 30 day period shall be extended for an additional period necessary to cure the 

default but in no event shall the period be extended more than an additional 30 days.  The 

initial 30 day notice period shall be deemed to run from the date of deposit in the United 

States mail.  If the default continues after that period, the City may then, immediately, 

and without notice or consent of the Developer, use all of the deposited escrow funds, 

Letter of Credit or other surety funds to complete the Developer’s obligations as set forth 

herein, whether or not related to escrow items and to bring legal action against the 

Developer to collect any sums due to the City pursuant to this Agreement.   

 

32) Indemnification.     The Developer shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the City, 

its officers, employees, agents and others acting on its behalf from any and all loss, 

damage, liability, cost, and expense of any kind whatsoever, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees, resulting from actions, claims, or proceedings brought, or any loss or 

damage of any type whatsoever, sustained by reason of non-compliance with this 

Agreement or due to the negligence or willful misconduct of the Developer, its officers, 

employees, or agents, or any other person or entity for whose acts or omissions 

constituting negligence or willful misconduct the Developer is legally responsible in 

conjunction with the Project. 

 

33) Attorneys’ Fees.   The Developer shall pay the City reasonable attorneys’ fees to be 

fixed by the Court in the event a suit or action is brought to enforce the terms of this 

Agreement.  

 

 

[signature pages follow] 



 

10 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 

written above. 

 

       SPRING LAKE PARK LEASED  

       HOUSING ASSOCIATES I, LLLP, 

       a Minnesota limited liability limited  

       partnership  

 

       By:  Spring Lake Park Leased Housing 

       Associates I, LLC, a Minnesota limited  

       liability company 

 

       Its:  General Partner 

 

 

Date______________     By:  _____________________________ 

        Mark S. Moorhouse 

        

       Its:  Senior Vice President    

       

STATE OF __________________) 

            ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ________________) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ________ day of 

_____________, 2017, by Mark S. Moorhouse the Senior Vice President of Spring Lake Park 

Leased Housing Associates I, LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company, the General Partner 

of Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability 

partnership, on behalf of the limited liability limited partnership. 

 

 

        ____________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

11 

 

 

 

CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK 

 

 

Date______________     By:  ____________________________ 

        Its Mayor 

 

 

Date______________     By:  ____________________________ 

        Its Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

 

STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 

    ) ss. 

COUNTY OF HENNEPIN ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledge before me this _________ day of 

____________, 2017, by Cindy Hansen, the Mayor and Daniel R. Buchholtz, the City 

Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer of the City of Spring Lake Park, a municipal corporation under 

the laws of Minnesota, on behalf of said municipal corporation. 

 

 

      __________________________________________ 

      Notary Public 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

THIS INSTRUMENT WAS DRAFTED BY: 

John J. Thames, Esq. 

Carson, Clelland & Schreder 

6300 Shingle Creek Pkwy, Suite 305 

Minneapolis, MN 55430 

(763) 561-2800 



 

12 

 

Schedule 1 

 

 

 

Sheet C2-1 Site Plan   [6/2/17] 

Sheet C3-1 Grading Plan   [6/2/17] 

Sheet C4-1 Utility Plan   [6/2/17] 

Sheet L-100 Site Landscape Plan  [6/2/17] 

 

 



Architecture

Interior Design

Landscape Architecture
Engineering

Boarman
Kroos
Vogel
Group
Inc.

EOE

License Number

I hereby certify that this plan, specification
or report was prepared by me or under my
direct supervision and that I am a duly
Licensed Professional
under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

B
K

V
T

B
-3

0
x
4
2

Engineer

Date

XX/XX/1749933

PJ Disch, PE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 16350.00

© 2016 BKV Group, Inc. EOE

SHEET NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

COMMISSION NUMBER

ISSUE # DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT TITLE

CONSULTANTS

NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

CERTIFICATION

DATE

THE LEGENDS
OF SPRING
LAKE PARK

xxxx.xx

05/31/17

1 10/07/2016 PUD SUBMITTAL

SRT

PJD

OWNER/DEVELOPER

2 10/17/2016 CITY SUBMITTAL

3 04/12/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 SUBMITTAL

4 05/10/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

5 05/31/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS OF ALL
EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY COMPANIES IN
MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT 651-454-0002 AT
LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES,
CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES, VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE
DIGGING. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

SITE
PLAN

C2-1

SITE PLAN LEGEND

CONCRETE SIDEWALK

BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

CONCRETE PAVEMENT




23

CURRENT  ZONING: C-2
PROPOSED ZONING: PUD
PARKING SETBACK: 10'
BUILDING SETBACK: 18.67'
PROPERTY AREA: 4.132 AC
EXISTING IMPERVIOUS AREA: 1.412 AC. (34.2%)
PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS AREA: 2.557 AC (61.9%)

SITE DATA

SITE NOTES
1. ALL PAVING, CONCRETE CURB, GUTTER AND SIDEWALK SHALL BE FURNISHED AND INSTALLED
IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE DETAILS SHOWN PER THE DETAIL SHEET(S) AND STATE/LOCAL
JURISDICTION REQUIREMENTS.

2. ACCESSIBLE PARKING  AND ACCESSIBLE ROUTES SHALL BE PROVIDED PER CURRENT ADA
STANDARDS AND LOCAL/STATE REQUIREMENTS.

3. ALL CURB DIMENSIONS SHOWN ARE TO THE  FACE OF CURB UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

4. ALL BUILDING DIMENSIONS ARE TO THE OUTSIDE FACE OF WALL UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. TYPICAL FULL SIZED PARKING STALL IS 9' X 19' WITH A 24' WIDE TWO WAY DRIVE UNLESS
OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL CURB RADII SHALL BE 3.0' UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

7. BITUMINOUS IMPREGNATED FIBER BOARD TO BE PLACED AT FULL DEPTH OF CONCRETE
ADJACENT TO EXISTING STRUCTURES AND BEHIND CURB ADJACENT TO DRIVEWAYS AND
SIDEWALKS.

8. SEE SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN FOR SITE LIGHTING.

OFF-STREET PARKING CALCULATIONS

EXISTING ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 0 STALLS
REMOVED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 0 STALLS
PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING: 4 STALLS

TOTAL 4 STALLS

REQUIRED ACCESSIBLE PARKING:  4 STALLS**

**REQUIRED MINIMUM NUMBER OF ACCESSIBLE SPACES FOR 76 TO 100 STALLS

ACCESSIBLE PARKING

PROPOSED PARALLEL PARKING STALLS = 9 STALLS
PROPOSED REGULAR PARKING STALLS = 74 STALLS
PROPOSED ACCESSIBLE PARKING STALLS = 4 STALLS
PROPOSED TOTAL PARKING PROVIDED = 87 STALLS



Architecture

Interior Design

Landscape Architecture
Engineering

Boarman
Kroos
Vogel
Group
Inc.

EOE

License Number

I hereby certify that this plan, specification
or report was prepared by me or under my
direct supervision and that I am a duly
Licensed Professional
under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

B
K

V
T

B
-3

0
x
4
2

Engineer

Date

XX/XX/1749933

PJ Disch, PE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 16350.00

© 2016 BKV Group, Inc. EOE

SHEET NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

COMMISSION NUMBER

ISSUE # DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT TITLE

CONSULTANTS

NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

CERTIFICATION

DATE

THE LEGENDS
OF SPRING
LAKE PARK

xxxx.xx

05/31/17

1 10/07/2016 PUD SUBMITTAL

SRT

PJD

OWNER/DEVELOPER

2 10/17/2016 CITY SUBMITTAL

3 04/12/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 SUBMITTAL

4 05/10/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

5 05/31/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS OF ALL
EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY COMPANIES IN
MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT 651-454-0002 AT
LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES,
CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES, VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE
DIGGING. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

GRADING
PLAN

C3-1




23

GRADING, DRAINAGE & EROSION CONTROL NOTES
1. SPOT ELEVATIONS REPRESENT FINISHED SURFACE GRADES, GUTTER/FLOW LINE, FACE OF
BUILDING, OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2. CATCH BASINS AND MANHOLES IN PAVED AREAS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.04 FEET.  ALL CATCH
BASINS IN GUTTERS SHALL BE SUMPED 0.16 FEET.  RIM ELEVATIONS SHOWN ON PLANS DO NOT
REFLECT SUMPED ELEVATIONS.

3. ALL DISTURBED UNPAVED AREAS ARE TO RECEIVE MINIMUM OF 4 INCHES OF TOP SOIL AND
SEED/MULCH OR SOD. THESE AREAS SHALL BE WATERED/MAINTAINED BY THE CONTRACTOR UNTIL
VEGETATION IS ESTABLISHED.

4. FOR SITE RETAINING WALLS "TW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT TOP FACE OF WALL (NOT TOP OF
WALL), "GW" EQUALS SURFACE GRADE AT WALL GRADE TRANSITION, AND "BW" EQUALS SURFACE
GRADE AT BOTTOM FACE OF WALL (NOT BOTTOM OF BURIED WALL COURSES).

5. STREETS MUST BE CLEANED AND SWEPT WHENEVER TRACKING OF SEDIMENTS OCCURS AND
BEFORE SITES ARE LEFT IDLE FOR WEEKENDS AND HOLIDAYS.  A REGULAR SWEEPING SCHEDULE MUST
BE ESTABLISHED.

6. DUST MUST BE ADEQUATELY CONTROLLED.

7. SEE SWPPP FOR ADDITIONAL EROSION CONTROL NOTES AND REQUIREMENTS.

8. SEE UTILITY PLANS  FOR WATER, STORM AND SANITARY SEWER INFORMATION.

9. SEE SITE PLAN FOR CURB AND BITUMINOUS TAPER LOCATIONS.

10. SEE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR FINAL SITE STABILIZATION.



Architecture

Interior Design

Landscape Architecture
Engineering

Boarman
Kroos
Vogel
Group
Inc.

EOE

License Number

I hereby certify that this plan, specification
or report was prepared by me or under my
direct supervision and that I am a duly
Licensed Professional
under the laws of the State of Minnesota.

B
K

V
T

B
-3

0
x
4
2

Engineer

Date

XX/XX/1749933

PJ Disch, PE

LOUCKS

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

LOUCKS PROJECT NO. 16350.00

© 2016 BKV Group, Inc. EOE

SHEET NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

COMMISSION NUMBER

ISSUE # DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT TITLE

CONSULTANTS

NOT FOR

CONSTRUCTIO
N

CERTIFICATION

DATE

THE LEGENDS
OF SPRING
LAKE PARK

xxxx.xx

05/31/17

1 10/07/2016 PUD SUBMITTAL

SRT

PJD

OWNER/DEVELOPER

2 10/17/2016 CITY SUBMITTAL

3 04/12/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 SUBMITTAL

4 05/10/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

5 05/31/2017 CITY/WATERSHED
 RESUBMITTAL

WARNING:
THE CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR CALLING FOR LOCATIONS OF ALL
EXISTING UTILITIES. THEY SHALL COOPERATE WITH ALL UTILITY COMPANIES IN
MAINTAINING THEIR SERVICE AND / OR RELOCATION OF LINES.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL CONTACT GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT 651-454-0002 AT
LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE FOR THE LOCATIONS OF ALL UNDERGROUND WIRES,
CABLES, CONDUITS, PIPES, MANHOLES, VALVES OR OTHER BURIED STRUCTURES BEFORE
DIGGING. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REPAIR OR REPLACE THE ABOVE WHEN DAMAGED
DURING CONSTRUCTION AT NO COST TO THE OWNER.

SANITARY
SEWER &

WATERMAIN
PLAN

C4-1




23

UTILITY NOTES
1.  ALL SANITARY SEWER, STORM SEWER AND WATERMAIN UTILITIES SHALL BE FURNISHED AND
INSTALLED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE SPECIFICATIONS,THE  MINNESOTA PLUMBING CODE, THE
LOCAL GOVERNING UNIT ,  AND THE STANDARD UTILITIES SPECIFICATION OF THE CITY ENGINEERS
ASSOCIATION OF MINNESOTA (CEAM), 2013 EDITION.

2. ALL UTILITY PIPE BEDDING SHALL BE COMPACTED SAND OR FINE GRANULAR MATERIAL.  ALL
COMPACTION SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE CEAM SPECIFICATION.

3. ALL CONNECTIONS TO EXISTING UTILITIES SHALL BE PERFORMED PER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE
STATE AND LOCAL JURISDICTIONS.   THE CITY DEPARTMENT OF ENGINEERING AND BUILDING
INSPECTIONS DEPARTMENT AND THE CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER MUST BE NOTIFIED AT LEAST 48
HOURS PRIOR TO ANY WORK  WITHIN THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY, OR WORK IMPACTING PUBLIC
UTILITIES.

4. ALL STORM SEWER , SANITARY SEWER AND WATER SERVICES SHALL TERMINATE 5' FROM THE
BUILDING FACE UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

5. A MINIMUM OF 18 INCHES OF VERTICAL SEPARATION AND 10 FEET OF HORIZONTAL SEPARATION
IS REQUIRED FOR ALL UTILITES UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

6. ALL NEW WATERMAIN AND SERVICES MUST HAVE A MINIMUM OF 8.0 FEET OF COVER.  EXTRA
DEPTH MAY BE REQUIRED TO MAINTAIN A MINIMUM 18" VERTICAL SEPARATION TO SANITARY OR
STORM SEWER LINES.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD ADJUST WATERMAIN TO AVOID CONFLICTS
WITH SANITARY SEWER,    STORM SEWER, AND SERVICES AS REQUIRED. INSULATION OF WATER AND
SANITARY SEWER LINES SHALL BE PROVIDED WHERE 8.0 FEET MINIMUM DEPTH CAN NOT BE ATTAINED.

7. ALL FIRE HYDRANTS SHALL BE LOCATED 5 FEET BEHIND BACK OF CURB OR EDGE OF PAVEMENT
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

8. ALL SANITARY SEWER WYES, TEES AND SERVICES SHALL BE SCH. 40 PVC.

9. ALL PORTIONS OF THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM, INCLUDING CATCH BASINS, LOCATED WITHIN 10
FEET OF THE BUILDING OR WATER SERVICE LINE MUST BE TESTED ACCORDANCE WITH MINNESOTA
RULES, PART 4715.2820

10. ALL JOINTS AND CONNECTIONS IN THE STORM SEWER SYSTEM SHALL BE GASTIGHT OR
WATERTIGHT (SEE MINNESOTA RULES, PART 4715.0700). APPROVED RESILIENT RUBBER JOINTS MUST BE
USED TO MAKE WATERTIGHT CONNECTIONS TO MANHOLES, CATCHBASINS, AND OTHER STRUCTURES.

11. HIGH-DENSITY POLYETHYLENE (HDPE) STORM DRAINS MUST COMPLY WITH MINNESOTA RULES,
PART 4715.0540:

a. PIPES 4-INCH TO 10-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH AASHTO M252.
b. PIPES 12-INCH TO 60-INCH IN SIZE MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM F2306.
c. ALL FITTINGS MUST COMPLY WITH ASTM D3212.
d. WATER-TIGHT JOINTS MUST BE USED AT ALL CONNECTIONS INCLUDING STRUCTURES.



Group#289Group#291Group#295Group#296Group#297Group#298Group#299Group#300Group#301Group#302Group#303Group#304Group#305Group#306Group#307Group#308Group#309Group#311Group#312Group#313Group#314Group#317Group#318Group#320Group#321Group#322Group#323Group#324Group#325Group#326Group#327Group#328Group#329Group#330Group#331Group#319Group#316Group#293Group#315Group#290Group#292Group#294Group#310Group#286Group#287Group#288

Group#289Group#291Group#295Group#296Group#297Group#298Group#299Group#300Group#301Group#302Group#303Group#304Group#305Group#306Group#307Group#308Group#309Group#311Group#312Group#313Group#314Group#317Group#318Group#320Group#321Group#322Group#323Group#324Group#325Group#326Group#327Group#328Group#329Group#330Group#331Group#319Group#316Group#293Group#315Group#290Group#292Group#294Group#310Group#286Group#287Group#288

DN

DN

DN

DN

DN

/
1

L
1

0
2

/
1

L
1

0
1

/
1

L
1

0
2

/
1

L
1

0
1

L103

1
Sim

L0

L0

L24

L2

L22

L23

L7

L1

L1

L3

L1

L6

L29

L29

L29

L29

L5

L14

L3

L1

L14

L6

L20 L19 L1L7

L36

L1 L7

L7

L3

L6

L25

L4

L14

L14

L14

L5

L14

L14

L26

L0 L1L7 L3

L33 L8

L7

L29

L29 L29

L29

L36

L0

L35

L13

L21

L10

L33

L29

L29
L29L29

L29

L30

L12
L0

L4

L2

L12

L6

L33

L14

L33

L14
L14

L30 L15 L32L18

L35

L32

L17

L15

6' WIDE BITUMINOUS TRAIL; 
CONNECT TO EXISTING NORTH AND 
SOUTH OF POND

APPROXIMATE EXTENTS OF POND;
SEE CIVIL

PROPOSED NEW CANOPY TREE
PLANTINGS

HYDROSEED ALL AREAS DISTURBED
BY TRAIL CONSTRUCTION

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF CONNECTION
TO EXISTING TRAIL

APPROXIMATE LOCATION OF CONNECTION
TO EXISTING TRAIL

GRAPHIC LEGEND:

STD.CONCRETE, TYP.
(SEE SPEC)

TURFGRASS:  SOD, 
IRRIGATED
(SEE SPEC)

HARDWOOD MULCH, 
SHREDDED
(SEE SPEC)

CRUSHED GRANITE 
MULCH:
(SEE SPEC)

INTEGRAL COLORED 
CONCRETE, TYP.
(SEE SPEC)

BITUMINOUS TRAIL, TYP.
(SEE SPEC)

KEY NOTES:

© 2016 BKV Group, Inc. EOE

SHEET NUMBER

SHEET TITLE

DATE

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

COMMISSION NUMBER

KEY PLAN

PROJECT TITLE

CONSULTANTS

KV
G R O U P 
Architecture

Interior Design
Landscape Architecture
Engineering

Boarman
Kroos
Vogel
Group
Inc.

w w w. b k v g r o u p. c o m
EOE

B

NOT FOR 

CONSTRUCTION

CERTIFICATION

License Number Date

Brady Halverson

--

PLAN NORTH TRUE NORTH 

B
IM

 3
6

0
:/
/1

3
9
3

-1
1
0
 D

o
m

in
iu

m
-S

p
ri
n

g
 L

a
k
e
 P

a
rk

 S
r 

H
o
u
s
in

g
/1

3
9
3

-1
1

0
_
S

p
ri
n
g

 L
a

k
e
 P

a
rk

_
L
A

N
D

_
2
0
1
7
.r

v
t

5
/3

1
/2

0
1
7

 9
:4

3
:1

6
 A

M

SB

05-31-2017

BH

1393.110

L100

SITE PLAN

THE LEGENDS
OF SPRING LAKE

PARK

 1" = 20'-0"L100

1 SITE PLAN

 1" = 30'-0"L100

2 SITE PLAN WATERSHED CONDE PARK

ISSUE # DATE DESCRIPTION
05/31/2017 CITY/WATERSHED

RESUBMITTAL

L0 PROPERTY LINE

L1 C.I.P. CONCRETE WALKWAYS, TYP.; SEE CIVIL

L2 C.I.P. COLORED CONC.; SEE ARCH. FOR STOOP/WALK CONNECTION DETAIL; LIQUID INTEGRAL
COLOR "SPLIT ROCK CPC142L" BY CEMSTONE

L3 CURB LINE, SEE CIVIL

L4 C.I.P SLOPED WALK (5% SLOPE)

L5 MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT PADS, SEE CIVIL

L6 C.I.P. CONCRETE STAIR, TYP. SEE 3/L300

L7 TURFGRASS; SOD, IRRIGATED TYP.

L8 STEEL EDGING BETWEEN TURF AND PLANTING BED TYP. ; SEE 6/L300

L10 RESIDENT ENTRANCE/EXIT

L12 BENCH (3); LANDSCAPE FORMS 'HARPO'; BACKED, END ARMS, JARRAH WIDE WOOD SLATS; 69" L;
SURFACE MOUNTED

L13 BENCH (1); LANDSCAPE FORMS 'STRATA BEAM BENCH'; BACK WITH ALL ARMS, 80" L; SURFACE
MOUNTED

L14 RETAINING WALL; SEE CIVIL

L15 OUTDOOR DINING TABLE, FFE BY OWNER

L17 RAISED LIMESTONE BLOCK PLANTER SEE X/L3XX

L18 FIRE PIT; PALOFORM 'ROBATA'; 6' X 2' X 12 3/8" H; NATURAL GAS W/ ELECTRONIC IGNITION;
PROVIDE TIMER SWITCH (SEE ELEC.); COLOR 'CHARCOAL'; TOPPING MEDIA 'RIVER ROCKS';
INSTALLED PER MANUFACTURER'S REC.

L19 BIKE RACK; "EMERSON" BY LANDSCAPE FORMS, SURFACE MOUNT (2 TOTAL UNITS)

L20 'DERO' BIKE FIXIT STATION, STAINLESS SILVER FINISH

L21 STREET LIGHT LOCATIONS, SEE ELEC.

L22 CRUSHED GRAVEL SURFACING, KAFKA 'STABILIZED PATHWAY MIX'; 1/4" MINUS 'IMPERIAL GRAY
GRANITE' COLOR

L23 LOCATION FOR ART SCULPTURE, TBD

L24 PROPOSED MONUMENT SIGN; SEE LX/L3XX

L25 PEDESTRIAN GARAGE ACCESS; SEE ARCH.

L26 TRASH STAGING AREA

L29 UNIT WALK OUT PATIOS; SEE ARCH.

L30 CUSTOM GRILL STATION (X2); WEBER GENESIS E-310 BLACK FINISH; SEE 7/L300

L32 FREESTANDING PLANTER WITH SUBSURFACE IRRIGATION CONNECTION; "WILLSHIRE TALL
SQUARE" BY TOURNESOL, 'WRT/WCRT-2400 24"SQ X 48"T, 'MMP IRON' FINISH (2 TOTAL UNITS)

L33 DRY LAID BLOCK WALL, 2' 6" T; STONE TO MATCH BUILDING

L35 24" SQUARE STEPPER STONE PAVER; TECTURA 'ULTRAFACE' UF-25

L36 BUILDING AREA WELL; SEE ARCH.



 

13 

 

Exhibit “B” 

 

See Attached



Acres: 4.13

WAC/SAC Units: 196 Number of SAC units to be determined by Met Council Environmental Services, WAC units determined by City

Park Dedication Units 194

Lots: 10

I. Platting and Related Costs/Fees Owed: Cost Per Acre/Unit/Lot Cash Notes

A. WAC fee 945.00$                                                              185,220.00$        per unit

B. SAC fee (MCES) 2,485.00$                                                           487,060.00$        per unit

C. SAC fee (City) 75.00$                                                                14,700.00$          per unit

E. Park Dedication 2,027.00$                                                           393,238.00$        per unit

Total Commerical Fees: 5,532.00$                                                           1,080,218.00$     

Improvement Related Costs: Cash Notes

A. Administrative 8,400.00$            3% of Constr-public improvements

II. Letter of Credit (LOC) and Guaranty (50/50) Cash Escrow Notes

B. Engineering

Stantec - Onsite Field Inspection 10,000.00$          City Engineer - contract

Stantec - Plan Review 5,000.00$            City Engineer - contract

Watershed Permit Fee -$                     Developers Cost - Direct to CCWD

C. Environmental 

D. Legal 3,000.00$            City Attorney - contract

E. Planning 1,000.00$            City Planner 

F. Finance -$                     City not financing

G. Site cleanup escrow -$                     

H. Construction

1 WCA/Mitigation - credits N/A

2 Site - grading 8,260.00$                                                           $2,000/acre

3 Landscaping $50,000

4 Erosion Control 10,000.00$                                                         

5 Lighting N/A

6 Site and Building Signage N/A

7 Pocket Park Installation at Manor Dr/Laddie Rd $15,000 public improvement

8 Improvements to Triangle Park $50,000 public improvement

9 Sidewalk Installation and Maintenance $50,000 public improvement

10 Traffic Study $0

11 Site Restoration $25,000

12 Street Improvements - patching $30,000 public improvement

13 Utility Improvements - storm sewer $100,000 public improvement

14 Utility Improvements - water main $15,000 public improvement

15 Sanitary Sewer $20,000 public improvement

Improvement Subtotals: 373,260.00$                                                       19,000.00$          

LOC/Escrow/Fees required: LOC and Guaranty* Cash

A. Letter of Credit (LOC ) 279,945.00$                                                       75% of LOC and Guaranty Subtotal

B. Dominium Holdings I, LLC Financial Guaranty 279,945.00$                                                       75% of LOC and Guaranty Subtotal

C. Cash Escrow 20,900.00$          110% of Cash Escrow Subtotal

III. D. Fees 1,080,218.00$     

E. Administrative 8,400.00$            

Total LOC, Guaranty and Cash required 559,890.00$                                                       1,109,518.00$     

*additional 2 yr maintenance bond will also be required for landscaping (begins after construction on public improvements completed)

Exhibit B - Dominium Senior Residential Apartment Complex - Lots 2-11, Block 1, Park Manor



 

 

 
 

 
13561909v4 

 



 



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Hansen and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  June 14, 2017 

Subject: Utility and Sidewalk Access and Maintenance Agreement 
 
Included with this memorandum is the Utility and Sidewalk Access and Maintenance Agreement 
between the City of Spring Lake Park and Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP. 
 
This agreement provides the developer with access to the City’s right-of-way for construction of a 
sidewalk on the property.  The sidewalk is available for use by the general public.  The developer 
agrees to maintain and repair the sidewalk, as well as plow and maintain the sidewalk.   
 
The agreement also states that the sanitary sewer, water, and storm sewer infrastructure within the 
site, up to and including the connection to the City main, are considered private facilities.  The 
developer is responsible for all maintenance.  The agreement spells out the process to ensure a 
maintenance issue is corrected if the developer fails to cure a maintenance violation. 
 
The agreement also requires the developer and its successors to indemnify, hold the City harmless 
and defend the City from any loss, claims, damages, actions, lawsuits, costs of expenses related to 
the developer’s failure to fulfil its maintenance obligations under the agreement. 
 
City Attorney Thames will be at the meeting to answer any questions you may have regarding this 
agreement.  If you have any questions in advance of the meeting, please don’t hesitate to contact 
me at 763-784-6491. 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[space above reserved for recording information] 

______________________________________________________________________________ 

 

UTILITY AND SIDEWALK ACCESS AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

 

This Utility and Sidewalk Access and Maintenance Agreement (this “Agreement”) is 

made this _____ day of __________, 2017, (“Effective Date”) by and among Spring Lake Park 

Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limited partnership 

(“Developer”) and the City of Spring Lake Park, Minnesota (“City”), collectively (the “parties”). 

 

RECITALS: 

 

A. Developer is the fee owner of that certain real property located in the City of 

Spring Lake Park, Minnesota, legally described on Exhibit A attached to this Agreement 

(“Developer Parcel”); 

B. City is the fee owner of those certain publically traveled rights-of-way, known as 

(i) County 10 Service Drive, (ii) Laddie Road, and (iii) Manor Drive, in the City of Spring Lake 

Park Minnesota, identified on the survey attached to this Agreement as Exhibit B (“City Right of 

Way”); 

C. Developer plans to construct a sidewalk in the City Right of Way (“Sidewalk”) 

and sanitary sewer, water, and drainage facilities and infrastructure (“Developer’s Utilities”) on 

the Developer Parcel and in the City Right of Way, in accordance with site plans approved by the 

City; and 

D. Developer and City want to enter into this Agreement for the purposes of 

providing Developer access to the City Right of Way and describing the Developer’s continuing 

maintenance obligations regarding the Sidewalk and Developer’s Utilities. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the Recitals, which are hereby made a part hereof, 

and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. Sidewalk Use and Access. The Sidewalk shall be available for non-exclusive 

pedestrian ingress and egress by the general public. City hereby grants a non-exclusive 



 

-2- 

permanent easement to Developer, its contractors, subcontractors, agents, and successors and 

assigns on to the City Right of Way for the purposes of ingress, egress, and access to the 

Sidewalk, which includes ingress and egress for construction related activities and the 

maintenance obligations described in Section 2 of this Agreement. 

 

2. Maintenance of Sidewalk.  Developer agrees to maintain and repair the 

Sidewalk, and otherwise plow and maintain the Sidewalk as required for the intended use of the 

Sidewalk as set forth herein.  This maintenance obligation includes, but is not limited to, snow 

removal, obstruction removal, and replacement of damaged panels.  Developer also agrees to cut, 

trim, or remove from the Sidewalk trees, shrubs, or other vegetation or improvements as in 

Developer’s reasonable judgment are unreasonably interfering with the use of the Sidewalk. 

Developer shall be liable for any and all costs and expenses associated with maintaining and 

repairing the Sidewalk.   

 

3. Maintenance of Developer’s Utilities and City Access.  Developer 

acknowledges, and the parties agree, that all sanitary sewer, water, and drainage facilities and 

infrastructure within the site plan approved by the City are considered private facilities and 

infrastructure.  Developer agrees that Developer shall be responsible for these private facilities 

and infrastructure up to and including connection of the same to the City main.  Developer shall 

maintain all stormwater management infrastructure on the site in compliance with the 

maintenance agreement between Developer and the Coon Creek Watershed District.  Should 

Developer fail to maintain Developer’s Utilities, the City shall provide Developer with notice of 

this failure and a reasonable opportunity to cure.  Should Developer fail to cure the maintenance 

violation within the reasonable period of time provided by the City, Developer hereby consents to 

allow the City to enter the Developer Parcel and grants access to any facilities or infrastructure 

located there or in the City Right of Way to abate such violations.  Developer further agrees that 

the City may then assess any and all costs of that abatement to the Developer Parcel, and 

Developer hereby waives any right of appeal to such an assessment, but such waiver is only of 

any right to appeal such an assessment.   

 

4. Indemnification.  Developer, and its successors and assigns, agrees to indemnify, 

hold harmless and defend the City, from any loss, claims, damages, actions, lawsuits, costs or 

expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees arising from or directly related to Developer’s failure 

to fulfill its maintenance obligations under this Agreement, unless such damages are the result of 

the City’s negligence or willful misconduct.  

 

5. Notices.  Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be given by personal 

delivery upon an authorized representative of a party hereto; or if mailed in a sealed wrapper by 

United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid; or if 

transmitted by facsimile copy followed by mailed notice; or if deposited cost paid with a 

nationally recognized, reputable overnight courier, properly addressed as follows: 

 If to Developer: Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP 

  2905 Northwest Blvd., Suite 150 

  Plymouth, Minnesota  55441 

  Attention: Mark S. Moorhouse and Owen Metz 



 

-3- 

  

 With a Copy to: Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A. 

  225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3500 

  Minneapolis, Minnesota  55402 

  Attention:  John D. Nolde, Esq. 

 If to City: City of Spring Lake Park 

  1301 81st Avenue N.E. 

  Spring Lake Park, Minnesota 55432 

  Attention: Daniel R. Buchholtz 

 

 With a Copy to: Carson, Clelland & Schreder 

  6300 Shingle Creek Parkway, Suite #305 

  Minneapolis, Minnesota 55430 

  Attention: John J. Thames 

 

Notices shall be deemed effective on the earlier of the date of receipt or the date of deposit, as 

aforesaid; provided, however, that if notice is given by deposit, the time for response to any 

notice by the other party shall commence to run one business day after any such deposit.  Any 

party may change its address for the service of notice by giving notice of such change ten (10) 

days prior to the effective date of such change. 

 

6. Amendment, Modification or Waiver.  No amendment, modification or waiver of 

any condition, provision or term of this Agreement shall be valid or of any effect unless said 

amendment is made in writing, signed by the parties to be bound or their duly authorized 

representative(s) and specifying with particularity the extent and nature of such amendment, 

modification or waiver.  Any waiver by any party of any default of another party hereunder shall not 

affect or impair any right arising from any subsequent default.    

 

7. Headings.  The headings of sections of this Agreement are for convenience of 

reference only and do not form a part hereof and in no way interpret or construe such paragraphs. 

 

8. Authority.  The undersigned each represent that they are authorized to act for and 

bind their respective parties.   

 

9. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.   

 

10. Integration.  This Agreement is the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to its subject matter and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings between the 

parties hereto with respect to such subject matter.   

 

11. Severability.  If any provision of this Agreement is held to be unenforceable or 

void, such provision shall be deemed to be severable and shall in no way affect the validity of the 

remaining terms of this Agreement. 

 



 

-4- 

12. Governing Law.  This Agreement will be governed and construed in accordance 

with the laws of Minnesota, without giving effect to choice of law provisions under Minnesota law. 

 

13. Agreement Effect. This Agreement shall run with the land (Developer Parcel) 

and be binding upon and extend to the representatives, heirs, successors and assigns of the parties 

hereto.   

 
13675688v3 

 

[Signature Pages to follow.] 



 

 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the date 

first above written. 

 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates I, 

LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limited 

partnership 

 

By: Spring Lake Park Leased Housing 

Associates I, LLC 

Its: General Partner 

 

 

By:    

 Mark S. Moorhouse 

Title: Senior Vice President 

 

 

STATE OF MINNESOTA  ) 

    ) ss. 

COUNTY OF HENNEPIN  ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2017, by Mark S. Moorhouse, the Senior Vice President of Spring Lake Park Leased Housing 

Associates I, LLC, a Minnesota limited liability company, the General Partner of Spring Lake 

Park Leased Housing Associates I, LLLP, a Minnesota limited liability limited partnership, on 

behalf of said partnership. 

 

 

   

 Notary Public 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

CITY: 

 

City of Spring Lake Park 

 

 

By:    

Name: Cindy Hanson 

Title: Mayor 

 

AND 

 

By:    

Name: Daniel R. Buchholtz 

Title: Administrator/Clerk/Treasurer 

 

 

STATE OF MINNESOTA  ) 

    ) ss. 

COUNTY OF ___________  ) 

 

 The foregoing instrument was acknowledge before me this _________ day of 

____________, 2017, by Cindy Hansen, the Mayor and Daniel R. Buchholtz, the City 

Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer of the City of Spring Lake Park, a municipal corporation under 

the laws of Minnesota, on behalf of said municipal corporation. 

 

 

 

   

 Notary Public 

 

 

 

This document was prepared by: 

Winthrop & Weinstine, P.A. (JRB) 

225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3500 

Minneapolis, Minnesota 55402 

 

 



EXHIBIT A 

(Legal Description – Developer Parcel) 

Lots 2-11, Block 1, Park Manor Addition, according to the recorded plat thereof, Anoka County, 
Minnesota.





EXHIBIT B 

(Survey  – Attached) 



99

99

7

6

License No.

Date                             

I hereby certify that this survey, plan or report was

prepared by me or under my direct supervision and that

I am a duly Licensed Land Surveyor under the laws of

the State of Minnesota.

VICINITY MAP

Field Crew

Max L. Stanislowski - PLS

48988

Project Lead

Drawn By

Checked By

Loucks Project No. 16350

HDN

KMM

MLS

SFH, DMP, JDI

07/26/16

SITE

07/26/16 SURVEY ISSUED

08/25/16 ZONING LETTER

11/01/16 ADDED LOTS 10 & 11

04/11/17 UPDATED UTILITIES & 

REVISED FENCE

05/22/17 UPDATE CERTIFICATION

SCALE       IN       FEET

0 30 60

N

DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY SURVEYED

(Per Schedule A of the herein referenced Title Commitments)

Lots 2 through 9, inclusive, Block 1, Park Manor, according to the recorded plat thereof, Anoka County,

Minnesota. Abstract Property.

AND

Lot 10, Block 1 Park Manor, according to the recorded plat thereof, Anoka County, Minnesota. Abstract

Property.

AND

Lot 11, Block 1, Park Manor. Anoka County, Minnesota. Abstract Property.

TITLE COMMITMENT EXCEPTIONS

(Per Schedule B, Part II of the herein referenced Title Commitments)

The property depicted on this survey and the easements of record shown hereon are the same as the property

and the easements described in the Commitment for Title Insurance issued by Commercial Partners Title, LLC as

agent for Old Republic National Title Insurance Company, File No. 51442 (as to Lots 2-9) and File No. 51978

(as to Lot 10) and File No. 52012 (as to Lot 11), effective date May 4, 2016 (as to Lots 2-9) and effective date

September 6, 2016 (as to Lot 10) and effective date October 4, 2016 (as to Lot 11). The numbers below

correspond to those in the title commitments.

(as to Lots 2-9) 1-8 and 10 do not require comment.

9. Easement for utilities, drainage and right of way for State Trunk Highway Number Ten (10) as laid out and

shown on the recorded plat of Park Manor. As shown hereon through the middle of the property.

(as to Lot 10) 1-10 do not require comment.

11. Easement for utilities and drainage as shown on the recorded plat of Park Manor. As shown hereon

through the middle of the property.

(as to Lot 11) 1-9 do not require comment.

10. Utility easement as shown on the plat of Park Manor dated June 7, 1948, filed July 2, 1948, as Document

No. 126712. As shown hereon through the middle of the property.

ALTA/NSPS OPTIONAL TABLE A NOTES

(The following items refer to Table A optional survey responsibilities and specifications)

1. Monuments placed (or a reference monument or witness to the corner) at all major corners of the boundary

of the property, unless already marked or referenced by existing monuments or witnesses to the corner are

shown hereon.

2. The addresses, if disclosed in documents provided to or obtained by the surveyor, or observed while

conducting the fieldwork is 1066 County Highway 100 (as to Lots 2-9) and 1063 (as to Lot 10) and 1075 (as

to Lot 11) Manor Drive NE, Spring Lake Park, MN 55432

3. This property is contained in Zone X (areas determined to be outside the 0.2% annual chance floodplain)

per Flood Insurance Rate Map No. 27003C041E, Community Panel No. 270016 0401 E effective date of

December 16, 2015.

4. The Gross land area is 180,000 +/- square feet or 4.132 +/- acres.

6. (a) The current zoning classification, as provided by the City of Spring Lake Park, per a zoning letter, dated

August 17, 2016 for the subject property is as follows based on the assumption that Metropolitan Council

will approve the Comprehensive Plan Amendment and Zoning:

Proposed Zoning: R-3, Multiple Family Residential (Lots 2-9).

Lot Area: Ranges from 4,300 sf per unit to 7,500 sf per unit; reference City code of ordinances

Appendix E (a)(1)

Lot depth and width: Ranges from 130 feet to 75 feet; reference City code of ordinances Appendix E (a)(2)

Lot Coverage: 50%

Front Yard: Dwelling - 35 feet; Other uses - 50 feet

Side and Rear Yards: Range from 10 feet to 40 feet; reference City code of ordinances Appendix E (a)(5)

Building Height: Accessory Structure - 15 feet; Principal Structure - 35 feet of three stories, 

whichever is greater

Distance between Structures on a lot: 35 feet

Parking Requirements: 2.5 spaces per unit, 1 enclosed per unit. The Surveyor was not provided zoning

information for Lots 10 and 11.

(b) The zoning setback requirements provided per the aforementioned letter has been shown based on

proposed zoning.

7. (a) Exterior dimensions of all buildings are shown at ground level.

(b)(1) Square footage is the exterior footprint of all buildings at ground level.

(c) The heights of all buildings above grade are measured at the locations shown hereon.

8. Substantial features observed in the process of conducting fieldwork, are shown hereon.

9. Striping of clearly identifiable parking spaces on surface parking areas and lots are shown hereon. The

number and type of clearly identifiable parking stalls on this site are as follows: 49 Regular + 2 Disabled = 51

Total Parking Stalls.

11. We have shown underground utilities on and/or serving the surveyed property per Gopher State One-Call

Ticket Nos. 161821317 and 161821355. The following utilities and municipalities were notified:

ANOKA COUNTY (763) 862-4238 CITY OF BLAINE (763) 785-6165

COMCAST (612) 522-8141 CITY OF SPRING LAKE PARK (763) 784-6491

CENTURYLINK (855) 742-6062 XCEL ENERGY (800) 848-7558

CONNEXUS ENERGY (763) 323-4215 CENTER POINT ENERGY (800) 778-9140

ZAYO BANDWIDTH (763) 230-3870 SPRING LAKE PARK SCHOOLS (763) 600-4798

MNDOT (651) 366-5750

i.   Utility operators do not consistently respond to locate requests through the Gopher State One Call

service for surveying purposes such as this. Those utility operators that do respond, often will not locate

utilities from their main line to the customer's structure or facility. They consider those utilities

“private” installations that are outside their jurisdiction. These “private” utilities on the surveyed

property or adjoining properties, may not be located since most operators will not mark such "private"

utilities. A private utility locator may be contacted to investigate these utilities further, if requested by

the client.

ii.  The locations of underground utility lines shown hereon is an approximation based on available maps,

unless otherwise noted on the survey.

iii.  Maps provided by those notified above, either along with a field location or in lieu of such a location,

are very often inaccurate or inconclusive. EXTREME CAUTION MUST BE EXERCISED BEFORE AN

EXCAVATION TAKES PLACE ON OR NEAR THIS SITE. BEFORE DIGGING, YOU ARE REQUIRED BY

LAW TO NOTIFY GOPHER STATE ONE CALL AT LEAST 48 HOURS IN ADVANCE AT 811 or (651)

454-0002.

12. Governmental Agency survey-related requirements as specified by the client.

13. The names of the adjoining owners, as shown hereon, are based on information obtained from current tax

records.

16. We are not aware of any evidence of recent earth moving work, building construction or building additions

observed in the process of conducting our field work.

17. We are not aware of any proposed changes in street right of way lines or evidence of recent street or

sidewalk construction or repairs observed in the process of conducting our field work.

18. We have not been provided with any information on wetland delineation markers, as determined by a

qualified specialist.

19. We are not aware of any plottable offsite (i.e., appurtenant) easements or servitudes for this site.

SURVEY REPORT

1. The Surveyor was not provided utility easement documents for the subject property except for those shown

on the Survey.

2. The bearings for this survey are based on the Anoka County Coordinate System NAD 83 (1986 Adjust).

3. Benchmark: In Spring Lake Park, 0.05 Mile South Along Trunk Highway 65 from Junction of Trunk Highway

65 and County Road 10 In Spring Lake Park, At Trunk Highway 65 Milepoint 10.05, 53.6 Feet Southeast of

Northbound Trunk Highway 65, 76.7 Feet West-southwest of Ramp From Eastbound County Road 10 to

Northbound Trunk Highway 65, 1.5 Feet Northwest of Witness Post. Elevation = 905.92 (NGVD29).

Site Benchmark: Sanitary manhole invert located southwest of the southwest property corner along Manor

Drive as shown hereon. Elevation = 898.68 (NGVD29)

4. Shed and concrete patio lie northwesterly of the northwesterly property line.

5. Fence lies northwesterly of the northwesterly property line, southwest of the northeast property corner.

6. Overhead and underground lines and guy wires along the northeasterly property line without the benefit of

an easement.

7. Miniature golf course concrete and features lie northwesterly of the northwesterly property line.

8. Overhead line runs between Lots 10 and 11 without the benefit of an easement.

CERTIFICATION

To Dominium Acquisition, LLC; JPH Enterprises, Incorporated; Roberta Bobbi Butler; James C. Misuraca;

Citibank, N.A., and its successors and/or assigns, as their interests may appear; Fannie Mae, Citibank, N.A., and

their respective successors and/or assigns, as their interests may appear; Federal Home Loan Mortgage

Corporation, Citibank, N.A., and their respective successors and/or assigns, as their interests may appear;

Transamerica Affordable Housing, Inc., and any of its affiliates, successors or assigns; Commercial Partners Title,

LLC and Old Republic National Title Insurance Company:

This is to certify that this map or plat and the survey on which it is based were made in accordance with the

2016 Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/NSPS Land Title Surveys, jointly established and

adopted by ALTA and NSPS, and includes Items 1 - 4, 6(a), 6(b), 7(a), 7(b)(1), 7(c), 8, 9, 11-13 and 16-19 of Table

A thereof. The field work was completed on May 16, 2016

Date of Plat or Map: May 22, 2017

______________________________________________

Max L. Stanislowski, PLS     Minnesota License No. 48988

mstanislowski@loucksinc.com

LOUCKS

W
:
\
2
0
1
6
\
1
6
3
5
0
\
C

A
D

D
 
D

A
T

A
\
S
U

R
V

E
Y

\
S
1
6
3
5
0
-
M

A
S
T

E
R

P
l
o

t
t
e
d

:
 
0
5
 
/
2
2
 
/
 
2
0
1
7
 
 
 
1
1
:
2
0
 
A

M

7200 Hemlock Lane, Suite 300

Maple Grove, MN 55369

763.424.5505

www.loucksinc.com

PLANNING

CIVIL ENGINEERING

LAND SURVEYING

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

ENVIRONMENTAL

SUBMITTAL/REVISIONS

PROFESSIONAL SIGNATURE

QUALITY CONTROL

CADD files prepared by the Consultant for this project are

instruments of the Consultant professional services for use solely

with respect to this project. These CADD files shall not be used

on other projects, for additions to this project, or for completion

of this project by others without written approval by the

Consultant. With the Consultant's approval, others may be

permitted to obtain copies of the CADD drawing files for

information and reference only. All intentional or unintentional

revisions, additions, or deletions to these CADD files shall be

made at the full risk of that party making such revisions, additions

or deletions and that party shall hold harmless and indemnify the

Consultant from any & all responsibilities, claims, and liabilities.

CADD QUALIFICATION

THE LEGENDS

OF SPRING

LAKE PARK

1066 COUNTY HIGHWAY 10

SPRING LAKE PARK, MN

DOMINIUM

DEVELOPMENT AND

ACQUISTIONS, LLC

2905 NORTHWEST BLVD. SUITE

150, PLYMOUTH, MN 55441

ALTA/NSPS

LAND TITLE

SURVEY

1 OF 1



 

 

 

 
City of Spring Lake Park  

Engineer’s Project Status Report 
 

 

To: Council Members and Staff  Re: Status Report for 6.19.17 Meeting       
 

From:  Phil Gravel     File No.: R-18GEN  
 

 

Note:  Updated information is shown in italics.    

 
MS4 Permit (193802936). 

Continuing to work with the Public Works Director and the Administrator on implementing 

the work plan for 2017 MS4 items.  Annual public meeting will be held in July.   

 

Surface Water Management Plan (193803949). 

We’ve been doing research (including compiling old plans) as part of the background 

research for updating the local surface water management plan including stormwater 

modeling.   

 
2017 Sanitary Sewer Lining Project (193803782). 

This project will line sanitary sewer in the neighborhood east of Able Street and north of 

81st Avenue.  A Preconstruction Conference with Visu-Sewer was held on June 8th.  Lining 

is scheduled to occur in July.                  

 
2017-2018 Street Seal Coat Project (193803783). 

This 2-year project will include street maintenance in the neighborhood north of 81st Ave. 

and west of Monroe St. (2017) and in the neighborhood east of Monroe St., south of 81st 

St. and west of TH 65 (2018).  Construction Contracts have been signed.  A 

Preconstruction Conference with Astech will be held in the coming weeks.             

  

Other issues/projects.    
 

Continue to work with Coon Creek Watershed District (CCWD) Technical Advisory 

Committee (TAC) meeting.  Discussion items included O&M Agreements, weir structures, 

and the timeline for the CCWD to update their Surface Water Management Plan. 

 

City’s Water Supply Plan (DNR requirement) has been reviewed by the DNR and 

forwarded to the Met Council for review.   

 

Met with Dan, Terry, Phil Carlson and a developer to discuss a potential commercial 

development.   

 to discuss the city’s wellhead protection plan and steps necessary to get a 10-year  

 

Continue to work with staff on development review for the Dominium project.  The 

CCWD permit has been approved.  A full site plan review memo will be prepared later 

this month once revised site lighting plans are received.     
 

 

Feel free to contact Harlan Olson, Phil Carlson, Jim Engfer, Mark Rolfs, Tim Grinstead, Peter Allen, or me if you 

have any questions or require any additional information.   



 



 
Memorandum 
To:   Mayor Hansen and Members of the City Council 

From:  Daniel R. Buchholtz, MMC, Administrator, Clerk/Treasurer 

Date:  June 14, 2017 

Subject: Solar Garden Subscription 
 
I met with Peter Schmitt, US/Solar, about the possibility of the City subscribing to a new solar 
garden to be constructed.  Staff is seeking direction on how to proceed. 
 
Based on an initial review of the City’s utility bills, the subscription has the possibility of saving the 
City over $1 million in electricity costs over the next 25 years.  See the tables below for more 
information. 
 
General Service Meters 

 
 
Small General Service Meters 

 
 
Total Savings 

 
 
I know that there is significant frustration with this concept after negotiations with SunShare fell 
through.  However, the possibility of the significant savings outlined in US/Solar’s analysis makes 
it worth reviewing.  In addition, a number of cities, school districts and governmental entities have 
signed subscription agreements with US/Solar.  Staff recommends exploring the possibility of a 
solar garden subscription and inviting Mr. Schmitt to the July 17 City Council meeting for a 
formal presentation. 
 
If you have any questions, please don’t hesitate to contact me at 763-784-6491. 
 
 



 



 
CORRESPONDENCE 

  



 













































































 



  
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

I hereby certify this report was prepared 
by me or under my direct supervision, and 
I am a duly Licensed Professional 
Engineer under the laws of the State of 
MN. 
 
By:        _________________________ 
 Vernon E. Swing, P.E. 
 License No. 41417 
 
Date: _April 27, 2017_____________ 

 

Traffic Impact Study 
Legends of Spring Lake Park 
Spring Lake Park, MN 



 

Traffic Impact Study i  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments  

Executive Summary  
 

Background:  
The Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments is proposed on County 10 
Service Drive to the west of the County 10 and Central Avenue interchange in 
Spring Lake Park, Minnesota. The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic 
impacts associated with the build out of the proposed development on the study 
area roads and intersections where significant impact is anticipated.  
 
Results:  
The principal findings of this study are: 
 The proposed development is estimated to generate 682 new trips during an 

average weekday, 39 new trips during the AM peak hour and 50 new trips 
during the PM peak hour.  

 All study intersections will operate with acceptable overall delays and queues 
in all analysis scenarios.  

 The proposed development will have a negligible impact on the operations of 
the public roadways or intersections. 

 Site circulation is adequate. 
 
Recommendations:  
The following items are recommended based on the analyses contained in this 
study: 
 No geometric or striping changes are required to the public roadways due to 

the expected traffic. Operations will remain about the same. 
 Encourage/schedule move-ins and truck deliveries outside of the normal 

weekday peak periods to minimize conflicts with commuter traffic. 
 
This study is based upon a concept development plan titled “Site Plan”, dated 
March 7, 2017. Assuming the general characteristics of the proposed development 
remain approximately the same as documented, minor changes in the final design 
are not expected to alter the study results or recommendations. 



 

Traffic Impact Study ii  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
1. Introduction .......................................................................................... 1 

2. Existing Conditions .............................................................................. 3 

3. Forecasted Traffic ................................................................................ 4 

4. Analyses ............................................................................................... 6 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations ................................................ 11 

6. Appendix ............................................................................................. 12 

 
 
 

LIST OF TABLES & CHARTS 
 

Table 1 – Study Corridor Characteristics ...................................................................... 3 
Table 2 – New Trip Generation ....................................................................................... 4 
Chart 1 – Study Corridor Volume to Capacity ............................................................... 7 
Chart 2 – AM Peak Hour Queues: Side Street Stop Sign Controlled Intersections ... 8 
Chart 3 – PM Peak Hour Queues: Side Street Stop Sign Controlled Intersections .... 9 

 



 

Traffic Impact Study 1  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

1. Introduction 

a. Proposed Development 
The Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments is proposed to be 
developed on County 10 Service Drive to the west of the County 10 and Central 
Avenue interchange in Spring Lake Park, Minnesota. Figure 1 in the Appendix 
shows the general location of the site. The following are key attributes of the 
proposed development: 

i. Access to the site will be provided via three access points on County 10 
Service Drive. The development plan is shown in Figure 2 of the 
Appendix.  

ii. The proposed development will include a 198-unit senior apartment 
complex called Legends of Spring Lake Park.  

iii. The development is expected to be fully occupied by 2018. 
iv. 81 surface parking stalls are proposed for the site as well as an 

underground ramp. 
v. The proposed development complies with the current zoning C-2, 

Neighborhood & Service Center Commercial. 

b. Purpose of Study 
The purpose of this study is to determine the traffic impacts associated with the 
build out of the proposed development. The traffic impacts are studied on the 
roads and intersections surrounding the site where significant impact may occur 
due to the presence of site generated traffic, and improvements are 
recommended where mitigation is needed. For those not familiar with the general 
concepts and terms associated with traffic engineering, The Language of Traffic 
Engineering guide is provided in the Appendix. 

c. Study Objectives 
The objectives of this study are: 

i. Document how the study intersections and roadways currently operate. 
ii. Forecast the amount of traffic expected to be generated by the proposed 

development. 
iii. Determine how the study intersections and roadways will operate in the 

future with and without the proposed development. 
iv. Recommend appropriate mitigation measures if poor operations are 

identified.  
 

The roadways corridors studied in this document include those surrounding the 
proposed site, which are: 

i. Able Street 
ii. Manor Drive 
iii. Laddie Road 
iv. County 10 Service Drive 

 



 

Traffic Impact Study 2  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

 
For the purposes of this traffic study, the study intersections closest to the 
proposed development and where the greatest impact is expected were chosen 
for review and include: 

i. Able Street & Manor Drive 
ii. Laddie Road & Manor Drive 
iii. Laddie Road & County 10 Service Road 

 
This study is based upon a concept development plan titled “Site Plan”, dated 
March 7, 2017. Assuming the general characteristics of the proposed 
development remain approximately the same as documented, minor changes in 
the final design are not expected to alter the study results or recommendations. 
 
It should be noted that this study does not account for the existing roadway 
conditions such as pavement quality or appropriate drainage. 
 

  



 

Traffic Impact Study 3  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

2.  Existing Conditions 

a. Corridor Characteristics 
As mentioned, the proposed site is located on County 10 Service Drive to the 
west of the County 10 and Central Avenue interchange in Spring Lake Park, 
Minnesota. Table 1 shows the characteristics of the key roadway corridors 
around this site and within the study area. 
 
Table 1 – Study Corridor Characteristics 

Name Designation1 Classification2 
Speed 
Limit Lanes Transit3 

Peds/ 
Bicycles 

Able Street Local Road Major Collector 30 mph 
2 

Undivided 
N/A 

Sidewalk on 
West Side 

Manor Drive Local Road Local Road  30 mph 
2 

Undivided 
N/A 

No 
Sidewalks 

Laddie Road Local Road Local Road 30 mph 
2 

Undivided 
N/A 

No 
Sidewalks 

County 10 Service 
Drive 

Local Road Frontage Road 30 mph 
2 

Undivided 
N/A 

No 
Sidewalks 

 
 

   

 
 

  
   

 
 

 
     

  
  

  
 

 
   
   
   
  

1 I = Interstate, TH = Trunk Highway, CSAH = County State Aid Highway, CR = County Road,
MSA = Municipal State Aid Route.

2 Per the City of Spring Lake Park classification map.
3 Number of routes with stops around the proposed site followed by the approximate frequency

of transit service during the peak periods.

b. Traffic Volumes
Intersection video was collected at the existing study intersections under normal 
weekday  conditions  in  April 2017.  Using  these  videos, 48-hour turning 
movement counts were obtained at the study intersections.

The average AM and PM peak hours were found to be from 7:15 to 8:15 AM and 
4:00 to 5:00 PM The “typical day” counts from these two peak hours were used 
at  the study intersections for analysis. The  turning movement  count  data from 
the counts are contained in fifteen minute intervals in the Appendix.

Based on  the  “typical day” turning movement volumes, the current daily traffic 
volumes on each study corridor are:

i. 5,600 vehicles per day on Able Street.
ii. 800 vehicles per day on Manor Drive.
iii. 500 vehicles per day on Laddie Road.
iv. 400 vehicles per day on County 10 Service Road. 

 
 

 
 

 
  



 

Traffic Impact Study 4  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

3. Forecasted Traffic 

a. Site Traffic Forecasting 
A trip generation analysis was performed for the development site based on the 
methods published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip 
Generation Manual, 9th Edition. The ITE manual compiles studies from across 
the country to provide a national average traffic for various land uses. 
 
For each analysis, the raw trip generation was divided among three types of trips 
– new, pass-by, and internal. Pass-by trips are those vehicles already on the 
roads which will stop at the development site in the future. Internal trips are those 
vehicles within the site visiting two or more stores. New trips represent traffic 
increasing the overall number of vehicles at the intersections. All pass-by, 
internal, and net new percentages used in this study were based on the values 
published in the ITE Trip Generation Manual, 9th Edition, the breakdown between 
these types of trip generation is: 

 0 percent Internal Trips. 
 0 percent Pass-By Trips. 
 100 percent New Trips. 

 
The resultant forecast of new trips generated by the proposed development are 
summarized in Table 2. A detailed trip generation table showing the exact 
breakdowns is provided in the Appendix.  

 
Table 2 – New Trip Generation 

 
 
A trip distribution pattern was developed for the generated traffic going to and 
from the proposed development. This pattern is based on the existing traffic 
volumes, site access, competing land uses, and access to the regional 
transportation system. The general trip distribution pattern for this study is: 

i. 5 percent of the generated traffic to/from the east on County 10 Service 
Drive. 

ii. 45 percent of the generated traffic to/from the south on Able Street. 
iii. 50 percent of the generated traffic to/from the north on Able Street. 

Traffic generated by the site development was assigned to the area roadways 
per this distribution pattern.  
 

In Out In Out In Out

252
Senior Apartments         

(198 Units)
341 341 13 26 27 23

PM peak Hour
Land Use Code Description & Size

Daily AM Peak Hour



 

Traffic Impact Study 5  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

b. Non-site Traffic Forecasting 
The  study area is fully developed and consists of local roads with existing 
households and developments.  No additional background traffic is expected by 
the 2018 Build year.    

c. Total Traffic 
Traffic forecasts were developed for the 2018 scenario by adding the traffic 
generated by the proposed development to the non-site forecast volumes. The 
resultant 2018 peak hour forecast are shown in the capacity files of the Appendix 
for each scenario.   



 

Traffic Impact Study 6  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

4. Analyses  

a. Corridor Vehicular Analysis 
While many factors contribute to a road feeling congested, the two biggest 
factors are volume, how many vehicles are using the road, and capacity, how 
many vehicles the road can accommodate a day. Transportation professionals 
use these pieces of information to create a ratio of volume to capacity. For 
example, a road with a volume to capacity ratio of 1.0, where the traffic demand 
is nearly equal to the traffic supply, will feel congested to motorists. 
 
Below is a rough guide of the daily traffic volumes different types of roads can 
accommodate based on Exhibits 10-9 and 16-14 of the Highway Capacity 
Manual. For planning-level purposes, if the Average Daily Traffic (ADT) volume 
on a roadway is below the threshold, then it is considered un-congested. If the 
daily volume falls inside the range, the road is almost congested, and if the daily 
volume is over the threshold the road is congested. 

 2-Lane (one in each direction with left turn lanes at busy intersections and 
coordinated signals), undivided street, are considered almost congested 
with a volume of 11,500 to 19,900 vehicles per day. 

 4-Lane, divided street (two in each direction with left turn lanes at busy 
intersections and coordinated signals), – 23,500 to 37,900 vehicles per 
day. 

 6-Lane, divided street (three in each direction with left turn lanes at busy 
intersections and coordinated signals), – 34,800 to 54,300 vehicles per 
day. 

 
The above capacities represent planning-level, capacity in ideal roadway 
conditions with assumptions for the percentage of peak hour traffic, access 
spacing, traffic control, and other factors. Research from UC Berkley, for 
example, indicates quality of life along a residential street is negatively impacted 
when the ADT exceeds 1,000 vehicles per day. Therefore, the 1,000 vehicle per 
day threshold is used for the capacity along neighborhood two lane roads even 
though its physical capacity is approximately ten times larger. 
 
To provide an initial planning-level screening, Chart 1 provides the daily 
volume to capacity ratios of the study corridors during each of the study years. 
As shown, all intersections are below capacity.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Traffic Impact Study 7  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

 
 
Chart 1 – Study Corridor Volume to Capacity 

 

b. Intersection Vehicular Analysis 
Individual intersections can perform poorly during peak periods while the overall 
roadway corridor is operating with an uncongested daily volume to capacity ratio 
lower than 1.0. Therefore, capacity analyses are performed for the study 
intersections to determine if they need improvements such as turn lanes or an 
upgrade in traffic control. 
 
The existing and forecasted turning movement volumes along with the existing 
intersection configurations and traffic control were used to develop the average 
delay per intersection in each study scenario. The current intersection geometry 
and control for each study intersection is shown in the Appendix. The delay 
calculations were done in accordance with the 2010 Highway Capacity Manual 
using the Vistro software package. The full calculations for each study scenario, 
including Level of Service (LOS) grades and queue lengths, are included in the 
Appendix. Also included is a guide explaining the Level of Service grade 
concept. 
 
Instead of reporting average approach delays, Chart 2 (AM peak hour) and Chart 
3 (PM peak hour) show the 95th percentile queue as the measure of 
effectiveness at intersections with side street stop sign control. Based on our 

Congested:  volume/capacity of 1.0 or greater

Nearing Congestion: volume/capacity of 0.85 - 1.0

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

1.2

Able Street Manor Drive Laddie Road County 10 Service Drive

V
o

lu
m

e 
to

 C
ap

ac
it

y 
R

at
io

Existing 2018 Build



 

Traffic Impact Study 8  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

experience, improvements are not warranted at these types of intersections until 
the 95th percentile queue at a stop sign is in the five to ten vehicle range.  
 
Average delays are not presented for intersections with side street stop sign 
control because the vast majority of vehicles going through the intersection are 
on the main roadway and have zero delay, which leads to low overall average 
delays. At side street stop sign controlled approaches to busy roadways, the 
average delay for all the vehicles on the approach often exceeds 60 seconds. 
This can be the case for a few vehicles waiting at the stop sign where 
improvements would not be justified based on the low traffic volume.  
 
Chart 2 – AM Peak Hour Queues: Side Street Stop Sign Controlled 
Intersections 

 
 

  

Unreasonable 95th Percentile Queue (5 Vehicles)

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Manor Dr & Able St Manor Dr & Laddie
Rd

Laddie Rd & County
10 Service Dr

County 10 Service Dr
& Main Access

County 10 Service Dr
& Resident Access

9
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 Q

u
eu

es
 (

ve
h

ic
le

s)

Existing 2018 Build



 

Traffic Impact Study 9  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

Chart 3 – PM Peak Hour Queues: Side Street Stop Sign Controlled 
Intersections 

 
 
As shown in Charts 2 and 3, the study intersections are all operating 
acceptably today and are expected to continue to operate acceptably into the 
future with the proposed development and additional background growth. Very 
little difference is expected between the existing and future build scenario 
conditions. 

c. Vehicular Mitigation Analysis 
Per the above analyses, all the study intersections and corridors will operate 
acceptably throughout the study scenarios. No mitigation is required for the 
public roadway intersections due to the Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior 
Apartments development.  

d. Concept Site Plan & Multi-Modal Review 
The concept site plan shown in Figure 2 of the Appendix was reviewed to 
determine if the plan provides appropriate circulation, and minimizes conflicts. 
Following are key transportation elements of the concept site plan: 

i. Passenger cars will generally be to/from the resident access at the north-
east corner of the site. Visitors, move-ins, and drop offs will use the main 
access points. 

ii. Moving trucks are expected to circulate via the main access points. 
Garbage collection is located at the entrance to the underground parking 
ramp, loading/unloading of deliveries should be encouraged/scheduled 
during non-peak times. 

Unreasonable 95th Percentile Queue (5 Vehicles)

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

Manor Dr & Able St Manor Dr & Laddie
Rd

Laddie Rd & County
10 Service Dr

County 10 Service Dr
& Main Access

County 10 Service Dr
& Resident Access

9
5

th
 P

er
ce

n
ti

le
 Q

u
eu

es
 (

ve
h

ic
le

s)

Existing 2018 Build



 

Traffic Impact Study 10  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

iii. The proposed site will accommodate 60 parking spaces around the 
proposed building. This amount is similar to what is currently provided 
with a change in circulation on the west aisle to better accommodate the 
drive-thru circulation. Based on counts and observations of the existing 
stores, the parking needs may approach the parking capacity during the 
lunchtime rush. Proper signing and/or pavement markings should be 
provided to minimize confusion for the new one-way road. 

iv. A sidewalk connection is proposed around the entire site for pedestrians.  
v. Bicycle parking is not shown in the proposed site plan, but should be 

considered to allow for an alternative mode of transportation. 
 

  



 

Traffic Impact Study 11  
Legends of Spring Lake Park Senior Apartments 

5. Conclusions and Recommendations 
 
The traffic impacts of the proposed development were thoroughly studied and the 
principal findings are: 

 The proposed development is estimated to generate 682 new trips during an 
average weekday, 39 new trips during the AM peak hour and 50 new trips during 
the PM peak hour.  

 All study intersections will operate with acceptable overall delays and queues in 
all analysis scenarios.  

 The proposed development will have a negligible impact on the operations of the 
public roadways or intersections. 

 Site circulation is adequate. 
 

The following recommendations are made based on the above findings: 
 No geometric or striping changes are required to the public roadways due to the 

expected traffic. Operations are expected to remain about the same. 
 Encourage/schedule move-ins and truck deliveries outside of the normal 

weekday peak periods to minimize conflicts. 
 

 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
       

 
Municipal Producer, Trevor Scholl, was able to meet with Lexington and Lino Lakes staff in 
May.  He explained the services that he provides, met staff that he will be working with, and 
added requested projects to his shoot catalog.  Trevor completed eight of the projects that had 
previously been requested.   Staff members Ben Hayle, Danika Peterson, and T.J. Tronson also 
either produced programs or assisted in the production of programs for the City channels.  
 
 
 

Title Producer Runtime 

Mayor's Minutes Blaine Trevor Scholl 00:06:03 

Humane Society Adopt A Cat Month Trevor Scholl 00:03:54 

Centennial Lakes Police Dept. Body Cams Trevor Scholl 00:08:43 

2017 Senior Safety & Wellness Fair Trevor Scholl 00:06:03 

Lexington Memorial Park Softball Preview Trevor Scholl 00:02:00 

Blaine Parks Recycling PSA Trevor Scholl 00:00:51 

Blaine CivicReady App Trevor Scholl 00:02:18 

Blaine World Fest Trevor Scholl 00:05:17 

Anoka County Board Meeting (5/9/17) T.J. Tronson 01:03:54 

Anoka County Board Meeting (5/23/17) T.J. Tronson 00:44:04 

Cable Commission Meeting T.J. Tronson 00:28:45 
 

 
 
Some projects that Trevor is working on or is scheduled to produce include: 
 
 Tower Days Events 
 Blaine Festival 
 Spring Lake Park Mayor's Minutes 
 Ham Lake DNR/Invasive Species  
 Ham Lake Mayor's Minutes 
 Lino Lakes YourGov App 
 Lino Lakes Child Car Seat Safety 
 Fetes Des Lacs 
 Blue Heron Days 
 Circle Pines Mayor's Minutes 
 Lexington Mayor's Minutes 
 Blaine Tip 411 App 
 Business profiles 

May 2017  CCIITTYY  REPORT  
blaine centerville circle pines ham lake lexington lino lakes spring lake park

▪ May Completed Videos/Playing on City Channels & Internet 

Video Production 



 Fire station recruitment needs for each department 
 Explorers programs 
 City comprehensive plan coverage 
 Lexington Fall celebration 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 Blaine 

 Assisted Roark with question regarding FS3 Frame Sync for conversions between 
the Chamber and the Cloverleaf Farms room at City Hall. 

 Received an email from Roark regarding RFPs.  Received proposals from Alpha 
Video and Z Systems on the Blaine City Hall upgrade.  Scheduled a meeting with 
Roark and Eric to go over the proposals in detail.  

 Centerville  

 Communicated with Teresa regarding upgrading equipment to HD.  Centerville is 
ready to begin process.  Emailed Mike Pouh at Alpha Video to arrange a time to 
go to Centerville for a site survey.   

 Circle Pines  

 Circle Pines did not request any technical assistance in May.    
 Ham Lake  

 Check with Comcast regarding progress on I-Net fiber install for transport of Ham 
Lake video signal from City Hall to NMTV head-end.  Comcast says all that 
remains to be done is some splicing and equipment installations at their head-end.  
This should fix the video degradation in transport from Ham Lake to NMTV.    

 Lexington  

 Lexington did not request any technical assistance in May.  
 Lino Lakes  

 Finished researching live streaming options for Lino Lakes.  Recommend 
Tightrope's Reflect Service.  It comes with a yearly subscription but it is a cloud 
based service that won't require extraordinary bandwidth.  Other options include 
the Ross MSE card that will stream a live output, but also require more 
bandwidth.  Depending on number of simultaneous viewers, performance will be 
affected.  Also, NMTV is having problems with a Ross MSE card that Ross has 
been unable to rectify.  Waiting for information from NMTV website designers to 
make sure our Lino meeting page can accommodate the live stream. 

 Emailed Jeff Karlson about dais upgrade.  Asked Jeff a question for Z Systems 
regarding the top of the dais.  Lino Lakes is currently not planning on a new top. 

 Made calls to vendors to research streaming possibilities for Lino Lakes meetings. 
 Made additional calls to vendors with more questions regarding live streaming 

solutions.  
 Received Lino Lakes upgrade estimate from Z Systems for input.  Included the 

block diagram and console elevation drawings. 
 Emailed Jeff Karlson to schedule a meeting with Z Systems.    

 Spring Lake Park  

 Went to Spring Lake Park with TJ to look into the issues with the cameras 
looking off.  Began the diagnosis process. 

 Went back to Spring Lake Park the next day and resolved all the issues with 
cameras and reprogrammed all the macro buttons on the software program.  Also 
helped Wanda figure out how to use the graphics program and integrate it into the 
switch program.  

 All Cities  

 Worked with Rit Das from Haivision regarding Makito X networking.   

Equipment Consulting/Technical Support 



 Submitted change order for additional sync card and extra Makito X dual blade 
decoder for City upgrade. Will provide redundancy.   

 
 
 
  

 
 

  
 
 
Programming Coordinator, Michele Silvester, along with help from Eric Houston and 
Tarkor Zehn, is responsible for processing and scheduling the programming on the City 
channels.  There are three categories of programs that are scheduled on the City channels; 
live and replayed meetings, NMTV staff created video content, and informational 
graphics pages.  All categories of programming must be encoded, scheduled, and entered 
into the Tightrope playback system.   
 
As each live meeting is being recorded at City Hall, it is routed to the North Metro TV 
head-end and then sent out over the cable system. At the same time it is also encoded on 
a server for future playbacks.  The following meetings were processed in May: 
 

Title Producer Runtime 

Blaine Traffic Commission Meeting (5/2/17) Blaine Staff 01:22:37 

Blaine City Council Meeting (5/4/17) Blaine Staff 02:13:31 

Blaine Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/9/17) 

Blaine Staff 00:11:59 

Blaine Natural Resources Conservation 
Board Meeting (5/16/17) 

Blaine Staff 00:39:27 

Blaine City Council Meeting (5/18/17) Blaine Staff 01:33:40 

Blaine Park Board Meeting (5/23/17) Blaine Staff 00:27:43 

Centerville City Council Meeting (5/10/17) Centerville Staff 02:21:01 

Centerville City Council Meeting (5/24/17) Centerville Staff 00:24:21 

Circle Pines Park Board Meeting (5/2/17) Circle Pines Staff 00:18:06 

Circle Pines City Council Meeting (5/9/17) Circle Pines Staff 00:28:38 

Circle Pines Utility Commission Meeting 
(5/17/17) 

Circle Pines Staff 00:56:41 

Circle Pines City Council Meeting (5/23/17) Circle Pines Staff 00:23:13 

Ham Lake City Council Meeting (5/1/17) Ham Lake Staff 01:14:49 

Ham Lake Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/8/17) 

Ham Lake Staff 00:06:12 

Ham Lake City Council Meeting (5/15/17) Ham Lake Staff 02:36:14 

Ham Lake Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/22/17) 

Ham Lake Staff 00:40:59 

Lexington City Council Meeting (5/4/17) Lexington Staff 00:34:00 

Lexington City Council Meeting (5/18/17) Lexington Staff 01:28:11 

Lino Lakes City Council Meeting (5/8/17) Lino Lakes Staff 01:43:46 

Lino Lakes Planning & Zoning Commission 
Meeting (5/10/17) 

Lino Lakes Staff 01:22:15 

Lino Lakes City Council Meeting (5/22/17) Lino Lakes Staff 01:13:07 

Master Control 



Title cont. Producer cont. Runtime 

cont. 

Spring Lake Park City Council Meeting 
(5/15/17) 

Spring Lake Park 
Staff 

01:02:50 

22 New Programs  20:24:24  New 

Hours 

 
Meetings are scheduled for replay based on schedules requested by each City. Additional 
video programming produced by NMTV staff is also scheduled on the channels.  The 
table below outlines how many times a video program was entered into the Tightrope 
system, and played back on each City channel.   
 

City Number of Times 

Programs Played 

Hours Programmed 

on Channel 

Blaine  517 296:49:48 

Centerville 136 86:57:40 

Circle Pines 268 131:10:04 

Ham Lake 122 110:22:34 

Lexington 281 289:44:24 

Lino Lakes 94 84:10:24 

Spring Lake Park 184 115:52:12 

Totals: 1,602 Program Playbacks 1,105:07:06   Hours of 

Video Programming on 

Channels 

 
The last category of programming on City channels consists of bulletin board, or graphics 
pages, that display information about the City or about events and issues of interest to 
citizens.  Eric Houston is currently updating the pages for Cities that have indicated 
interest in his assistance. He began updating the pages in March, where hundreds of new 
slides were created.  In May, new slides were created upon request.  New Tightrope 
Carousel graphics generators have been purchased for Cities and will be installed by July.  
At that time, Eric will be responsible for all City approved content on the Carousel units.  
The following work was done for City graphics pages in May: 
 

 Blaine 

 Created Carousel demo channel. 
 Centerville  

 No pages were updated. 
 Circle Pines  

 Create 3 new SCALA slides. 
 Ham Lake  

 No pages were updated. 
 Lexington  

 No pages were updated. 
 Lino Lakes  

 Created 21 graphics slides and a demo packet to show Jeff Karlson and City staff 
 Met with Jeff Karlson at Lino Lakes to review plans for the new Carousel 
 Spoke with Lisa, the Carousel point-person.  

 Spring Lake Park  

 Create 13 graphics slides 



 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
NMTV has created a video on demand service, with line-item bookmarking, for our 
Cities meetings.  In order to accomplish this each encoded meeting has to undergo 
several steps.  The meeting must first be transferred and transcoded from the playback 
server to the video on demand server.  The length of time necessary for this varies based 
on the length of the meeting.  Once that is done, a staff member must go through the 
meeting entering a bookmark at the start of each meeting line-item, and type in the 
corresponding line-item information.  Staff utilizes marked agendas provided by City 
staff members for this step.  If marked agendas aren't provided by City staff we go to the 
City website to find unmarked agendas and place meeting on VOD without bookmarks.  
Once that is done and saved the bookmarked meeting is then linked to the NMTV 
website's city meeting page for video on demand. The following number of meetings 
were bookmarked and/or placed on VOD for the Cities in May: 
 
 Blaine 

 6 meetings bookmarked and placed on VOD. 
 Centerville  

 2 meetings placed on VOD. 
 Circle Pines  

 4 meetings bookmarked and placed on VOD. 
 Ham Lake  

 4 meetings bookmarked and placed on VOD. 
 Lexington  

 2 meetings placed on VOD. 
 Lino Lakes  

 3 meetings bookmarked and placed on VOD.  
 Spring Lake Park  

 1 meeting bookmarked and placed on VOD 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  
 
 
The three issues dealt with in May include the ongoing process for updating graphics 
generators and HD signal transport from Cities, and looking into participating in a ADA 
Closed Captioning compliance review and franchise fee payment review.   
 
 Carousel/Makito X  

 Held meeting with Alpha project manager to plan installation and commissioning 
of Carousel units.  

 Discover that there may be some savings over original bid price, due to less 
expensive newer model.  Staff also feels that training is not necessary for the 
Makito X units, resulting in savings.  Any franchise fees left after the purchase of 
the City equipment will be returned to Cities.  

 

Meetings on Demand 

Administrative 



 ADA Compliance Work Plan  

 Talked with Commission attorney regarding participating in ADA Closed 
Captioning study with other franchise authorities. 

 Discussed ADA Closed Captioning issues with Operations Committee and 
Commission.   

 Signed up to participate in individualized ADA study to determine compliance 
with closed captioning rules.   

 
 Franchise Fee Review  

 Looked into possibility of conducting franchise fee review on Comcast records.   
 Determined it would make more sense to conduct franchise fee review as part of 

upcoming franchise renewal.  Will include cost of conducting one in 2018 budget. 
 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

May 2017  Update 
North Metro TV
 

 
 
          
  

Program Production 

In May, a total of 98 new programs were produced utilizing the North 
Metro facilities, funds, and services.  This constitutes 61:15:00 hours 
of new programming.    
 

 33 programs were produced by the public  

 43 programs were produced by NMTV staff 

 22 programs were produced by City staff 
 

 

 
 
  Van Shoots 
  
The HD truck was used for 49:45:00 hours of production. Events 
produced live and recorded for additional playbacks include: 
 

 Baseball:  Blaine vs. Centennial 

 Boys Lacrosse:  Centennial vs. Blaine 

 Softball:  Spring Lake Park vs. Blaine 

 Softball:  Centennial vs. Spring Lake Park 

 Boys Lacrosse:  Wayzata vs. Blaine 

 Boys Lacrosse:   Spring Lake Park vs. Centennial 

 Softball: 7AAAA QF:  Duluth vs. Blaine 

 Baseball: 7AAAA QF:  Cambridge-Isanti vs. Blaine 
 
 
 

  
Workshops 
 

Workshop Instructor Organization Students 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 3 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 6 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 4 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 6 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 5 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 4 

Intro to NMTV Eric Houston General Public 3 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 6 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 7 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 7 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 7 

Camera Eric Houston General Public 6 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 8 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 7 

DaVinci Academy 
Production Series, Class 9 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 5 

Studio Eric Houston General Public 5 



Workshop cont. Instructor cont. Organization cont. Students cont 
DaVinci Academy 

Production Series, Class 
10 

Eric Houston DaVinci Students 4 

Editing Eric Houston General Public 5 

Xpression 102 Matt Waldron Staff, interns, volunteers 1 

Xpression 102 Matt Waldron Staff, interns, volunteers 2 

14 Workshops   68 Students 
 

 

 

  
Home Movie Transfers 
 

Home movie transfers have become one of our most popular services.  Residents can transfer 
their family videos, film, slides, and photos at North Metro TV themselves for free, or pay NMTV 
to do it.  Most participants want to do it themselves.       
 

Month Hours 
Transferred 

Tapes Film 
Reels 

DVDs Photos/
Slides 

Fees Paid 

January 205.75 58 174  46 80 $675 

February 165.75 65 41 14 672 $411 

March 131.5 41 98 45 0 $305 

April 118.5 60 34 40 0 $157.50 

May 192.25 81 58 16 473 $215 

TOTAL: 813.75 305 405 161 1,225 $1,763.50 
 
 
 

  

 

Public Usage Stats 

For statistical purposes, the public access department documents total numbers of unique 
individuals and total hours of usage of the facility by the general public, every month.  These 
numbers include regular users, class participants, individuals transferring videos, people who 
attend events, and any other public usage of the facility.  The numbers do not take into account 
the many members of the public who work with any other NMTV department, such as news, 
sports, outreach, or educational.    
 

Month Unique Individuals Total Usage Hours 

January 67 523.5 

February 74 461.75 

March 54 476.75 

April 71 326.5 

May 106 665 

TOTAL PUBLIC USAGE:  2,453.5 
 

 

 

 

  
Production Highlights 
 

NMTV News Highlights 
Each week Danika Peterson and Ben Hayle 
create a news program that highlights events, 
people, issues, and information important to 
citizens of our Member Cities.  Some May 
highlights include:  

 Alexandra House Faces Grant Loss 
 Olympic Trials Come to Blaine 
 Anoka County Remembers Fallen 

Officers 
 Spring Lake Park Business Enters 

Final Season 
 Gander Mountain Closing? 



 Connexus Energy Creates Pollinator Friendly Solar Garden. 
 Blaine's Weekly Outdoor Farmers Market 
 

In addition to daily playbacks of North Metro TV News on the cable systems, there are over 
390local stories archived for viewers on the NMTV YouTube page.  The page can be accessed 
through the northmetrotv.com website. 
     

VIP Awards 
The 15th Annual VIP Awards Ceremony took place on 
Tuesday, May 2nd.  For the third year the event was held 
at the Historic Heights Theatre.  The Theatre staff had 
VIP Awards spelled out on the marquee, and our poster 
for the event was in the display case.  The organist 
played until the ceremony started and popcorn and 
beverages were provided.  A photography area was set 
up so people could have their pictures taken before the 
ceremony and after with their awards.  We had a great 
turn-out and have heard nothing but compliments 
regarding the venue. In total, 28 trophies and many 
certificates of appreciation were given to some very 
deserving folks.  The event was taped and each 
individual award recipient's segment is presented as a 
separate program.  By doing this we could easily post each award winner's segment to YouTube 
and our website.    

 

NMTV Sports and Social Media 
New Sports Producer, Jeremy Millington, has been working to bring more NMTV sports to social 
media.  New to the station are Facebook Live pre-game hits from the announcers down on the 
field before the game starts.  They let viewers know what game is coming up and what you can 
expect to see during the live coverage of the event.  They then produce in-game and final score 
updates on the Facebook feed and post upcoming games that are scheduled.  After the live game 
is over, Jeremy puts together game summaries with highlights, music and announcer voice-overs.  
The game summaries are also posted to YouTube.   
 

New Truck Graphics 
The new truck graphics are done!  It took a few weeks for Video Engineer and graphics guru, Matt 
Waldron, to design the wrap.  Then the sign company came out and measured the vehicle.  After 
that it took about a week for the actual work to be completed.  The back of the truck includes the 
names of our Member Cities and the services that NMTV provides.             

 



City Productions 
Municipal Producer, Trevor Scholl, completed many of the programs that were requested by 
Cities during his first meetings.  New meetings included Lexington and Lino Lakes staff.  He 
introduced himself, explained the services he could provide and scheduled requested 
productions.  Projects that were completed in May include: 

 Blaine Mayor's Minutes 
 Humane Society Adopt a Cat Month 
 Centennial Lakes Police Dept. Body Cams 
 2017 Senior Safety & Wellness Fair 
 Lexington Memorial Park Softball Preview 
 Blaine Parks Recycling PSA 
 Blaine Civic Ready App 
 Blaine World Fest 

 
Future programs being organized include: 

 Tower Days Events 
 Blaine Festival 
 Spring Lake Park Mayor's Minutes 
 Ham Lake DNR/Invasive Species  
 Ham Lake Mayor's Minutes 
 Lino Lakes YourGov App 
 Lino Lakes Child Car Seat Safety 
 Fetes Des Lacs 
 Blue Heron Days 
 Circle Pines Mayor's Minutes 
 Lexington Mayor's Minutes 
 Blaine Tip 411 App 
 Business profiles 
 Fire station recruitment needs for each department 
 Explorers programs 
 City comprehensive plan coverage 
 Lexington Fall celebration 

 
Trevor touches base with contacts on a regular basis and also encourages Cities to contact him 
whenever they have an idea for a new show.    

 

New Sports Producer 
When Sports Producer, Matt Waldron, accepted the 
position of NMTV Video Engineer, his position 
opened up for the first time in fifteen years.   The job 
was posted and resumes started coming in.  After 
two weeks of interviews with some very qualified 
candidates, Jeremy Millington was offered the 
position.  He has worked for the last nine years as a 
production specialist for the City of Coon Rapids 
producing local sporting events with their production 
truck. Previous to that he was a volunteer with North 
Metro TV.  Jeremy will be producing high school 
sporting events with the new HD production truck.  He will also be working to improve NMTV 
Sports presence on the website and social medial.  So, welcome back Jeremy!     
 

 

Production equipment consulting for cities and schools  
 Blaine 

 Assisted Roark with question regarding FS3 Frame Sync for conversions between the 
Chamber and the Cloverleaf Farms room at City Hall. 

 Received an email from Roark regarding RFPs.  Received proposals from Alpha Video 
and Z Systems on the Blaine City Hall upgrade.  Scheduled a meeting with Roark and 
Eric to go over the proposals in detail.  

 Centerville  
 Communicated with Teresa regarding upgrading equipment to HD.  Centerville is ready 

to begin process.  Emailed Mike Pouh at Alpha Video to arrange a time to go to 
Centerville for a site survey.   

 



 Circle Pines  
 Circle Pines did not request any technical assistance in May.    

 Ham Lake  
 Check with Comcast regarding progress on I-Net fiber install for transport of Ham Lake 

video signal from City Hall to NMTV head-end.  Comcast says all that remains to be done 
is some splicing and equipment installations at their head-end.  This should fix the video 
degradation in transport from Ham Lake to NMTV.    

 Lexington  
 Lexington did not request any technical assistance in May.  

 Lino Lakes  
 Finished researching live streaming options for Lino Lakes.  Recommend Tightrope's 

Reflect Service.  It comes with a yearly subscription but it is a cloud based service that 
won't require extraordinary bandwidth.  Other options include the Ross MSE card that will 
stream a live output, but also require more bandwidth.  Depending on viewers 
performance will be affected.  Also, NMTV is having problems with a Ross MSE card that 
Ross has been unable to rectify.  Waiting for information from NMTV website designers 
to make sure our Lino meeting page can accommodate the live stream. 

 Emailed Jeff Karlson about dias upgrade.  Asked Jeff a question for Z Systems regarding 
the top of the dias.  Lino Lakes is currently not planning on a new top. 

 Made calls to vendors to research streaming possibilities for Lino Lakes meetings. 
 Made additional calls to vendors with more questions regarding live streaming solutions.  
 Received Lino Lakes upgrade estimate from Z Systems for input.  Included the block 

diagram and console elevation drawings. 
 Emailed Jeff Karlson to schedule a meeting with Z Systems.    

 Spring Lake Park  
 Went to Spring Lake Park with TJ to look into the issues with the cameras looking off.  

Began the diagnosis process. 
 Went back to Spring Lake Park the next day and resolved all the issues with cameras and 

reprogrammed all the macro buttons on the software program.  Also helped Wanda 
figure out how to use the graphics program and integrate it into the switch program.  

 All Cities  
 Worked with Rit Das from Haivision regarding Makito X networking.   
 Submitted change order for additional sync card and extra Makito X dual blade decoder 

for City upgrade. Will provide redundancy.   
 

City Channel 16 Playback Stats 
 

City Number of Times Programs Played Hours Programmed on 
Channel 

Blaine  517 296:49:48 

Centerville 136 86:57:40 

Circle Pines 268 131:10:04 

Ham Lake 122 110:22:34 

Lexington 281 289:44:24 

Lino Lakes 94 84:10:24 

Spring Lake Park 184 115:52:12 

Totals: 1,602 Program Playbacks 1,105:07:06   Hours of Video 
Programming on Channels 

 

 

 

 

 
Programs Produced by the Public 

 

Title Producer Runtime 

Connecting Anoka County Julie Jeppson/Eric 
Houston 

00:20:37 

Chit Chat Sharon Carlson 00:30:48 

Off Constantly David Bauer 00:31:24 

Blaine High School Orchestra Max Schwinghammer 00:12:03 

The Undersea Kingdom DaVinci Students/Eric 
Houtson 

00:56:20 



Title cont. Producer cont. Runtime cont. 
Special Olympics on NMTV Dave Bauer, Brett Wong, 

Eric Houston 
01:39:01 

We Did It!  MN Special Olympics Dave Buaer, Brett Wong, 
Eric Houston 

00:02:37 

The Undersea Kingdom Chapter 5 DaVinci Students, Eric 
Houston 

00:16:00 

60 Second Movie Reviews (2 episodes) DaVinci Students/Eric 
Houston 

00:02:00 

Every Movie Ever (3 episodes) Ben Daniels/Alex 
Johnson/Gavin Van 
Trease/Eric Houston 

01:10:06 

NMTV Game Time Video Club 00:20:36 

A Fresh New Day (4 episodes) Anita Wardlaw 02:05:49 

His Legacy TV (2 episodes) Nonie Tanner 00:26:17 

Cornerstone Church Rick Bostrom 00:27:35 

The Power of Love (2 episodes) Rick Larson 01:00:00 

LovePower (2 episodes) Ann Sandell 02:00:00 

Rice Creek Watershed District Meeting (2 
episodes)  

Theresa Stasica 04:23:55 

   Hope Church (3 episodes) Cindy Hardy 01:57:44 

Oak Park Moments (3 episodes) David Turnidge 02:01:31 

33 New Programs  20:24:23 New Hours 
 

 

 

 

 
 
Programs Produced by NMTV Staff 

 

Title Producer Runtime 

Anoka County Board Meeting (5/9/17) T.J. Tronson 01:03:54 

Anoka County Board Meeting (5/23/17) T.J. Tronson 00:44:04 

Cable Commission Meeting T.J. Tronson 00:28:45 

Blaine High School Spring Band Concert T.J. Tronson 02:00:00 

NMTV News (3 episodes) Danika Peterson/Ben Hayle 01:03:10 

Blaine Mayor's Minutes Trevor Scholl 00:6:11 

Humane Society Adopt A Cat Month Trevor Scholl 00:03:54 

Centennial Lakes Police Dept. Body Cams Trevor Scholl 00:08:43 

2017 Senior Safety & Wellness Fair Trevor Scholl 00:06:03 

Lexington Memorial Park Softball Preview Trevor Scholl 00:02:00 

Blaine Parks Recycling PSA Trevor Scholl 00:00:51 

Blaine CivicReady App Trevor Scholl 00:02:18 

Blaine World Fest Trevor Scholl 00:05:17 

NMTV VIP Awards Shorts (19 episodes) Eric Houston 00:31:05 

Baseball:  Blaine/Centennial Kenton Kipp 01:48:49 

Boys Lacrosse:  Centennial/Blaine Kenton Kipp 01:36:09 

Softball: Spring Lake Park/Blaine Kenton Kipp 01:41:58 

Softball: Centennial/Spring Lake Park Kenton Kipp 01:49:57 

Boys Lacrosse: Wayzata/Blaine Kenton Kipp 01:44:08 

Boys Lacrosse: Spring Lake 
Park/Centennial 

Jeremy Millington 01:50:51 

Softball: 7AAAA QF: Duluth/Blaine Kenton Kipp 01:43:50 

Baseball: 7AAAA QF: Cambridge-
Isanti/Blaine 

Kenton Kipp 02:03:17 

Captains & Coaches: Blaine Trap & Skeet Jeremy Millington 00:04:21 

43 New Programs  20:49:35 New Hours 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

Programs Produced by City Staff 

 

Title Producer Runtime 

Blaine Traffic Commission Meeting 
(5/2/17) 

Blaine Staff 01:22:37 

Blaine City Council Meeting (5/4/17) Blaine Staff 02:13:31 

Blaine Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/9/17) 

Blaine Staff 00:11:59 

Blaine Natural Resources Conservation 
Board Meeting (5/16/17) 

Blaine Staff 00:39:27 

Blaine City Council Meeting (5/18/17) Blaine Staff 01:33:40 

Blaine Park Board Meeting (5/23/17) Blaine Staff 00:27:43 

Centerville City Council Meeting (5/10/17) Centerville Staff 02:21:01 

Centerville City Council Meeting (5/24/17) Centerville Staff 00:24:21 

Circle Pines Park Board Meeting (5/2/17) Circle Pines Staff 00:18:06 

Circle Pines City Council Meeting 
(5/9/17) 

Circle Pines Staff 00:28:38 

Circle Pines Utility Commission Meeting 
(5/17/17) 

Circle Pines Staff 00:56:41 

Circle Pines City Council Meeting 
(5/23/17) 

Circle Pines Staff 00:23:13 

Ham Lake City Council Meeting (5/1/17) Ham Lake Staff 01:14:49 

Ham Lake Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/8/17) 

Ham Lake Staff 00:06:12 

Ham Lake City Council Meeting (5/15/17) Ham Lake Staff 02:36:14 

Ham Lake Planning Commission Meeting 
(5/22/17) 

Ham Lake Staff 00:40:59 

Lexington City Council Meeting (5/4/17) Lexington Staff 00:34:00 

Lexington City Council Meeting (5/18/17) Lexington Staff 01:28:11 

Lino Lakes City Council Meeting (5/8/17) Lino Lakes Staff 01:43:46 

Lino Lakes Planning & Zoning 
Commission Meeting (5/10/17) 

Lino Lakes Staff 01:22:15 

Lino Lakes City Council Meeting 
(5/22/17) 

Lino Lakes Staff 01:13:07 

Spring Lake Park City Council Meeting 
(5/15/17) 

Spring Lake Park Staff 01:02:50 

22 New Programs  20:24:24  New Hours 
 

If you have any questions or comments regarding this monthly report please contact 

Heidi Arnson at 763.231.2801 or harnson@northmetrotv.com. 



 



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 1 of 6 

COON CREEK WATERSHED DISTRICT 

PERMIT REVIEW 
 

MEETING DATE:   June 12, 2017 

AGENDA NUMBER:  21 

FILE NUMBER:    17-073 

ITEM:           Spring Lake Park Senior Housing 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve with 3 Stipulations 

 

 

APPLICANT:   Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates LLLP 

   2905 Northwest Blvd, Suite 150 

   Plymouth, MN 55441 

 

PURPOSE:   Construction of apartment complex with surface parking 

   on 4.14 Acre Lot 

   

LOCATION:  Corner of Manor Dr. NE and Laddie Rd., Spring Lake 

Park, Minnesota 

 

 
APPLICABILITY: 
1. Any work in or adjacent to wetlands, lakes or water courses  

2. One or more cumulative acres of land disturbance 

3. High infiltration soils 

4. Highly erodible soils  

5. Endangered, Threatened or Special concern species, elements or communities  



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 2 of 6 

 

EXHIBITS:  
1. Construction Plan set (12 sheets); by BKV Group, dated 5/31/17, received 5/31/17. 

2. Stormwater Management Report; by Loucks, revised  5/10/17, received 5/10/17. 

3. Geotechnical Report; by Braun Intertec , dated 3/3/2017, received 4/12/2017. 

4. Phase I Environmental Site Assessment by Braun Intertec , dated 6/29/2016, received 

4/12/2017 

5. ALTA/NSPS Land Title Survey by Loucks, dated 7/26/16; received 4/12/17 

6. Boundary Topographic Survey Map by Loucks, dated 12/15/16, received 4/12/17 

7. Site/Landscape Plan by BKV Group dated 4/12/17, received 4/12/17 

8. Ebara submersible wastewater, sewage pump product literature, no date, received 

5/10/17. 

 

PREVIOUS ACTION TAKEN: This is a new application. 

 

FINDINGS: 

Pre-application Meeting:  The project as submitted has received a general review during 

a pre-application meeting. 

 

Ditches:  There is not a public ditch on the property.  

 

Ditch Hydraulics:  A crossing of the ditch is not proposed.  

 

Erosion and Sediment Control:  Soils affected by the proposal are Urban land Isanti, 

and Urbanland  Zimmerman.   

 Stabilizing vegetation is proposed for disturbed areas within seven (7) days of 

rough grading.  SWPPP IV.B. #2 

 Soil stockpiles have been proposed to be fitted with sediment-trapping measures 

to prevent soil loss.  SWPPP IV.C. #5 

 Adjacent properties and stormwater ponds are not protected from sediment 

deposition.   

 Construction schedules detailing when sediment trapping measures will occur; 

stabilization of earthen structures and the general timing of construction phases 

have been provided.  SWPPP IV.E. 

 Stormwater runoff does not pass through a sediment basin or other sediment 

trapping BMP with equal or greater storage capacity.  

 Stabilization adequate to prevent erosion has not been provided at the outlets of 

all storm sewer pipes.  

 All storm sewer inlets are not protected from sediment-laden water during 

construction.  

 All work adjacent to water or related resource has taken precautions to contain 

sediment, and stabilize the work area during construction.  

 Provisions have been made to minimize transport of sediment (mud) by runoff or 

vehicle racking onto the paved surface. SWPPP IV.E. #5 

 Provisions have been made for cleaning road surfaces where sediment is 

transported by the end of the day. SWPPP IV.E. #5 



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 3 of 6 

 Construction entrance points are not clearly located on the erosion and sediment 

control plan. 

 The erosion and sediment control plan does provide for the repair and 

maintenance of all temporary and permanent erosion and sediment control 

practices. SWPPP IV.E.  

 

Dewatering:  Shallow ground water does not exist on site.  The project does not require 

dewatering.  

 

Floodplain:  There is no floodplain on the property according to the District model and 

FEMA.   

 

Groundwater:  Geotechnical information collected in September 2016 indicates long 

term groundwater elevation is present from 899.58 to 900.31 feet below the surface. 

However, groundwater was shown to be very dependent on the elevation of Laddie Lake 

El. 902.04. During a 6” Storm event in September of 2016 groundwater elevations 

increased by 1 foot or more.  

 

The site is within a Municipal Drinking Water Supply Area (DWSMA).   

 

The project site is not within the Emergency Response Area/10 Year Well Head 

Protection Area/Drinking Water Supply Management Area.  

 

The proposal does not contain a land use discouraged or prohibited by the Safe Drinking 

Water Supply Act (SDSA). Those uses include:  

 Storage, production, disposal or treatment of hazardous materials 

 Dry cleaning, dyeing, printing, photo processing or any other uses of hazardous 

materials 

 Disposal of septage or septic sludge 

 Vehicle or equipment maintenance/fueling area 

 Underground storage tanks 

 Storage and use of petroleum products 

 Chemical/pesticide/herbicide storage 

 Storage and use of petroleum products exceeding fifty-five (55) gallons 

 

The project does not propose a containment system. 

 

The project does not propose a secondary containment system which is easily inspected 

and whose purpose it is to intercept any leak or release from the primary containment 

vessel or structure. 

 

Underground storage tanks are not proposed. 

 

Storage and use of petroleum products exceeding fifty-five (55) gallons are not proposed. 

 



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 4 of 6 

The project does not have an acceptable contingency plan for preventing hazardous 

materials from contaminating the shallow/surficial aquifer should flood, fire, wind or 

other natural catastrophe, equipment failure or releases occur. 

 

Historic Sites:  The proposed project does not include sites of historic or archeological 

significance.   

 

Local Planning & Zoning:  The proposed project is consistent with local planning and 

zoning.  There is an approved local water plan.   

 

Property owners affected by changes in drainage have not been notified and acknowledge 

the changes proposed. 

 

Maintenance:  The Owner of the Stormwater Management features and treatment 

practices is Spring Lake Park Leased Housing Associates LLLP.  The Stormwater 

Treatment Practices (STPs) consisting of the following: 

 

Stormwater Treatment 

Practices 

Number Maintenance Responsibility 

Underground 

Storage/Infiltration 

3 Owner  

Sumps 2 Owner 

Pumps 2 Owner  

Safl Baffle  1 Owner  

 

Inspection and maintenance of stormwater facilities will be the responsibility of Spring 

Lake Park Leased Housing Associates LLLP.  A maintenance agreement has not been 

executed. The applicant has not submitted a Maintenance Plan for each Stormwater 

Treatment Practice.   

 

Easements: The proposed project does not include ditch maintenance easement. A ditch 

maintenance easement is not required. A maintenance access to all storm water 

management features is provided.    

 

Stormwater & Hydrology:  Infiltration is allowed within the project area.  The 1-inch 

infiltration is achieved.  The stormwater management system uses underground storage. 

Stormwater leaving the site is discharged into a well-defined receiving channel or pipe 

and routed to a public drainage system.   

 

Drainage sensitive uses do not exist downstream from the proposed site.  The rate of 

post-development runoff from the site does not exceed predevelopment rates, or rates 

which would interfere with sensitive downstream land uses. Properties and waterways 

downstream from the project are protected from erosion due to increases in the volume, 

velocity and peak water flow rates of stormwater runoff. Concentrated storm water 

leaving a site is discharged directly into a well-defined natural or man-made off-site 

receiving channel or pipe.  All on-site constructed storm water conveyance channels are 



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 5 of 6 

constructed to withstand the expected velocity from a 2-year frequency storm without 

erosion.   

 

Water Quality:  The proposed project does cause an exceedance of State water quality 

standards.  The project does not contribute to the adverse impact of wetlands through 

inundation or volume of flow.  All discharges into wetlands are pretreated by a sediment 

basin/water quality pond, and are designed correctly.  All work adjacent to wetlands, 

waterbodies and water conveyance systems are protected from erosion.  The proposal 

will not detrimentally affect the existing water quality of the receiving water.  The 

proposal will not cause extreme fluctuations of water levels or temperature changes.   

 

Impairments: This project is within one (1) mile of an Impaired Water.   The impaired 

water is Ditch 17 (Springbrook Creek).  There is no new impervious surfaces proposed as 

part of this project.  

 

Wetlands: Wetlands do not exist on-site according to the 1987 Federal manual, NWI, 

PWI and Soil Survey.   

 

Wetland Replacement Plan:   
A wetland replacement plan is not required 

 

Wildlife:   
The proposed project does not include endangered or threatened species, rare natural 

communities, colonial waterbird nesting sites, migratory waterfowl concentration areas, 

deer wintering areas or wildlife travel corridors.   

 

Performance Escrow: $4,070 

Wetland Escrow:        $0.00 

There are not ditch liens on the property. 

 

ISSUES/CONCERNS: 

ISSUE NEED 

Escrows:  $2,000 + (4.14 ac * $500/ac) = 

$4,070 

1. Receipt of escrows. 

Stormwater & Hydraulics:  The 

applicant is meeting the volume 

management requirement equivalent to 

infiltrating runoff from the first inch of 

precipitation.  A post construction test on 

the infiltration basin will be required to 

verify the assumed infiltration rates are 

obtained.   

 

 

 

 

2. The applicant must acknowledge that 

they will conduct a post construction 

test on the infiltration basin by filling 

the basin to a minimum depth of 6 

inches with water and monitor the 

time necessary to drain.  The Coon 

Creek Watershed District shall be 

notified prior to the test to witness 

the results.  

 

 

  



17-073  Spring Lake Park Senior Housing, Page 6 of 6 

Maintenance:  The Owner will be 

responsible for the inspection and 

maintenance of stormwater facilities.  A 

maintenance agreement has not been 

executed. The applicant has not submitted 

a Maintenance Plan for each Stormwater 

Treatment Practice.   

 

 

3. Provide an O&M Agreement that 

meets District requirements 

including the pumps and backflow 

preventers. 

 

RECOMMENDATION:  Approve with 3 Stipulations 

Stipulations: 
1. Receipt of escrows. 

2. The applicant must acknowledge that they will conduct a post construction test on 

the infiltration basin by filling the basin to a minimum depth of 6 inches with 

water and monitor the time necessary to drain.  The Coon Creek Watershed 

District shall be notified prior to the test to witness the results.  

3. Provide an O&M Agreement that meets District requirements that includes the 

pumps and backflow preventers.  

 
 

 

 



 

500751v1 RJV VS105-1 

  Kennedy  Offices in 
 

Minneapolis 
 

Saint Paul 
 

St. Cloud 

470 U.S. Bank Plaza 

200 South Sixth Street 
Minneapolis MN 55402 
 

(612) 337-9300 telephone 
(612) 337-9310 fax 

www.kennedy-graven.com 
Affirmative Action Equal Opportunity Employer 

 

 

Graven 
 

C H A R T E R E D   

 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 
TO:  Clients 
FROM: Bob Vose 
DATE: June 2, 2017 
RE:  Small Cell Legislation 
            
 
The wireless industry is seeking to deploy “small cell” wireless facilities in public rights-
of-way (ROW).  To that end, the industry is seeking to pass model state legislation 
across the country.  Approximately 20 states have introduced such legislation, and at 
least 7 midwestern states have enacted new laws as a result of these efforts. 
 
In Minnesota, the largest wireless providers, AT&T, Verizon, and Sprint, aggressively 
lobbied for the model legislation this session.  The Minnesota League of Cities strongly 
opposed the initial bill and, at various times, it appeared “dead.”  In recent weeks, 
however, legislators convened negotiations between wireless providers, cities, 
municipal utilities, and the cable industry.  After extensive negotiations primarily over 
changes requested by the League, the League took a neutral position on the final 
language.  The League believes that the negotiated language represents the best 
preservation of local control for Minnesota cities that could, in light of legislative realities, 
be obtained and is superior to laws passed elsewhere.  We assisted the League during 
the session.   
 
The small cell language was ultimately included in the Jobs Bill-- Senate File 1456.  The 
Governor signed SF1456 and other budget bills on May 30th.  The House and Senate 
had each narrowly passed companion bills as stand-alone legislation, but the small cell 
language presumably found its way into the Jobs Bill to guard against a veto.  With a 
few exceptions, the law became effective immediately.   
 
This summarizes the most significant provisions in SF1456 regarding small wireless 
deployment: 
 
1. Wireless Governed by Minnesota ROW Law 
 

 Under prior law, “telecommunications right-of-way users,” a defined term, and other 
traditional users of the ROW are statutorily entitled to access and install facilities in 
the ROW.  Such rights are subject to reasonable regulations and conditions imposed 

& 



 

500751v1 RJV VS105-1 

by the local government unit (LGU).  LGUs are required to enact ROW ordinances to 
implement this authority.   
 
Prior law did not, however, cover or grant ROW access to wireless providers or 
facilities.  SF1456 addresses this by amending the term “telecommunications right-
of-way user” to include persons deploying facilities to provide “wireless service,” a 
newly defined term.  This and other changes made by SF1456 generally entitle 
wireless providers to use ROW. 
 

 Wireless providers may deploy a “small wireless facility” or a “wireless support 
structure” in the ROW.  These are both newly defined terms.  

 

o In order to be “small,” the proposed deployment must meet statutorily-limited 
size requirements- each antenna must be no more than six cubic feet, and all 
associated equipment, excluding certain types of equipment (back-up 
generator, for example), must either be concealed or less than 28 cubic feet. 
 

o In order to be an authorized support structure, any proposed new pole cannot 
exceed the lesser of 50 feet or 10 feet above an existing pole that is being 
replaced unless the LGU allows a greater height. 

 

 LGUs may deny permits for new small cell facilities or wireless support structures 
based on reasonable health, welfare and safety concerns.   
 

 One of the wireless industry’s primary goals was to require that poles or similar 
structures owned by the LGU in the ROW (light poles, for example) be made 
available for the attachment of small wireless facilities.  The industry’s model bill 
actually proposed redefining the ROW to include essentially all LGU infrastructure. 

 

SF1456, however, does not make LGU-improvements in the ROW a part of the 
ROW available for private use.  The law instead expressly allows an LGU to 
determine whether a particular pole or other structure in the ROW was designed to 
support proposed wireless equipment or is capable of doing so.  The LGU may deny 
a wireless provider access to a particular facility based on this determination or other 
public health, safety or welfare concerns.  

 

 An LGU may also condition a permit on health, welfare and safety concerns, on 
“reasonable accommodations for decorative wireless support structures or signs,” or 
upon “any reasonable restocking, replacement, or relocation requirements” for a new 
wireless support structure in the ROW.   
 

 LGUs may also impose separation requirements (distance minimums) between new 
poles or other wireless support structures. 

 

 Municipal electric utility poles and facilities are exempt from the bill.  About 125 cities 
have municipal utilities.  



 

500751v1 RJV VS105-1 

 
 
2. Zoning 

 
 Another primary industry goal was to require that small wireless facilities be made a  

permitted use in all ROWs regardless of the underlying zoning district in which the 
ROW is located. 
 
SF1456 makes small wireless facilities and associated wireless support structures a 
permitted use in all ROWs, but LGUs may make such facilities or structures a 
special or conditional use in ROW located “in a district or area zoned for single-
family residential use or within a historic district.”   
 

 LGUs are prohibited from adopting a moratorium on the processing and issuance of 
small wireless facility permits.  This provision is effective immediately except that it 
becomes effective on January 1, 2018 for any LGU that had not enacted a ROW 
ordinance as of May 18, 2017.   

 
3. Application Process 

 

 LGUs may require permits for placement of new wireless structures or collocation of 
small wireless facilities in the ROW.  It is unclear whether this is in lieu of or in 
addition to the ROW permit already required by most existing ROW ordinances. 
 

 An LGU has 90 days to issue or deny a permit.  SF1456 indicates that failure to 
timely act results in the permit being “deemed approved” and “the permit is 
automatically issued.”  The deadline can be extended for 30 days if: 

 

o the LGU receives applications for 30 or more sites within a 7 day period, or: 
o the application is incomplete and the LGU delineates the missing information 

within 30 days of receipt. 
 

Written notice of any extension must be provided to the applicant. 
 

 Applicants may file up to 15 permit applications simultaneously as long as the 
requested sites are within a 2 mile radius, consist of substantially similar equipment, 
and are to be placed on similar structures.  LGUs may approve or deny applications 
individually or collectively.   
 

 A denial must be in writing and state the basis for denial.  The LGU must notify the 
applicant in writing within 3 business days of the decision.  The applicant may cure 
the deficiencies noted and reapply.  If such re-application is made within 30 days of 
denial no additional fee may be imposed and a further decision must be made within 
30 days of receipt.   
 



 

500751v1 RJV VS105-1 

 LGUs may not require wireless providers to supply information provided in an earlier 
application for a small wireless facility if such info is specifically referenced in the 
current application.  LGUs also may not require information “not reasonably 
necessary to review a permit application for compliance with generally applicable 
and reasonable health, safety, and welfare regulations” or demonstrate compliance 
with applicable FCC regulations “governing radio frequency exposure,” or otherwise 
demonstrate compliance with the new law. 

 
4. Rent and Fees 

 

 The wireless industry’s most important goal was to obtain the right to use LGU-
owned facilities in the ROW in exchange for no or minimal rent.   
 
SF 1456 allows the imposition of rent of up to $150 annually, plus $25 for 
maintenance, for each site.  Additional fees may be imposed if the wireless provider 
uses LGU-purchased electricity rather than separately metering.  This payment 
arrangement would presumably be reflected in an attachment agreement governing 
the provider’s attachments to the LGU’s facilities. 
 

 LGUs remain entitled to recover ROW management costs, a defined term, from 
wireless providers using the ROW via permit fees.  However, SF1456 indicates that 
“unreasonable fees of a third-party contractor” cannot be recovered.  Such fees 
include “any third-party contractor fee tied to or based upon customer counts, 
access lines, revenue generated by the telecommunications right-of-way user, or 
revenue generated for a local government unit.” 
 

5. NO PUC Rules or Dispute Resolution 
 
 The PUC has promulgated rules governing underground installation of 

telecommunications and other utility infrastructure in the ROW.  The PUC is 
authorized to administratively adjudicate disputes arising out of an LGU’s 
interpretation or application of these rules.   
 
SF1456 does not explicitly authorize the PUC to promulgate new rules regarding 
installation of wireless facilities in the ROW including, particularly, how attachments 
to LGU facilities must be made.  Thus, the PUC will presumably not have any 
adjudicative role regarding wireless installations in ROW.    
 

 LGUs are authorized to require separate agreements with wireless providers 
governing attachments to the LGU’s poles or other facilities.  SF1456 provides: 
 

No later than six months after the effective date of this act or three months after 
receiving a small wireless facility permit application from a wireless service 
provider, a local government unit that has elected to set forth terms and 
conditions of collocation in a standard small wireless facility collocation 
agreement shall develop and make available an agreement that complies with 



 

500751v1 RJV VS105-1 

the requirements of this section and section 237.162. A standard small wireless 
facility collocation agreement shall be substantially complete…. 

 
Conclusion 

 
The work our clients will need to do to accommodate the new small cell wireless law 
depends to a large extent on each municipality’s ROW ordinance, zoning provisions, 
ROW application process, and standard practices.  However, it is apparent that a 
number of steps will need to be taken.  These likely include: 
 

1. Amendment of the ROW ordinance to include provisions specific to the 
installation of wireless facilities on existing poles or similar facilities, and 
addressing the potential installation of new “wireless support structures;” i.e. 
poles.  Some clients may wish to address wireless deployment in the ROW via a 
new ordinance that is separate from the existing ROW ordinance.   
 
Whether implemented by amending an existing ROW ordinance or adopting a 
new, separate ordinance, the application process requirements noted above will 
need to be incorporated. 
 

2. Amendment of the zoning ordinance or code to make small wireless a permitted 
use in all ROW but, potentially, a conditional use in ROW located in residential 
zones. 
 

3. Preparation of a template agreement governing attachment of wireless facilities 
to municipal poles or other infrastructure in the ROW.  We anticipate that the 
League will seek to make a model agreement available.  Our office may assist 
with that work.  The rent and the maintenance fee requirements will be 
addressed in this template agreement. 
 

Of course, preparation of a “substantially complete” template agreement 
governing attachments to municipal infrastructure will be difficult for 
municipalities that have a variety of facilities in the ROW.  The template 
agreement may need to contemplate different attachment requirements 
depending on the nature of the particular facility to which a wireless provider 
seeks to attach its equipment. 

 
Please contact me with questions. 


	Ord & Reso - Resolution Adopting TIF Development Agreement.pdf
	Blank Page

	New Business - Utiltiy and Sidewalk Access and Mainteanance Agreement.pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	Correspondence - NMTV Monthly Update.pdf
	NMTV News Highlights
	VIP Awards
	NMTV Sports and Social Media
	New Truck Graphics
	City Productions
	New Sports Producer
	Production equipment consulting for cities and schools 




